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Item 8.01.  Other Events 

Recast Annual Report 

This current report on Form 8-K revises portions of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Genesis Energy, L.P. 

for the year ended December 31, 2010, which was filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

on March 16, 2011, to retrospectively reflect subsequent changes in the company’s operating segments, which 

occurred in the first quarter of 2011. 

We reorganized our operating segments as a result of a change in the way our Chief Executive Officer, who is 

our chief operating decision maker, evaluates the performance of operations, develops strategy and allocates capital 

resources.  The results of our CO2 marketing activities and processing of syngas through a joint venture, formerly 

reported in the Industrial Gases Segment, are now included in our Supply and Logistics Segment. 

The change in operating segments had no impact on the company’s reportable units for goodwill purposes or 

the company’s historical consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  The recast historical 

financial information in this Form 8-K does not represent an amendment to or restatement of the company’s fiscal 

year 2010 consolidated financial statements as previously issued in the Annual Report. 

Accordingly, the company has updated the presentation of the fiscal year 2010, 2009 and 2008 segment 

information originally included in its Annual Report, to be consistent with the revised operating segment structure.  

These updates are reflected in Exhibits 99.1 – 99.4 to this Current Report.  These exhibits are consistent with the 

presentation of reporting and operating segments in the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly 

periods ended March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011. 

In November 2010, the company and its co-issuer, Genesis Energy Finance Corporation, issued $250 million of 

senior unsecured notes.  In connection with the issuance of the notes, we agreed to offer to exchange the privately 

issued notes for substantially identical notes registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 

November 18, 2011.  As required by Regulation S-X Rule 3-10, we are including condensed consolidating financial 

information for all periods presented in Exhibit 99.4. 

Revisions to the Annual Report included in this Current Report on Form 8-K as noted above supersede the 

corresponding portions of the company’s Annual Report.  All other information in the Annual Report remains 

unchanged.  This Current Report does not modify or update the disclosures therein in any way, nor does it reflect 

any subsequent information or events, other than as required to reflect the change in segments and the inclusion of 

condensed consolidating financial information as described above.  The information in this Current Report, 

including Exhibits 99.1 – 99.4, should be read in conjunction with the Annual Report and any documents filed by 

the company subsequent to the filing of the Annual Report. 

Item 9.01.  Financial Statements and Exhibits 

(d)  Exhibits 

The following materials are filed as exhibits to this Current Report on Form 8-K. 

 

Exhibits. 

 

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP 

23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP 

99.1 Part I, Item 1. Business of the Company’s Annual Report, revised solely to reflect the 

change in segment reporting 



 

99.2 Part II, Item 6. Selected Financial Data of the Company’s Annual Report, revised solely 

to reflect the change in segment reporting 

99.3 Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Company’s Annual Report, 

revised solely to reflect the change in segment reporting 

99.4 Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of the Company’s Annual 

Report, revised to reflect the change in segment reporting and the inclusion of condensed 

consolidating financial information 

SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report 

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

 

  

  GENESIS ENERGY, L.P., by 

 

  GENESIS ENERGY, LLC, its sole 

general partner 

Date: September 26, 2011 By:  /s/  ROBERT V. DEERE  

     Robert V. Deere 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT 23.1 

 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-173337, 

Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No. 333-167189 and Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 

333-150239 on Form S-3 and in Registration Statement No. 333-156084 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 16, 

2011 (September 26, 2011 as to Notes 12 and 22) (which report expresses an unqualified  opinion and includes an 

explanatory paragraph relating to a change in operating segments and the addition of a guarantor footnote), relating 

to the consolidated financial statements of Genesis Energy, L.P. and subsidiaries (the “Partnership”) appearing in 

this Current Report on Form 8-K of the Partnership filed on September 26, 2011. 

 

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Houston, Texas  
September 26, 2011 
 



EXHIBIT 23.1 

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-173337, 

Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No. 333-167189 and Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement 333-

150239 on Form S-3 and in Registration Statement No. 333-156084 on Form S-8 of Genesis Energy, L.P. of our 

report dated March 4, 2011, relating to the financial statements of Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company, 

appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K of Genesis Energy, L.P. 

 

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

 

Houston, Texas 

September 23, 2011 
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EXHIBIT 99.1 

PART I 

Item 1.  Business  

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to ―Genesis Energy, L.P.,‖ ―Genesis,‖ ―we,‖ ―our,‖ ―us‖ 

or like terms refer to Genesis Energy, L.P. and its operating subsidiaries, including Genesis Energy Finance 

Corporation; ―our general partner‖ refers to Genesis Energy, LLC, the general partner of Genesis; ―Free State‖ 

refers to Genesis Free State Pipeline, LLC; ―NEJD Pipeline‖ refers to Genesis NEJD Pipeline, LLC; ―Cameron 

Highway‖ refers to the Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company; ―Quintana‖ refers to Quintana Capital Group II, 

L.P. and its affiliates; ―the Robertson Group‖ refers to Corbin J. Robertson, Jr., members of his family and certain of 

their affiliates, including Quintana Capital Group, II, L.P.; ―Davison family‖ refers to, collectively, James E. 

Davison, James E. Davison, Jr., Steven K. Davison and Todd A. Davison and each of their respective families; ―DG 

Marine‖ refers to DG Marine Transportation, LLC and its subsidiaries; ―CO2‖ means carbon dioxide; ―NaHS,‖ 

which is commonly pronounced as ―nash,‖ means sodium hydrosulfide; and ―NaOH‖ and ―caustic soda‖ mean 

sodium hydroxide.  

 Except to the extent otherwise provided, the information contained in this form is as of December 31, 

2010. 

General 

We are a growth-oriented master limited partnership, or MLP, focused on the midstream segment of the oil 

and gas industry in the Gulf Coast region of the United States, primarily Texas, Louisiana, Arkansas, Mississippi, 

Alabama, Florida and in the Gulf of Mexico.  Formed in Delaware in 1996, our common units are traded on the New 

York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol ―GEL.‖  We have a diverse portfolio of customers, operations and 

assets, including pipelines, refinery-related plants, storage tanks and terminals, barges and trucks.  We provide an 

integrated suite of services to oil and CO2 producers; refineries; industrial and commercial enterprises that use NaHS 

and caustic soda; and businesses that use CO2 and other industrial gases.  Substantially all of our revenues are 

derived from providing services to integrated oil companies, large independent oil and gas or refinery companies, 

and large industrial and commercial enterprises.   

We conduct our operations through subsidiaries and joint ventures.  We manage our businesses through 

three divisions that constitute our reportable segments: 

Pipeline Transportation—We transport crude oil and CO2 for others for a fee in the Gulf Coast region of 

the U.S. through approximately 930 miles of pipeline.  Our Pipeline Transportation segment owns and operates three 

onshore crude oil common carrier pipelines and two CO2 pipelines.  Additionally, as of November 23, 2010, we own 

a 50% interest in a joint venture, Cameron Highway, that operates the largest crude oil pipeline system in the Gulf of 

Mexico.   Our 235-mile Mississippi System provides shippers of crude oil in Mississippi indirect access to 

refineries, pipelines, storage terminals and other crude oil infrastructure located in the Midwest. Our 100-mile Jay 

System originates in southern Alabama and the panhandle of Florida and provides crude oil shippers access to 

refineries, pipelines and storage near Mobile, Alabama.  Approximately 35 miles of gathering pipelines bring crude 

oil to the Jay System.   Our 90-mile Texas System transports crude oil from West Columbia to several delivery 

points near Houston.   Our crude oil pipeline systems include access to a total of approximately 0.7 million barrels 

of crude oil storage. 

Our Free State Pipeline is an 86-mile, 20‖ CO2 pipeline that extends from CO2 source fields near Jackson, 

Mississippi, to oil fields in eastern Mississippi.  We have a twenty-year transportation services agreement (through 

2028) related to the transportation of CO2 on our Free State Pipeline.   

In addition, a subsidiary of Denbury Resources Inc. has leased from us (through 2028) the NEJD Pipeline 

System, a 183-mile, 20‖ CO2 pipeline extending from the Jackson Dome, near Jackson, Mississippi, to near 

Donaldsonville, Louisiana.  The NEJD System transports CO2 to tertiary oil recovery operations in southwest 

Mississippi. 

Refinery Services—We primarily (i) provide services to ten refining operations located predominantly in 

Texas, Louisiana, Arkansas and Utah; (ii) operate significant storage and transportation assets in relation to those 

services; and (iii) sell NaHS and caustic soda to large industrial and commercial companies. Our refinery services 
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primarily involve processing refiners’ high sulfur (or ―sour‖) gas streams to remove the sulfur. Our refinery services 

footprint also includes terminals, and we utilize railcars, ships, barges and trucks to transport product. Our refinery 

services contracts are typically long-term in nature and have an average remaining term of four years. NaHS is a by-

product derived from our refinery services process, and it constitutes the sole consideration we receive for these 

services. A majority of the NaHS we receive is sourced from refineries owned and operated by large companies, 

including ConocoPhillips, CITGO, Holly and Ergon. We sell our NaHS to customers in a variety of industries, with 

the largest customers involved in mining of base metals, primarily copper and molybdenum, and the production of 

pulp and paper. We believe we are one of the largest marketers of NaHS in North and South America.  

 

Supply and Logistics—We provide services primarily to Gulf Coast oil and gas producers and refineries 

through a combination of purchasing, transporting, storing, blending and marketing of crude oil and refined 

products, primarily fuel oil.  In connection with these services, we utilize our portfolio of logistical assets consisting 

of trucks, terminals, pipelines and barges.  We have access to a suite of more than 250 trucks, 280 trailers and 

1.5 million barrels of terminal storage capacity in multiple locations along the Gulf Coast as well as capacity 

associated with our three common carrier crude oil pipelines. In addition, our wholly-owned marine transportation 

subsidiary, DG Marine provides us with access to twenty barges which, in the aggregate, include approximately 

660,000 barrels of refined product transportation capacity.   Usually, our supply and logistics segment experiences 

limited commodity price risk because it utilizes back-to-back purchases and sales, matching sale and purchase 

volumes on a monthly basis.  Unsold volumes are hedged with NYMEX derivatives to offset the remaining price 

risk. 

On a smaller scale, we also provide CO2 and certain other industrial gases and related services to industrial 

and commercial enterprises. We (i) supply CO2 to industrial customers under long-term contracts, with an average 

remaining contract life of six years, and (ii) manufacture and sell syngas (a combination of carbon monoxide and 

hydrogen) through a small joint venture.  Our compensation for supplying CO2 to our industrial customers is the 

effective difference between the price at which we sell our CO2 under each contract and the price at which we 

acquired our CO2 pursuant to our volumetric production payments (also known as VPPs), minus transportation costs.  

Our Objectives and Strategies  

Our primary business objectives are to generate stable cash flows that allow us to make quarterly cash 

distributions to our unitholders and to increase those distributions over time. We plan to achieve those objectives by 

executing the following business and financial strategies.  

Business Strategy 

Our primary business strategy is to provide an integrated suite of services to oil and gas producers, 

refineries and other customers.   Successfully executing this strategy should enable us to generate and grow 

sustainable cash flows.  We intend to develop our business by:   

 Identifying and exploiting incremental profit opportunities, including cost synergies, across an increasingly 

integrated footprint; 

 Optimizing our existing assets and creating synergies through additional commercial and operating 

advancement; 

 Leveraging customer relationships across business segments; 

 Attracting new customers and expanding our scope of services offered to existing customers; 

 Expanding the geographic reach of our refinery services and supply and logistics segments; 

 Economically expanding our pipeline and terminal operations; and 

 Evaluating internal and third party growth opportunities (including asset and business acquisitions) that 

leverage our core competencies and strengths and further integrate our businesses. 

Financial Strategy 
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We believe that preserving financial flexibility is an important factor in our overall strategy and success.  

Over the long-term, we intend to: 

 Increase the relative contribution of recurring and throughput-based revenues, emphasizing longer-term 

contractual arrangements;  

 Prudently manage our limited commodity price risks;  

 Maintain a sound, disciplined capital structure; and  

 Create strategic arrangements and share capital costs and risks through joint ventures and strategic 

alliances.  

Competitive Strengths  

We believe we are well positioned to execute our strategies and ultimately achieve our objectives due primarily 

to the following competitive strengths:  

 Our businesses encompass a balanced, diversified portfolio of customers, operations and assets. We 

operate three business segments and own and operate assets that enable us to provide a number of services 

to oil, and CO2 producers; refinery owners; industrial and commercial enterprises that use NaHS and 

caustic soda; and businesses that use CO2 and other industrial gases. Our business lines complement each 

other by allowing us to offer an integrated suite of services to common customers across segments.  

 Through our NaHS sales, we have indirect exposure to fast-growing, developing economies outside of the 

U.S. We sell NaHS – a by-product of our refinery services process – to the mining and pulp and paper 

industries. Copper and other mined materials as well as paper products are sold in the global market.  

 We have lower commodity price risk exposure. The volumes of crude oil, refined products or intermediate 

feedstocks that we purchase are either subject to back-to-back sales contracts or are hedged with NYMEX 

derivatives to limit our exposure to movements in the price of the commodity. Our risk management policy 

requires that we monitor the effectiveness of the hedges to maintain a value at risk of such hedged 

inventory that does not exceed $2.5 million.  In addition, our service contracts with refiners allow us to 

adjust our processing rates to maintain a balance between NaHS supply and demand. 

 Our businesses provide consistent consolidated financial performance. During the adverse economic 

environment that began in the third quarter of 2008 and continued until early in 2010, our businesses 

provided consistent performance that, when combined with our conservative capital structure, allowed us to 

increase our distribution for twenty-two consecutive quarters as of our most recent distribution declaration. 

 Our pipeline transportation and related assets are strategically located. Our owned and operated crude oil 

pipelines, along with Cameron Highway, are located in the Gulf Coast region and provide our customers 

access to multiple delivery points. In addition, a majority of our terminals are located in areas that can be 

accessed by truck, rail or barge.  

 We believe we are one of the largest marketers of NaHS in North and South America.  The scale of our 

well-established refinery services operations as well as our integrated suite of assets provides us with a 

unique cost advantage over some of our existing and potential competitors. 

 Our expertise and reputation for high performance standards and quality enable us to provide refiners with 

economic and proven services.  Our extensive understanding of the sulfur removal process and refinery 

services market can provide us with an advantage when evaluating new opportunities and/or markets.  

 Our supply and logistics business is operationally flexible. Our portfolio of trucks, barges and terminals 

affords us flexibility within our existing regional footprint and provides us the capability to enter new 

markets and expand our customer relationships.  
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 We are financially flexible and have significant liquidity.  As of December 31, 2010, we had $160.4 million 

available under our $525 million credit agreement, including up to $31.1 million of which could be 

designated as a loan under the $75 million petroleum products inventory loan sublimit, and $95.4 million of 

which could be used for letters of credit. Our inventory borrowing base was $43.9 million at December 31, 

2010. 

 We have an experienced, knowledgeable and motivated executive management team with a proven track 

record. Our executive management team has an average of more than 25 years of experience in the 

midstream sector. Its members have worked in leadership roles at a number of large, successful public 

companies, including other publicly-traded partnerships. Through their equity interest in us, our senior 

executive management team is incentivized to create value by increasing cash flows. 

2010 Developments 

The following is a brief listing of developments since December 31, 2009.  Additional information 

regarding most of these items may be found elsewhere in this report. 

Permanent Elimination of IDRs 

In February 2010, new investors, together with members of our executive management team, acquired our 

general partner.  At that time, our general partner owned all our 2% general partner interest and all of our incentive 

distribution rights, or IDRs, and consequently was entitled to over 50% of any increased distributions we would pay 

in respect of our outstanding equity.  

On December 28, 2010, we permanently eliminated our IDRs and converted our two percent general 

partner interest into a non-economic interest. In exchange for our IDRs and the 2% economic interest attributable to 

our general partner interest, we issued approximately 20 million common units and 7 million ―Waiver Units‖ to the 

stakeholders of our general partner, less approximately 145,000 common units and 50,000 Waiver units that have 

been reserved for a new deferred equity compensation plan for employees. Our Waiver Units have the right to 

convert into common units in four equal installments in the calendar quarter during which each of our common units 

receives a quarterly distribution of at least $0.43, $0.46, $0.49 and $0.52, if our distribution coverage ratio (after 

giving effect to the then convertible Waiver Units) would be at least 1.1 times. Our distribution coverage ratio is 

computed as the ratio of our Available Cash before Reserves (also known as distributable cash flow) for a quarterly 

period to the total distribution to be paid with respect to that quarter. 

As a result of that transaction, which we refer to as the IDR Restructuring, (i) we now have approximately 

64.6 million common units outstanding (with the former stakeholders of the general partner owning approximately 

45% of such units, including common units owned prior to the IDR Restructuring), (ii) our general partner has 

become (by way of merger) one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, (iii) there has been no change in the composition 

of our board of directors and (iv) the former stakeholders of our general partner will continue to elect our board of 

directors in the future. 

The IDR Restructuring was unanimously approved by our board of directors based, in part, on the 

unanimous approval and recommendation of the board’s conflicts committee, which is comprised solely of 

independent directors. The conflicts committee engaged independent financial and legal advisors and obtained a 

fairness opinion. The organizational structure resulting from the IDR Restructuring is also shown in the chart below.    

Cameron Highway Acquisition  

On November 23, 2010, we acquired a 50% interest in Cameron Highway for approximately $330 

million.  Cameron Highway, a joint venture with Enterprise Products Partners, L.P. (Enterprise Products), owns and 

operates the largest (measured by both length and capacity) crude oil pipeline system in the Gulf of Mexico.  

Constructed in 2004, the Cameron Highway oil pipeline system, or CHOPS, is comprised of 380 miles of 24- and 

30- inch diameter pipeline with capacity to deliver up to 500,000 barrels per day of crude oil from developments in 

the Gulf of Mexico to refining markets along the Texas Gulf Coast located in Port Arthur and Texas City, Texas.  

When we acquired our interest in Cameron Highway, its assets included CHOPS, approximately $50 million of 

crude oil linefill and $9 million in pumping equipment (in each case, net to acquired 50% interest).  Enterprise 

Products owns the remaining 50% interest in, and operates, the joint venture.  We financed the purchase price for the 
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acquisition primarily with the net proceeds of approximately $119 million from an underwritten public offering of 

5.2 million of our common units (including the overallotment option that the underwriters exercised in full and 

including our general partner’s proportionate capital contribution to maintain its 2% general partner interest) at 

$23.58 per common unit and net proceeds of approximately $243 million from a private placement of $250 million 

in aggregate principal amount of 7.875% senior unsecured notes due 2018.  We used $23.8 million in excess net 

proceeds to temporarily reduce the balance outstanding under our revolving credit agreement. 

Acquisition of Remaining 51% Interest in DG Marine  

On July 28, 2010, we acquired the 51% economic interest in DG Marine that we did not already own 

from TD Marine (a related party) for $25.5 million, resulting in DG Marine becoming our wholly-owned subsidiary. 

Originally formed in 2008, DG Marine was a joint venture in which we owned a 49% economic interest and TD 

Marine owned the remaining 51% economic interest. DG Marine provides transportation services of petroleum 

products by barge, which complements our other supply and logistics operations. 

Restructured Credit Agreement  

On June 29, 2010, we restructured our credit agreement. Our credit agreement now provides for a $525 

million senior secured revolving credit facility, includes an accordion feature whereby the total credit available  
can be increased up to $650 million under certain circumstances, and matures on June 30, 2015. Among other 

modifications, our credit agreement now includes a $75 million sublimit tranche designed for more efficient 

financing of crude oil and petroleum products inventory.  

Twenty-Two Consecutive Distribution Rate Increases 

We have increased our quarterly distribution rate for twenty-two consecutive quarters.  On February 14, 

2011, we paid a quarterly cash distribution of $0.40 (or $1.60 annually) per unit to unitholders of record as of 

February 2, 2011, an increase per unit of $0.0125 (or 3.2%) from the distribution in the prior quarter, and an increase 

of 11.1% from the distribution in February 2010.  As in the past, future increases (if any) in our quarterly 

distribution rate will depend on our ability to execute critical components of our business strategy. 

Organizational Structure  

On February 5, 2010, a group of investors acquired all of the equity interest in our general partner 

(including the interest owned by our executives), although certain of our executives were allowed to participate as 

members of that investment group to the extent of their prior ownership interest.   

On December 28, 2010, pursuant to the IDR Restructuring, the incentive distribution rights held by our 

general partner were extinguished and the 2% general partner interest in us that our general partner held was 

converted into a non-economic general partner interest.  The former stakeholders of our general partner, which 

included certain members of executive management team, received approximately 27,000,000 units in us, consisting 

of: (i) approximately 19,960,000 traditional common units, or Class A Units, (ii) approximately 40,000 Class B 

common units, or Class B Units, with rights, preferences and privileges of the Class A Units and rights to elect our 

board of directors and convertible into Class A Units and (iii) approximately 7,000,000 Waiver Units, convertible 

into Class A Units.  The directors of our general partner before the IDR Restructuring remained as directors after the 

IDR Restructuring.  After the IDR Restructuring, through their Class B Units, the former stakeholders of our general 

partner retained the right to elect our board of directors. 

The Class A Units are traditional common units in us.  The Class B Units are identical to the Class A 

Units and, accordingly, have voting and distribution rights equivalent to those of the Class A Units, and, in addition, 

Class B Units have the right to elect all of our board of directors, subject to the Davison Family’s right to elect up to 

three directors under certain terms pursuant to a unitholders rights agreement.  The Class B Units are convertible 

into Class A Units under certain circumstances.  The Waiver Units are non-voting securities entitled to a minimal 

preferential quarterly distribution and are comprised of four classes (designated Class 1, Class 2, Class 3 and Class 

4) of 1,750,000 authorized units each.  The Waiver Units have the right to convert into Class A Units at the rate of 

one Class A Unit for each Waiver Unit under certain circumstances. 
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The primary benefit realized from the IDR Restructuring was the elimination of our IDRs, which 

represented the right to receive an increasing percentage of quarterly distributions of available cash after a minimum 

quarterly distribution and certain target distribution levels had been achieved. Our cost of issuing new units to 

facilitate our continuing growth included not only the distributions payable to such new unitholders, but also the 

percent of our aggregate quarterly distributions we pay to our general partner in respect of our general partner 

interest (2%) and IDRs (approximately 49%).  The elimination of our IDRs substantially lowers our cost of equity 

capital and increases the cash available to be distributed to our common unitholders.  Additionally, the elimination 

of the IDRs enhances our ability to compete for new acquisitions and improves the returns to our unitholders on all 

future expansion projects.  

Below are charts depicting our ownership structure before and after the IDR Restructuring. 

Organizational Chart 

Existing 

After the IDR Restructuring on December 28, 2010:  

 

 

Pipeline Transportation Refinery Services Supply and Logistics

Non-economic 

General Partner 

Interest

Genesis Energy, LP

(and subsidiaries)

Unitholders

64,575,065 Class A Common Units

39,997 Class B Common Units

6,949,004 Waiver Units

Genesis Energy, LLC

(our general partner) Segments
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Prior 

 

Before the IDR Restructuring on December 28, 2010: 

. 

Description of Segments and Related Assets 

We conduct our business through three primary segments: Pipeline Transportation, Refinery Services and 

Supply and Logistics. These segments are strategic business units that provide a variety of energy-related services.  

Financial information with respect to each of our segments can be found in Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

Pipeline Transportation 

We own three onshore crude oil common carrier pipelines, a 50% interest in CHOPS and two CO2 pipelines. 

Crude Oil Pipelines 

Our core pipeline transportation business is the transportation of crude oil for others for a fee. 

 Onshore Crude Oil Pipelines.  Through the onshore pipeline systems we own and operate, we transport 

crude oil for our gathering and marketing operations and for other shippers pursuant to tariff rates regulated by 

FERC or the Railroad Commission of Texas.  Accordingly, we offer transportation services to any shipper of crude 

oil, if the products tendered for transportation satisfy the conditions and specifications contained in the applicable 

tariff.  Pipeline revenues are a function of the level of throughput and the particular point where the crude oil is 

injected into the pipeline and the delivery point.  We also may earn revenue from pipeline loss allowance volumes.  

In exchange for bearing the risk of pipeline volumetric losses, we deduct volumetric pipeline loss allowances and 

crude oil quality deductions.  Such allowances and deductions are offset by measurement gains and losses.  When 

Pipeline Transportation Refinery Services Supply and Logistics

2.0% General 

Partner Interest

Genesis Energy, LP

(and subsidiaries)

Unitholders

44,760,692 Class A Common Units

Segments

Genesis Energy, LLC

(our general partner)

Incentive

Distribution Rights
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our actual volume losses are less than the related allowances and deductions, we recognize the difference as income 

and inventory available for sale valued at the market price for the crude oil. 

The margins from our onshore crude oil pipeline operations are generated by the difference between the 

sum of revenues from regulated published tariffs and pipeline loss allowance revenues and the fixed and variable 

costs of operating and maintaining our pipelines. 

We own and operate three onshore common carrier crude oil pipeline systems: the Mississippi System, the 

Jay System and the Texas System. 

  Mississippi System  Jay System  Texas System 

Product  Crude oil  Crude Oil  Crude oil 

Interest Owned  100%  100%  100% 

System miles  235  100  90 

Owned and leased 

tankage storage 

capacity 

 247,500 Bbls  230,000  Bbls  220,000  Bbls 

Location  Soso, Mississippi to 
Liberty, Mississippi 

 Southern 

Alabama/Florida to 
Mobile, Alabama 

 West Columbia, Texas to 
Webster, Texas  

Webster, Texas to Texas City, 
Texas 

Webster, Texas to Houston, 
Texas 

Regulated/Unregulated  Regulated  Regulated  Regulated 

 

 Mississippi System  Our Mississippi System provides shippers of crude oil in Mississippi indirect 

access to refineries, pipelines, storage, terminals and other crude oil infrastructure located in the 

Midwest.  The system is adjacent to several oil fields that are in various phases of being produced 

through tertiary recovery strategy, including CO2 injection and flooding.  Increased production from 

these fields could create increased demand for our crude oil transportation services because of the 

close proximity of our pipeline.  We provide transportation services on our Mississippi pipeline 

through an ―incentive‖ tariff which provides that the average rate per barrel that we charge during any 

month decreases as our aggregate throughput for that month increases above specified thresholds. 

 Jay System.  Our Jay System provides crude oil shippers access to refineries, pipelines and storage 

near Mobile, Alabama.  We completed construction of a gathering pipeline in 2009 extending to 

producers operating in southern Alabama and providing access to our Jay System. The lateral consists 

of approximately 33 miles of pipeline originating in the Little Cedar Creek Field in Conecuh County, 

Alabama to a connection to our Florida Pipeline System in Escambia County, Alabama. The system 

also includes gathering connections to approximately 35 wells, additional oil storage capacity of 

20,000 barrels in the field and a delivery connection to a refinery in Alabama.  

 Texas System.  Our Texas System transports crude oil from West Columbia to several delivery points 

near Houston.  The Texas System receives all of its volume from connections to other pipeline 

carriers.  We earn a tariff for our transportation services, with the tariff rate per barrel of crude oil 

varying with the distance from injection point to delivery point.  We entered into a joint tariff with 

TEPPCO, now known as Enterprise Crude Oil Pipeline Company, to receive oil from its system at 

West Columbia and a joint tariff with TEPPCO and ExxonMobil Pipeline Company to receive oil 

from their systems at Webster.  We also continue to receive barrels from a connection with 

Blueknight Energy Partners at Webster.  We have a tank rental reimbursement agreement with the 

primary shipper on our Texas System to reimburse us for the lease of 165,000 barrels of storage 

capacity at Webster.  

 

Offshore Crude Oil Pipeline.  On November 23, 2010, we acquired a 50% interest in Cameron Highway 

Oil Pipeline Company, a crude oil pipeline joint venture with Enterprise Products Partners, L.P.  The Cameron 
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Highway oil pipeline system is the largest (measured by both length and capacity) crude oil pipeline system in the 

Gulf of Mexico, which represented approximately 30%, 29% and 23% of U.S. oil production during 2010, 2009 and 

2008, respectively.   

  CHOPS 

Product  Crude oil 

Interest owned  50% 

System miles  380 

Location  Gulf of Mexico (primarily 

offshore of Texas and 

Louisiana) 

Regulated/Unregulated   Unregulated 

In-service date  2004 

Capacity (Bbls/day)  500,000 

 

CHOPS is comprised of 24- and 30- inch diameter pipelines to deliver crude oil from developments in the 

Gulf of Mexico to refining markets along the Texas Gulf Coast via interconnections with refineries located in Port 

Arthur and Texas City, Texas.  CHOPS also includes two strategically located multi-purpose offshore platforms.  

Enterprise Products owns the remaining 50% interest in, and operates, the joint venture. 

CHOPS was constructed in response to a need for additional pipeline capacity to handle crude oil 

production from deepwater region discoveries in the Gulf of Mexico, primarily offshore of Texas and Louisiana.  Its 

anchor customers, subsidiaries of BP p.l.c., BHP Billiton Group and Chevron Corporation, dedicated their 

production from approximately 86,400 acres to CHOPS for the life of the reserves underlying such acreage, which 

dedications included the prolific Mad Dog and Atlantis fields as well as other deepwater oil discoveries.  Those 

producer agreements include both firm and, to the extent CHOPS has any remaining capacity, interruptible capacity 

arrangements.  Since its formation, Cameron Highway has entered into handling arrangements with numerous other 

producers pursuant to both firm and interruptible capacity arrangements covering deepwater discoveries, including 

Constitution, Ticonderoga, K2, Shenzi, Front Runner, Cottonwood and Tahiti.   

The pipeline has significant available capacity to accommodate future growth in the fields from which the 

production is dedicated to the pipeline as well as to transport volumes from non-dedicated fields both currently in 

production and to be developed in the future.  Since we acquired our interest CHOPS has averaged 149,000 barrels 

per day of revenue volumes. 

CO2 Pipelines 

We transport CO2 on our Free State Pipeline and the Northeast Jackson Dome Pipeline System, or the 

NEJD System, for a fee. 

  Free State Pipeline  NEJD System * 

Product  CO2  CO2 

Interest owned  100%  100% 

System miles  86  183 

Pipeline diameter  20‖  20‖ 

Location  Jackson Dome near 

Jackson, Mississippi to 

East Mississippi 

 Jackson Dome near Jackson, 

Mississippi to Donaldsonville, 

Louisiana 
Regulated/Unregulated  Unregulated  Unregulated 

     

*Subject to fixed payment agreement. 
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Our Free State Pipeline extends from CO2 source fields near Jackson, Mississippi to oil fields in eastern 

Mississippi.  We have a twenty-year transportation services agreement (through 2028) related to the transportation 

of CO2 on our Free State Pipeline.  

Denbury has leased the NEJD System from us through 2028.  The NEJD System transports CO2 to tertiary 

oil recovery operations in southwest Mississippi. 

 Customers 

Currently greater than 90% of the volume on the Mississippi System originates from oil fields operated by 

Denbury.  Denbury is the largest producer (based upon average barrels produced per day) of crude oil in the State of 

Mississippi.  Our Mississippi System is adjacent to several of Denbury’s existing and prospective fields.  Our 

customers on our Mississippi, Jay and Texas systems are primarily large, energy companies.  Denbury has exclusive 

use of the NEJD Pipeline System and is responsible for all operations and maintenance on that system and will bear 

and assume all obligations and liabilities with respect to that system.  Currently, Denbury also has rights to exclusive 

use of our Free State Pipeline. 

Due to the cost of finding, developing and producing oil properties in the deepwater regions of the Gulf of 

Mexico, most of Cameron Highway’s customers are integrated oil companies and other large producers, and those 

producers desire to have longer-term arrangements ensuring that their production can access the markets.  Usually, 

Cameron Highway and each of its customers enter into buy-sell arrangements, pursuant to which Cameron Highway 

acquires from its customer the relevant production at a specified location (often a producer’s platform or at another 

interconnection with CHOPS) and sells such customer an equivalent volume at one or more specified downstream 

locations (such as a refinery or an interconnection with another pipeline).  Most of the production handled by 

CHOPS is pursuant to life-of-reserve commitments that include both firm and interruptible capacity arrangements.  

Revenues from customers of our pipeline transportation segment did not account for more than ten percent 

of our consolidated revenues.   

Competition 

Competition among common carrier pipelines is based primarily on posted tariffs, quality of customer 

service and proximity to production, refineries and connecting pipelines.  We believe that high capital costs, tariff 

regulation and the cost of acquiring rights-of-way make it unlikely that other competing pipeline systems, 

comparable in size and scope to our onshore pipelines, will be built in the same geographic areas in the near future. 

Cameron Highway’s principal competition includes other crude oil pipeline systems (such as Poseidon) as 

well as producers who may elect to build or utilize their own production handling facilities.  Cameron Highway 

competes for new production on the basis of geographic proximity to the production, cost of connection, available 

capacity, transportation rates and access to onshore markets.  In addition, the ability of CHOPS to access future 

reserves will be subject to our ability, or the producers’ ability, to fund the significant capital expenditures required 

to connect to the new production.   In general, CHOPS is not subject to regulatory rate-making authority, and the 

rates it charges for its services are dependent on the quality of the service required by its customer and the amount 

and term of the reserve commitment by that customer. 

Refinery Services 

Our refinery services segment primarily (i) provides sulfur-extraction services to ten refining operations 

predominately located in Texas, Louisiana, Arkansas and Utah, (ii) operate significant storage and transportation 

assets in relation to our business and (iii) sell NaHS and caustic soda (or NaOH) to large industrial and commercial 

companies.  Our refinery services activities involve processing high sulfur (or ―sour‖) gas streams that the refineries 

have generated from crude oil processing operations.  Our process applies our proprietary technology, which uses 

large quantities of caustic soda (the primary raw material used in our process) to act as a scrubbing agent under 

prescribed temperature and pressure to remove sulfur.  Sulfur removal in a refinery is a key factor in optimizing 

production of refined products such as gasoline, diesel and aviation fuel.  Our sulfur removal technology returns a 

clean (sulfur-free) hydrocarbon stream to the refinery for further processing into refined products, and 

simultaneously produces NaHS.  The resultant NaHS constitutes the sole consideration we receive for our refinery 

services activities.  A majority of the NaHS we receive is sourced from refineries owned and operated by large 

companies, including ConocoPhillips, CITGO, Holly, and Ergon. 
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Our refinery services footprint also includes terminals, and we utilize railcars, ships, barges and trucks to 

transport product.  In conjunction with our supply and logistics segment, we sell and deliver NaHS and caustic soda 

to over 100 customers.  We believe we are one of the largest marketers of NaHS in North and South America.  By 

minimizing our costs by utilizing our own logistical assets and leased storage sites, we believe we have a 

competitive advantage over other suppliers of NaHS.  Our refinery services contracts are typically long-term in 

nature and have an average remaining term of four years.   

NaHS is used in the specialty chemicals business (plastic additives, dyes and personal care products), in 

pulp and paper business, and in connection with mining operations (nickel, gold and separating copper from 

molybdenum) as well as bauxite refining (aluminum).  NaHS has also gained acceptance in environmental 

applications, including waste treatment programs requiring stabilization and reduction of heavy and toxic metals and 

flue gas scrubbing.  Additionally, NaHS can be used for removing hair from hides at the beginning of the tannery 

process.   

Caustic soda is used in many of the same industries as NaHS.  Many applications require both chemicals 

for use in the same process – for example, caustic soda can increase the yields in bauxite refining, pulp 

manufacturing and in the recovery of copper, gold and nickel.    Caustic soda is also used as a cleaning agent (when 

combined with water and heated) for process equipment and storage tanks at refineries. 

We believe that the demand for sulfur removal at U.S. refineries will increase in the years ahead as the 

quality of the oil supply used by refineries in the U.S. continues to drop (or become more ―sour‖) and the residual 

level of sulfur allowed in lubricants and fuels is required to be reduced by regulatory agencies domestically and 

internationally.  As that occurs, we believe more refineries will seek economic and proven sulfur removal processes 

from reputable service providers that have the scale and logistical capabilities to efficiently perform such services.   

Because of our existing scale, we believe we will be able to attract some of these refineries as new customers for our 

sulfur handling/removal services, providing us the capacity to meet any increases in NaHS demand. 

Customers 

We provided onsite services utilizing NaHS units at ten refining locations, and we managed sulfur removal 

by exclusive rights to market NaHS produced at three third-party sites.  While some of our customers have elected 

to own the sulfur removal facilities located at their refineries, we operate those facilities.  These NaHS facilities are 

located primarily in the southeastern United States.   

We sell our NaHS to customers in a variety of industries, with the largest customers involved in mining of 

base metals, primarily copper and molybdenum and the production of pulp and paper.  We sell to customers in the 

copper mining industry in the western United States, Canada and Mexico.  We also export the NaHS to South 

America for sale to customers for mining in Peru and Chile.  No customer of the refinery services segment is 

responsible for more than ten percent of our consolidated revenues.  Approximately 11% of the revenues of the 

refinery services segment in 2010 resulted from sales to Kennecott Utah Copper, a subsidiary of Rio Tinto plc.  

Many of the industries that our NaHS customers are in (such as copper mining and the pulp and paper industry) 

participate in global markets for their products.  As a result, this creates an indirect exposure for NaHS to global 

demand for the end products of our customers.  During 2010, global demand for copper, molybdenum and paper 

increased, providing increased demand for our NaHS.  Provisions in our service contracts with refiners allow us to 

adjust our sour gas processing rates (sulfur removal) to maintain a balance between NaHS supply and demand.  

We sell caustic soda to many of the same customers who purchase NaHS from us, including pulp and paper 

manufacturers and copper mining.  We also supply caustic soda to some of the refineries in which we operate for use 

in cleaning processing equipment. 

Competition  

We believe that the U.S. refinery industry’s demand for sulfur extraction services will increase because we 

believe sour oil will constitute an increasing portion of the total worldwide supply of crude oil and the phase in of 

stricter passenger vehicle emission standards will require refiners to produce additional quantities of low sulfur 

fuels.  Both of these conditions can be met by refineries installing our sulfur removal technology under refinery 

service agreements.  While other options exist for the removal of sulfur from sour oil, we believe our existing 

customers are unlikely to change to another method due to the costs involved, our proven reliability and the 

regulatory permit processes required when changing methods of handling sulfur.  NaHS technology is a reliable and 

cost effective manner to control refinery operating costs regardless of the crude slate being processed.  In addition, 
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we have an increasing array of services we can offer to our refinery customers, and we believe our proprietary 

knowledge, scale, logistics capabilities and safety and service record will encourage these refineries to continue to 

outsource their existing refinery services functions to us.   

Our competitors for the supply of NaHS consist primarily of parties who produce NaHS as a by-product of 

processes involved with agricultural pesticide products, plastic additives and lubricant viscosity.  Typically our 

competitors for the production of NaHS have only one manufacturing location and they do not have the logistical 

infrastructure that we have to supply customers.  Our primary competitor has been AkzoNobel, a chemical 

manufacturing company that produces NaHS primarily in its pesticide operations. 

Our competitors for sales of caustic soda include manufacturers of caustic soda.  These competitors supply 

caustic soda to our refinery services operations and support us in our third-party NaOH sales.  By utilizing our 

storage capabilities and having access to transportation assets, we sell caustic soda to third parties who gain 

efficiencies from acquiring both NaHS and NaOH from one source.   

Supply and Logistics 

Through our supply and logistics segment we provide a wide array of services to oil producers and refiners 

in the Gulf Coast region.  In connection with these services, we utilize our portfolio of logistical assets consisting of 

trucks, terminals, pipelines and barges.  Our crude oil related services include gathering crude oil from producers at 

the wellhead, transporting crude oil by truck to pipeline injection points and marketing crude oil to refiners.   Not 

unlike our crude oil operations, we also gather refined products from refineries, transport refined products via truck, 

railcar or barge, and sell refined products to customers in wholesale markets.   For these services, we generate fee-

based income and profit from the difference between the price at which we re-sell the crude oil and petroleum 

products less the price at which we purchase the oil and products, minus the associated costs of aggregation and 

transportation.  Our industrial gases supply and logistics operations (i) supply CO2 to industrial customers, (ii) 

process raw CO2 and sell that processed CO2, and (iii) manufacture and sell syngas, a combination of carbon 

monoxide and hydrogen. 

Our crude oil supply and logistics operations are concentrated in Texas, Louisiana, Alabama, Florida and 

Mississippi.  These operations help to ensure (among other things) a base supply source for our oil pipeline systems 

and our refinery customers while providing our producer customers with a market outlet for their production.   

Usually, our supply and logistics segment experiences limited commodity price risk because it involves back-to-

back purchases and sales, matching our sale and purchase volumes on a monthly basis. Unsold volumes are hedged 

with NYMEX derivatives to offset the remaining price risk.  By utilizing our network of trucks, terminals and 

pipelines, we are able to provide transportation related services to crude oil producers and refiners as well as enter 

into back-to-back gathering and marketing arrangements with these same parties. Additionally, our crude oil 

gathering and marketing expertise and knowledge base, provides us with an ability to capitalize on opportunities that 

arise from time to time in our market areas. Given our network of terminals, we have the ability to store crude oil 

during periods of contango (oil prices for future deliveries are higher than for current deliveries) for delivery in 

future months. When we purchase and store crude oil during periods of contango, we limit commodity price risk by 

simultaneously entering into a contract to sell the inventory in the future period, either with a counterparty or in the 

crude oil futures market. We generally will account for this inventory and the related derivative hedge as a fair value 

hedge in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.   The most substantial component of the costs 

we incur while aggregating crude oil and petroleum products relates to operating our fleet of owned and leased 

trucks. 

Our refined products supply and logistics operations are concentrated in the Gulf Coast region, principally 

Texas and Louisiana.  Through our footprint of owned and leased trucks, leased railcars, terminals and barges, we 

are able to provide Gulf Coast area refineries with transportation services as well as market outlets for their finished 

refined products. We primarily engage in the transportation and supply of fuel oil, asphalt, diesel and gasoline to our 

customers in wholesale markets as well as paper mills and utilities.  By utilizing our broad network of relationships 

and logistics assets, including our terminal accessibility, we have the ability to gather, from refineries, various 

grades of refined products and blend them to meet the requirements of our other market customers. Our refinery 

customers may choose to manufacture various refined products depending on a number of economic and operating 

factors, and therefore we cannot predict the timing of contribution margins related to our blending services. 

However, when we are able to purchase and subsequently blend refined products, our contribution margin as a 

percentage of the revenues tends to be higher than the same percentage attributable to our recurring operations. 
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We supply CO2 to industrial customers currently under six long-term contracts, with an average remaining 

contract life of six years. Our compensation for supplying CO2 to our industrial customers, who treat the CO2 and 

sell it to end users for use in beverage carbonation and chilling and freezing food, is the effective difference between 

the price at which we sell our CO2 under each contract and the price at which we acquired our CO2 pursuant to our 

volumetric production payments (also known as VPPs), minus transportation costs.  We expect some seasonality in 

our sales of CO2. The dominant months for beverage carbonation and freezing food are from April to October, when 

warm weather increases demand for beverages and the approaching holidays increase demand for frozen foods.  At 

December 31, 2010, we had 100.2 Bcf of CO2 remaining under the VPPs.   

All of our CO2 supply is currently from our interests—our VPPs—in fields producing naturally occurring 

CO2. The agreements we executed when we acquired the VPPs provide that we may acquire additional CO2 under 

terms similar to the original agreements should additional volumes be needed to meet our obligations under the 

existing customer contracts. These contracts expire between 2011 and 2023. Based on the current volumes being 

sold to our customers, we believe that we will need to acquire additional volumes pursuant to our VPPs in 2014. 

When our VPPs expire, we will have to obtain additional CO2 supply if we choose to remain in the CO2 supply 

business.  

We own a 50% interest in Sandhill Group, LLC, or Sandhill, through which we process raw CO2 for sale to 

other customers for uses ranging from completing oil and natural gas producing wells to food processing.  We also 

own a 50% joint venture interest in T&P Syngas Supply Company, from which we receive distributions earned from 

fees for manufacturing syngas (a combination of carbon monoxide and hydrogen) by Praxair Hydrogen Supply Inc., 

or Praxair, our 50% joint venture partner 

Within our supply and logistics business segment, to meet our customer needs, we employ many types of 

logistically flexible assets.  These assets include 250 trucks, 280 trailers, 20 barges with approximately 660,000 

barrels of refined products transportation capacity, 1.5 million barrels of leased and owned terminal storage capacity 

in multiple locations along the Gulf Coast, accessible by truck, rail or barge.     

Customers  

Our supply and logistics business encompasses hundreds of producers and customers, for which we provide 

transportation related services, as well as gather from and market to crude oil,  refined products and CO2.  During 

2010, more than ten percent of our consolidated revenues were generated from Shell Oil Company.  We do not 

believe that the loss of any one customer for crude oil, petroleum products or CO2 would have a material adverse 

effect on us as these products are readily marketable commodities. 

Competition 

In our crude oil supply and logistics operations, we compete with other midstream service providers and 

regional and local companies who may have significant market share in the areas in which they operate.  In our 

supply and logistics refined products operations, we compete primarily with regional companies. Competitive 

factors in our supply and logistics business include price, relationships with customers, range and quality of services, 

knowledge of products and markets, availability of trade credit and capabilities of risk management systems. 

Currently, all of our CO2 supply is from our interest—our VPPs—in fields producing naturally occurring 

sources. In the future, we may have to obtain our CO2 supply from manufactured processes. Naturally-occurring 

CO2, like that from the Jackson Dome area, occurs infrequently, and only in limited areas east of the Mississippi 

River. Once our existing VPPs expire, we will have to obtain additional CO2 should we choose to remain in the CO2 

supply business, and the competition and pricing issues we will face at that time are uncertain.    

Geographic Segments 

  All of our operations are in the United States.  Additionally, we transport and sell NaHS to customers in 

South America and Canada.  Revenues from customers in foreign countries totaled approximately $14.5 million and 

$9.5 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The remainder of our revenues in 2010 and 2009 and all of our 

revenues in 2008 were generated from sales to customers in the United States. 

Credit Exposure 

Due to the nature of our operations, a disproportionate percentage of our trade receivables constitute 

obligations of oil companies, independent refiners, and mining and other industrial companies that purchase NaHS.  

This energy industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or 
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negatively, in that our customers could be affected by similar changes in economic, industry or other conditions.  

However, we believe that the credit risk posed by this industry concentration is offset by the creditworthiness of our 

customer base.  Our portfolio of accounts receivable is comprised in large part of integrated and independent energy 

companies with stable payment experience.  The credit risk related to contracts that are traded on the NYMEX is 

limited due to the daily cash settlement procedures and other NYMEX requirements. 

When we market crude oil and petroleum products and NaHS, we must determine the amount, if any, of the 

line of credit we will extend to any given customer.  We have established procedures to manage our credit exposure, 

including initial credit approvals, credit limits, collateral requirements and rights of offset.  Letters of credit, 

prepayments and guarantees are also utilized to limit credit risk to ensure that our established credit criteria are met. 

We use similar procedures to manage our exposure to our customers in the pipeline transportation segment. 

Some of our customers experienced cash flow difficulties in 2010 and 2009 as a result of the state of the 

credit markets and the economic recession in the United States.  These customers generally purchase petroleum 

products and NaHS from us.  Our credit monitoring procedures includes frequent reviews of our customer base.  As 

a result of cash flow difficulties of some of our customers, we have experienced a delay in collections from these 

customers and established an allowance for possible uncollectible receivables at December 31, 2010 and 2009 in the 

amount of $1.3 million and $1.4 million, respectively.  During 2010, we charged approximately $0.5 million to bad 

debt expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Employees 

To carry out our business activities, we employed approximately 690 employees at December 31, 2010. 

None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we believe that relationships with our employees are 

good. 

Regulation 

Pipeline Rate and Access Regulation 

The rates and the terms and conditions of service of our interstate common carrier pipeline operations are 

subject to regulation by FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act, or ICA.  Under the ICA, rates must be ―just and 

reasonable,‖ and must not be unduly discriminatory or confer any undue preference on any shipper.  FERC 

regulations require that oil pipeline rates and terms and conditions of service be filed with FERC and posted 

publicly. 

Effective January 1, 1995, FERC promulgated rules simplifying and streamlining the ratemaking process.  

Previously established rates were ―grandfathered‖, limiting the challenges that could be made to existing tariff rates.  

Increases from grandfathered rates of interstate oil pipelines are currently regulated by the FERC primarily through 

an index methodology, whereby a pipeline is allowed to change its rates based on the year-to-year change in an 

index.  Under the FERC regulations, we are able to change our rates within prescribed ceiling levels that are tied to 

the Producer Price Index for Finished Goods.  Rate increases made pursuant to the index will be subject to protest, 

but such protests must show that the portion of the rate increase resulting from application of the index is 

substantially in excess of the pipeline's increase in costs. 

In addition to the index methodology, FERC allows for rate changes under three other methods—cost-of-

service, competitive market showings (―Market-Based Rates‖), or agreements between shippers and the oil pipeline 

company that the rate is acceptable (―Settlement Rates‖).  The pipeline tariff rates on our Mississippi and Jay 

Systems are either rates that were grandfathered and have been changed under the index methodology, or Settlement 

Rates.  None of our tariffs have been subjected to a protest or complaint by any shipper or other interested party. 

 CHOPS is neither an interstate nor a common carrier pipeline.  However, it is subject to federal regulation 

under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, which requires all pipelines operating on or across the outer 

continental shelf to provide nondiscriminatory transportation service. 

Our intrastate common carrier pipeline operations in Texas are subject to regulation by the Railroad 

Commission of Texas.  The applicable Texas statutes require that pipeline rates and practices be reasonable and non-

discriminatory and that pipeline rates provide a fair return on the aggregate value of the property of a common 

carrier, after providing reasonable allowance for depreciation and other factors and for reasonable operating 

expenses.  Most of the volume on our Texas System is now shipped under joint tariffs with TEPPCO and Exxon.  
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Although no assurance can be given that the tariffs we charge would ultimately be upheld if challenged, we believe 

that the tariffs now in effect can be sustained. 

Our CO2 pipelines are subject to regulation by the state agencies in the states in which they are located. 

Marine Regulations 

Maritime Law.  The operation of tow boats, barges and marine equipment create maritime obligations 

involving property, personnel and cargo under General Maritime Law.  These obligations can create risks which are 

varied and include, among other things, the risk of collision and allision, which may precipitate claims for personal 

injury, cargo, contract, pollution, third-party claims and property damages to vessels and facilities.  Routine towage 

operations can also create risk of personal injury under the Jones Act and General Maritime Law, cargo claims 

involving the quality of a product and delivery, terminal claims, contractual claims and regulatory issues.  Federal 

regulations also require that all tank barges engaged in the transportation of oil and petroleum in the U.S. be double 

hulled by 2015.  All of our barges are double-hulled.   

Jones Act.  The Jones Act is a federal law that restricts maritime transportation between locations in the 

United States to vessels built and registered in the United States and owned and manned by United States citizens.  

We are responsible for monitoring the ownership of our subsidiary that engages in maritime transportation and for 

taking any remedial action necessary to insure that no violation of the Jones Act ownership restrictions occurs.  

Jones Act requirements significantly increase operating costs of United States-flag vessel operations compared to 

foreign-flag vessel operations.  Further, the USCG and American Bureau of Shipping (―ABS‖) maintain the most 

stringent regime of vessel inspection in the world, which tends to result in higher regulatory compliance costs for 

United States-flag operators than for owners of vessels registered under foreign flags of convenience.  The Jones Act 

and General Maritime Law also provide damage remedies for crew members injured in the service of the vessel 

arising from employer negligence or vessel unseaworthiness.   

Merchant Marine Act of 1936.  The Merchant Marine Act of 1936 is a federal law that provides that, upon 

proclamation by the president of the United States of a national emergency or a threat to the national security, the 

United States Secretary of Transportation may requisition or purchase any vessel or other watercraft owned by 

United States citizens (including us, provided that we are considered a United States citizen for this purpose).  If one 

of our tow boats or barges were purchased or requisitioned by the United States government under this law, we 

would be entitled to be paid the fair market value of the vessel in the case of a purchase or, in the case of a 

requisition, the fair market value of charter hire.  However, if one of our tow boats is requisitioned or purchased and 

its associated barge or barges are left idle, we would not be entitled to receive any compensation for the lost 

revenues resulting from the idled barges.  We also would not be entitled to be compensated for any consequential 

damages we suffer as a result of the requisition or purchase of any of our tow boats or barges. 

Environmental Regulations 

General 

We are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the discharge of 

materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental protection.  These laws and regulations may 

require the acquisition of and compliance with permits for regulated activities, limit or prohibit operations on 

environmentally sensitive lands such as wetlands or wilderness areas or areas inhabited by endangered or threatened 

species, result in capital expenditures to limit or prevent emissions or discharges, and place burdensome restrictions 

on our operations, including the management and disposal of wastes.  Failure to comply with these laws and 

regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, including the assessment of 

monetary penalties, the imposition of investigatory and remedial obligations, the suspension or revocation of 

necessary permits, licenses and authorizations, the requirement that additional pollution controls be installed and the 

issuance of orders enjoining future operations or imposing additional compliance requirements.  Changes in 

environmental laws and regulations occur frequently, typically increasing in stringency through time, and any 

changes that result in more stringent and costly operating restrictions, emission control, waste handling, disposal, 

cleanup, and other environmental requirements have the potential to have a material adverse effect on our 

operations.  While we believe that we are in substantial compliance with current environmental laws and regulations 

and that continued compliance with existing requirements would not materially affect us, there is no assurance that 

this trend will continue in the future. 
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Hazardous Substances and Waste 

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended, or CERCLA, 

also known as the ―Superfund‖ law, and analogous state laws impose liability, without regard to fault or the legality 

of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons.  These persons include current owners and operators of the site 

where a release of hazardous substances occurred, prior owners or operators that owned or operated the site at the 

time of the release of hazardous substances, and companies that disposed or arranged for the disposal of the 

hazardous substances found at the site.  We currently own or lease, and have in the past owned or leased, properties 

that have been in use for many years with the gathering and transportation of hydrocarbons including crude oil and 

other activities that could cause an environmental impact.  Persons deemed  ―responsible persons‖ under CERCLA 

may be subject to strict and joint and several liability for the costs of removing or remediating previously disposed 

wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators) or property contamination (including 

groundwater contamination), for damages to natural resources, and for the costs of certain health studies.  CERCLA 

also authorizes the EPA and, in some instances, third parties to act in response to threats to the public health or the 

environment and to seek to recover the costs they incur from the responsible classes of persons.  It is not uncommon 

for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly 

caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into the environment.  

We also may incur liability under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, or RCRA, 

and analogous state laws which impose requirements and also liability relating to the management and disposal of 

solid and hazardous wastes.  While RCRA regulates both solid and hazardous wastes, it imposes strict requirements 

on the generation, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous wastes.  Certain petroleum production 

wastes are excluded from RCRA’s hazardous waste regulations.  However, it is possible that these wastes, which 

could include wastes currently generated during our operations, will in the future be designated as ―hazardous 

wastes‖ and, therefore, be subject to more rigorous and costly disposal requirements.  Indeed, legislation has been 

proposed from time to time in Congress to re-categorize certain oil and gas exploration and production wastes as 

―hazardous wastes.‖  Any such changes in the laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our 

capital expenditures and operating expenses.  

Water 

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, also known as the ―Clean Water Act‖, and 

analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the unauthorized discharge of pollutants, 

including oil, into navigable waters of the United States, as well as state waters.  Permits must be obtained to 

discharge pollutants into these waters.  In addition, the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws require individual 

permits or coverage under general permits for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities.  

These permits may require us to monitor and sample the storm water runoff from certain of our facilities.  Some 

states also maintain groundwater protection programs that require permits for discharges or operations that may 

impact groundwater conditions.  The Oil Pollution Act, or OPA, is the primary federal law for oil spill liability.  

OPA contains numerous requirements relating to the prevention of and response to oil spills into waters of the 

United States, including the requirement that operators of offshore facilities and certain onshore facilities near or 

crossing waterways must maintain certain significant levels of financial assurance to cover potential environmental 

cleanup and restoration costs.  The OPA subjects owners of facilities to strict, joint and several liability for all 

containment and cleanup costs and certain other damages arising from a spill, including, but not limited to, the costs 

of responding to a release of oil to surface waters.  Noncompliance with the Clean Water Act or OPA may result 

insubstantial civil and criminal penalties.  We believe we are in material compliance with each of these 

requirements.  

Air Emissions 

The Federal Clean Air Act, as amended, and analogous state and local laws and regulations restrict the 

emission of air pollutants, and impose permit requirements and other obligations.  Regulated emissions occur as a 

result of our operations, including the handling or storage of crude oil and other petroleum products.  Both federal 

and state laws impose substantial penalties for violation of these applicable requirements.  Accordingly, our failure 

to comply with these requirements could subject us to monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions or restrictions on 

operations, revocation or suspension of necessary permits and, potentially, criminal enforcement actions. 

NEPA 
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Under the National Environmental Policy Act, or NEPA, a federal agency, commonly in conjunction with a 

current permittee or applicant, may be required to prepare an environmental assessment or a detailed environmental 

impact statement before taking any major action, including issuing a permit for a pipeline extension or addition that 

would affect the quality of the environment.  Should an environmental impact statement or environmental 

assessment be required for any proposed pipeline extensions or additions, NEPA may prevent or delay construction 

or alter the proposed location, design or method of construction. 

Climate Change 

In June 2009, the U.S. House of Representatives passed the American Clean Energy and Security (ACES) 

Act that, among other things, would have established a cap-and-trade system to regulate greenhouse gas emissions 

and would have required an 80% reduction in GHG emissions from sources within the United States between 2012 

and 2050. The ACES Act did not pass the Senate, however, and so was not enacted by the 111th Congress.  The 

United States Congress is likely to again consider a climate change bill in the future.   Moreover, almost half of the 

states have already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of GHGs, primarily through the planned development 

of GHG emission inventories and/or regional GHG cap and trade programs.  Most of these cap and trade programs 

work by requiring major sources of emissions, such as electric power plants, or major producers of fuels, such as 

refineries and gas processing plants, to acquire and surrender emission allowances corresponding with their annual 

emissions of GHGs.  The number of allowances available for purchase is reduced each year until the overall GHG 

emission reduction goal is achieved.  As the number of GHG emission allowances declines each year, the cost or 

value of allowances is expected to escalate significantly.  Any laws or regulations that may be adopted to restrict or 

reduce emissions of GHG emissions could require us to incur increased operating costs, and could have an adverse 

affect on demand for the refined products produced by our refining customers. 

On April 2, 2007, the United States Supreme Court found that the EPA has the authority to regulate CO2 

emissions from automobiles as ―air pollutants‖ under the Clean Air Act, or the CAA.  Thereafter, in December 

2009, the EPA determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs present an endangerment to 

human health and the environment, because, according to the EPA, emissions of such gases contribute to warming 

of the earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes.  These findings by the EPA allowed the agency to proceed 

with the adoption and implementation of regulations that would restrict emissions of GHGs under existing 

provisions of the federal Clean Air Act.  Subsequently, the EPA recently adopted two sets of related rules, one of 

which purports to regulate emissions of GHGs from motor vehicles and the other of which would regulate emissions 

of GHGs from large stationary sources of emissions such as power plants or industrial facilities.  The EPA finalized 

the motor vehicle rule in April 2010 and it became effective January 2011, although it does not require immediate 

reductions in GHG emissions.  The EPA adopted the stationary source rule in May 2010, and it also became 

effective January 2011, although it remains subject of several pending lawsuits filed by industry groups.  

Additionally, in September 2009, the EPA issued a final rule requiring the reporting of GHG emissions from 

specified large GHG emission sources in the U.S., including natural gas liquids fractionators and local natural 

gas/distribution companies, beginning in 2011 for emissions occurring in 2010.  

 Safety and Security Regulations 

Our crude oil and CO2 pipelines are subject to construction, installation, operation and safety regulation by 

the U.S. Department of Transportation, or DOT, and various other federal, state and local agencies.  Congress has 

enacted several pipeline safety acts over the years.  Currently, the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 

Administration under DOT administers pipeline safety requirements for natural gas and hazardous liquid pipelines 

pursuant to detailed regulations set forth in 49 C.F.R. Parts 190 to 195.  These regulations, among other things, 

address pipeline integrity management and pipeline operator qualification rules.  Significant expenses could be 

incurred in the future if additional safety measures are required or if safety standards are raised and exceed the 

current pipeline control system capabilities. 

We are subject to the DOT Integrity Management, or IM, regulations, which require that we perform 

baseline assessments of all pipelines that could affect a High Consequence Area, or HCA, including certain 

populated areas and environmentally sensitive areas.  Due to the proximity of all of our pipelines to water crossings 

and populated areas, we have designated all of our pipelines as affecting HCAs.  The integrity of these pipelines 

must be assessed by internal inspection, pressure test, or equivalent alternative new technology. 

The IM regulations required us to prepare an Integrity Management Plan, or IMP, that details the risk 

assessment factors, the overall risk rating for each segment of pipe, a schedule for completing the integrity 
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assessment, the methods to assess pipeline integrity, and an explanation of the assessment methods selected.  The 

regulations also require periodic review of HCA pipeline segments to ensure that adequate preventative and 

mitigative measures exist and that companies take prompt action to address pipeline integrity issues.  No assurance 

can be given that the cost of testing and the required rehabilitation identified will not be material costs to us that may 

not be fully recoverable by tariff increases. 

We have developed a Risk Management Plan required by the EPA as part of our IMP.  This plan is 

intended to minimize the offsite consequences of catastrophic spills.  As part of this program, we have developed a 

mapping program.  This mapping program identified HCAs and unusually sensitive areas along the pipeline right-

of-ways in addition to mapping of shorelines to characterize the potential impact of a spill of crude oil on 

waterways. 

Our crude oil, refined products and refinery services operations are also subject to the requirements of 

OSHA and comparable state statutes.  Various other federal and state regulations require that we train all operations 

employees in HAZCOM and disclose information about the hazardous materials used in our operations.  Certain 

information must be reported to employees, government agencies and local citizens upon request. 

States are responsible for enforcing the federal regulations and more stringent state pipeline regulations and 

inspection with respect to hazardous liquids pipelines, including crude oil, natural gas, and CO2 pipelines.  In 

practice, states vary considerably in their authority and capacity to address pipeline safety.  We do not anticipate any 

significant problems in complying with applicable state laws and regulations in those states in which we operate. 

Our trucking operations are licensed to perform both intrastate and interstate motor carrier services. As a 

motor carrier, we are subject to certain safety regulations issued by the DOT. The trucking regulations cover, among 

other things, driver operations, log book maintenance, truck manifest preparations, safety placard placement on the 

trucks and trailer vehicles, drug and alcohol testing, operation and equipment safety, and many other aspects of truck 

operations. We are also subject to OSHA with respect to our trucking operations. 

The USCG regulates occupational health standards related to our marine operations.   Shore-side operations 

are subject to the regulations of OSHA and comparable state statutes.  The Maritime Transportation Security Act 

requires, among other things, submission to and approval of the USCG of vessel security plans.   

Since the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the United States Government has issued numerous 

warnings that energy assets could be the subject of future terrorist attacks.  We have instituted security measures and 

procedures in conformity with federal guidance.  We will institute, as appropriate, additional security measures or 

procedures indicated by the federal government.  None of these measures or procedures should be construed as a 

guarantee that our assets are protected in the event of a terrorist attack. 

Website Access to Reports 

We make available free of charge on our internet website (www.genesisenergy.com) our annual report on 

Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or 

furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably 

practicable after we electronically file the material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.  Additionally, these documents are 

available at the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov).  Information on our website is not incorporated into this Form 10-K 

or our other securities filings and is not a part of them. 

 

http://www.genesiscrudeoil.com/
http://www.sec.gov/
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EXHIBIT 99.2 

Item 6.  Selected Financial Data 

The table below includes selected financial and other data for the Partnership for the years ended December 31, 

2010, 2009, 2008, 2007, and 2006 (in thousands, except per unit and volume data). 

2010 (1) 2009 2008 (1) 2007 (1) 2006

Income Statement Data: 

Revenues:

Supply and logistics (2) 1,894,612$ 1,243,044$ 1,870,063$ 1,110,347$ 888,422$    

Refinery services 151,060      141,365      225,374      62,095        -             

Pipeline transportation 55,652        50,951        46,247        27,211        29,947        

Total revenues 2,101,324$ 1,435,360$ 2,141,684$ 1,199,653$ 918,369$    

Net (loss) income (3) (50,541)$     6,178$        25,825$      (13,551)$     8,382$        

Net (loss) income attributable to

Genesis Energy, L.P. (3) (48,459)$     8,063$        26,089$      (13,550)$     8,381$        

Net income (loss) available to Common

Unitholders 19,929$      20,186$      23,006$      (13,608)$     8,214$        

Net income (loss) attributable to

Genesis Energy, L.P. per Common Unit:

Basic and Diluted 0.49$          0.51$          0.59$          (0.66)$         0.59$          

Cash distributions declared per Common Unit 1.4900$      1.3650$      1.2225$      0.9300$      0.7400$      

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):

Current assets 252,538$    189,244$    168,127$    214,240$    99,992$      

Total assets 1,506,735   1,148,127   1,178,674   908,523      191,087      

Long-term liabilities 630,757      387,766      394,940      101,351      8,991          

Partners' capital:

Genesis Energy, L.P. 669,264      595,877      632,658      631,804      85,662        

Noncontrolling interests -              23,056        24,804        570             522             

Total partners' capital 669,264      618,933      657,462      632,374      86,184        

O ther Data:

Maintenance capital expenditures 
(4)

2,856          4,426          4,454          3,840          967             

Volumes - continuing operations:

Onshore crude oil pipeline (barrels per day) 67,931        60,262        64,111        59,335        61,585        

CO2 pipeline (Mcf per day) (5) 167,619      154,271      160,220      -              -             

NaHS sales (DST) (6) 145,213      107,311      162,210      69,853        -             

NaOH sales (DST) 
(6) 

93,283        88,959        68,647        20,946        -             

Year Ended December 31,

 
(1)  Our operating results and financial position have been affected by acquisitions in 2010, 2008 and 2007, most notably the 50% equity 

interest acquisition in Cameron Highway in November 2010, the acquisition of the remaining 50% ownership interest in DG Marine 

in July 2010, the Grifco acquisition in July 2008 and the Davison acquisition, which was completed in July 2007. The results of these 
operations are included in our financial results prospectively from the acquisition date. For additional information regarding these 

acquisitions, see Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this annual report. 

(2)  Includes net presentation of buy/sell arrangements for all periods after the first quarter of 2006. 
(3)  Includes executive compensation expense related to Series B and Class B awards borne entirely by our general partner in the amounts 

of $76.9 million for 2010, $14.1 million for 2009 and $3.4 million for 2007.  See Note 15. 

(4)  Maintenance capital expenditures are capital expenditures to replace or enhance partially or fully depreciated assets to sustain the 
existing operating capacity or efficiency of our assets and extend their useful lives. 

(5)  Volume per day for the period we owned the Free State CO2 pipeline in 2008. 

(6)  Volumes relate to operations acquired in July 2007. 
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EXHIBIT 99.3 

Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis are the following sections: 

 Significant Events 

 Overview of 2010 

 Available Cash before Reserves 

 Results of Operations 

 Capital Resources and Liquidity 

 Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

 Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In the discussions that follow, we will focus on our revenues, expenses and net income, as well as two measures 

that we use to manage the business and to review the results of our operations.  Those two measures are segment 

margin and Available Cash before Reserves.   

We define segment margin as revenues less cost of sales, operating expenses (excluding depreciation and 

amortization), and segment general and administrative expenses, plus our equity in distributable cash generated by 

our joint ventures.  In addition, our segment margin definition excludes the non-cash effects of our equity-based 

compensation plans and the unrealized gains and losses on derivative transactions not designated as hedges for 

accounting purposes.  Segment margin includes the non-income portion of payments received under direct financing 

leases.  Our chief operating decision maker (our Chief Executive Officer) evaluates segment performance based on a 

variety of measures including segment margin, segment volumes where relevant, and maintenance capital 

investment.  A reconciliation of segment margin to income before income taxes is included in our segment 

disclosures in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   

Available Cash before Reserves (a non-GAAP measure) is net income as adjusted for specific items, the most 

significant of which are the addition of non-cash expenses (such as depreciation), the substitution of distributable 

cash generated by our joint ventures in lieu of our equity income attributable to our joint ventures, the elimination of 

gains and losses on asset sales (except those from the sale of surplus assets) and unrealized gains and losses on 

derivative transactions not designated as hedges for accounting purposes, the elimination of expenses related to 

acquiring assets that provide new sources of cash flows, the elimination of earnings of DG Marine in excess of 

distributable cash until July 29, 2010 when DG Marine’s credit facility was repaid,  and the subtraction of 

maintenance capital expenditures, which are expenditures that are necessary to sustain existing (but not to provide 

new sources of) cash flows.   For additional information on Available Cash before Reserves and a reconciliation of 

this measure to cash flows from operations, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Non-GAAP Financial Measure” 

below. 

Significant Events 

Permanent Elimination of IDRs 

In February 2010, new investors, together with members of our executive management team, acquired our 

general partner.  At that time, our general partner owned all our 2% general partner interest and all of our incentive 

distribution rights, or IDRs.  At that time, in respect of its general partner interest and IDRs, our general partner was 

entitled to over 50% of any increased distributions we would pay in respect of our outstanding equity.  

On December 28, 2010, we permanently eliminated our IDRs and converted our two percent general 

partner interest into a non-economic interest. In exchange for our IDRs and the 2% economic interest attributable to 

our general partner interest, we issued approximately 20 million common units and 7 million “Waiver” units to the 

stakeholders of our general partner, less approximately 145,000 common units and 50,000 Waiver Units that have 

been reserved for a new deferred equity compensation plan for employees.  

Our Waiver Units have the right to convert into Genesis common units in four equal installments in the 

calendar quarter during which each of our common units receives a quarterly distribution of at least $0.43, $0.46, 
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$0.49 and $0.52, if our distribution coverage ratio (after giving effect to the then convertible Waiver Units) would be 

at least 1.1 times.  

As a result of the IDR Restructuring, (i) we now have approximately 64.6 million common units 

outstanding (with the former stakeholders of the general partner owning approximately 45% of such units, including 

common units owned prior to the IDR Restructuring), (ii) our general partner has become (by way of merger) one of 

our wholly-owned subsidiaries, (iii) there has been no change in the composition of our board of directors and (iv) 

the former stakeholders of our general partner will continue to elect our board of directors in the future.  See 

additional discussion under “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Capital Expenditures and Distributions paid to our 

Common Unitholders and General Partner” below and in Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Cameron Highway Acquisition, Notes Issuance and Equity Issuance  

On November 23, 2010, we acquired a 50% interest in Cameron Highway for approximately $330 million.  

Cameron Highway, a joint venture with Enterprise Products Partners, L.P., owns and operates the largest (measured 

by both length and capacity) crude oil pipeline system in the Gulf of Mexico.  We financed the purchase price for 

the acquisition primarily with the net proceeds of approximately $119 million from an underwritten public offering 

of 5.2 million of our common units (including the overallotment option that the underwriters exercised in full and 

including our general partner’s proportionate capital contribution to maintain its 2% general partner interest) at 

$23.58 per common unit and net proceeds of approximately $243 million from a private placement of $250 million 

in aggregate principal amount of 7.875% senior unsecured notes due 2018.  We used $23.8 million in excess net 

proceeds to temporarily reduce the balance outstanding under our revolving credit agreement.  See additional 

discussion under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below and in Notes 3, 10 and 11 to our Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

Acquisition of Remaining 51% Interest in DG Marine Acquisition 

On July 29, 2010, we acquired the 51% interest in DG Marine held by a related party for $25.5 million, 

resulting in DG Marine becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary.   Additionally, we paid off DG Marine’s stand-alone 

credit facility with proceeds from our credit agreement. 

Credit Facility Restructuring 

On June 29, 2010, we restructured our credit agreement.  Our credit agreement now provides for a $525 

million senior secured revolving credit facility, includes an accordion feature whereby the total credit available can 

be increased up to $650 million under certain circumstances, and matures on June 30, 2015.  Among other 

modifications, our credit agreement now includes a $75 million sublimit tranche designed for more efficient 

financing of crude oil and petroleum products inventory.  See additional discussion under “Liquidity and Capital 

Resources – Debt and Equity Financing Activities” below and in Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Distribution Increase 

On January 12, 2011, we declared our twenty-second consecutive increase in our quarterly distribution to 

our common unitholders relative to the fourth quarter of 2010.  This distribution of $0.40 per unit (paid in February 

2011) represents an 11% increase from our distribution of $0.36 per unit for the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Overview of 2010 

In 2010, we reported a net loss attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. of $48.5 million, which included $76.9 

million of non-cash compensation charges borne entirely by our general partner.  As a result, net income attributable 

to our common units for 2010 was $19.9 million, or $0.49 per common unit.  See additional discussion of the charge 

related to executive compensation in “Results of Operations – Other Costs and Interest” below. 

Segment margin increased by $15.1 million, or 11.2%, in 2010 as compared to 2009.  The majority of this 

increase was attributable to our pipeline transportation and refinery services segments.  Onshore crude oil pipeline 

transportation volumes increased by 13% and CO2 pipeline transportation volumes increased by almost 9%.  Our 

NaHS sales volumes in our refinery services segment increased by 35%.  Partially offsetting the increased 

contribution from these segments was a 5% decline in segment margin from our supply and logistics operations as 

market conditions reduced the profitability of storing crude oil and products for future delivery and differentials 

between grades of petroleum products narrowed as discussed in more detail below. 

Increases in cash flow generally result in increases in Available Cash before Reserves, from which we pay 

distributions quarterly to holders of our common units and, until December 28, 2010, our general partner.  During 

2010, we generated $101.5 million of Available Cash before Reserves, and we distributed $70.4 million to holders 
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of our common units and general partner.  Cash provided by operating activities in 2010 was $90.5 million.  Our 

total distributions attributable to 2010 increased 17% over the total distributions attributable to 2009. 

 

Available Cash before Reserves 

Available Cash before Reserves for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008

Net (loss) income attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. (48,459)$      8,063$          26,089$        

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 53,557          67,586          71,370          

Cash received from direct financing leases

not included in income 4,203            3,758            2,349            

Cash effects of sales of certain assets 1,158            873               760               

Effects of available cash generated by equity method

investees not included in income 2,285            (495)             1,830            

Cash effects of equity-based compensation plans (1,350)          (121)             (385)             

Non-cash tax expense (benefit) 1,337            1,914            (2,782)          

Earnings of DG Marine in excess of distributable cash (848)             (4,475)          (2,821)          

Non-cash equity-based compensation expense 82,979          18,512          -               

Expenses related to acquiring or constructing assets

that provide new sources of cash flow 11,260          -               -               

Other  items, net (1,767)          (203)             (2,172)          

Maintenance capital expenditures (2,856)          (4,426)          (4,454)          

Available Cash before Reserves 101,499$      90,986$        89,784$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

We have reconciled Available Cash before Reserves (a non-GAAP measure) to cash flows from operating 

activities (the most comparable GAAP measure) for the each of the periods in the table above in “Capital Resources 

and Liquidity – Non-GAAP Reconciliation” below.  For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, net 

cash provided by operating activities was $90.5 million, $90.1 million and $94.8 million, respectively. 

Results of Operations 

Revenues, Costs and Expenses and Net Income 

Our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010 increased $666 million, or 46% from 2009.  Excluding 

non-cash charges for executive compensation borne by our general partner, our costs and expenses increased $652 

million, or 47%, between the two periods. The majority of our revenues and our costs are derived from the purchase 

and sale of crude oil and petroleum products.  The significant increase in our revenues and costs between 2009 and 

2010 is primarily attributable to the fluctuations in the market prices for crude oil and petroleum products.  In 2010, 

prices for West Texas Intermediate crude oil on the New York Mercantile Exchange averaged $79.53, as compared 

to $61.80 in 2009 - a 29% increase.  Also contributing to the increase in our revenues and costs was an increase in 

volumes in all of our segments; although the impact of the increase in our supply and logistics segment was the most 

significant to revenues and costs.  Supply and logistics sales volumes increased by almost 30% between 2010 and 

2009. 

Net income attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. declined $56.5 million to a net loss in 2010 of $48.5 million 

from net income of $8.1 million in 2009.   An increase in non-cash charges included in general and administrative 

expenses related to executive compensation and equity-based compensation borne by our general partner totaling 

$62.8 million provided the decline in net income.  Also reducing net income for 2010 was $7.0 million of one-time 

costs related to the acquisition of our interest in Cameron Highway and to the IDR Restructuring.  A $15.1 million 

increase in our segment margin somewhat offset these increased costs.  See additional discussion of the one-time 

charges in “Other Costs and Interest” below.   
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Revenues and costs and expenses in 2009 decreased as compared to 2008 primarily as a result of a 38% decline 

in market prices for crude oil.  Revenues decreased $706 million, or 33%, while costs decreased $690 million, or 

33%, between the two periods.  Net income attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. declined from income of $26.1 

million in 2008 to $8.1 million in 2009.  An increase in non-cash charges included in general and administrative 

expenses related to executive compensation and equity-based compensation totaling $16.6 million provided most of 

the decline in net income.   

Included below is additional detailed discussion of the results of our operations focusing on segment margin and 

other costs including general and administrative expense, depreciation, amortization and impairment, interest and 

income taxes. 

Segment Margin 

The contribution of each of our segments to total segment margin in each of the last three years was as follows: 

2010 2009 2008

Pipeline transportation 48,305$        42,162$        33,149$        

Refinery services 62,923          51,844          55,784          

Supply and logistics 38,336          40,484          45,952          

Total segment margin 149,564$      134,490$      134,885$      

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2009 

Pipeline Transportation Segment 

Operating results and volumetric data for our pipeline transportation segment were as follows. 

2010 2009

Crude oil tariffs and revenues from direct financing

leases - onshore crude oil pipelines 20,351$        17,202$        

CO2 tariffs and revenues from direct financing leases

of CO2 pipelines 26,413          26,279          

Sales of crude oil pipeline loss allowance volumes 5,519            4,462            

Available cash generated by Cameron Highway 2,384            -                

Pipeline operating costs, excluding non-cash charges

for equity-based compensation (11,522)         (10,477)         

Payments received under direct financing leases not

included in income 4,202            3,758            

Other 958               938               

Segment margin 48,305$        42,162$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

 

We operate three onshore common carrier crude oil pipeline systems and a CO2 pipeline in a four state 

area.  We refer to these pipelines as our Mississippi System, Jay System, Texas System and Free State Pipeline.  

Additionally, we own a 50% interest in Cameron Highway.  Volumes shipped on these systems for the last two 

years are as follows (barrels or Mcf per day): 
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Pipeline System 2010 2009

Mississippi-Bbls/day 23,537          24,092          

Jay - Bbls/day 15,646          10,523          

Texas - Bbls/day 28,748          25,647          

Cameron Highway - Bbls/day 149,270        (1) -                

Free State - Mcf/day 167,619        154,271        
 

(1) Daily average for the period from November 23, 2010 to December 31, 2020 when we owned an interest in Cameron Highway.  

 

Crude Oil Volumes 

Volumes on our Mississippi pipeline fluctuate primarily as a result of the operations of Denbury and other 

producers.  The tariff on the Mississippi System is an incentive tariff, such that the average tariff per barrel 

decreases as the volumes increase; therefore the effect of the decline in the volumes of 555 barrels per day between 

2009 and 2010 on that system was mitigated by the relatively low incremental tariff rate. Additional development of 

surrounding fields using CO2 based operations could offset a portion of any future declines from existing fields.   

The Jay Pipeline system in Florida and Alabama ships crude oil from mature producing fields in the area as 

well as production from new wells drilled in the area.  A producer connected to our Jay System shut in production at 

the end of 2008 due to the decline in crude oil prices in the latter half of 2008.  As crude oil market prices increased 

in late 2009 and 2010, the producer restored production capabilities to his fields resulting in a volumetric increase on 

the Jay system of approximately 49% as compared to 2009.  New production in the area also contributed to the 

volumetric increase with a greater impact on tariff revenue for us due to the greater distance that the crude oil is 

transported on the pipeline.   

Substantially all of the volume being shipped on our Texas System goes to two refineries on the Texas Gulf 

Coast.  Our Texas System is dependent on connecting carriers for supply, and on the two refineries for demand for 

our services. Volumes on the Texas System may continue to fluctuate as refiners on the Texas Gulf Coast compete 

for crude oil with other markets. 

During the five weeks we owned an interest in Cameron Highway, the average daily revenue volume of 

that joint venture was 149,270 barrels per day.  

CO2 Volumes 

Under the terms of a transportation services agreement extending through 2028, we deliver CO2 on the Free 

State pipeline for use in tertiary recovery operations in east Mississippi.  We are responsible for owning, operating, 

maintaining and making improvements to the pipeline.  Denbury currently has rights to exclusive use of the pipeline 

and is required to use the pipeline to supply CO2 to its current and certain of its other tertiary operations in east 

Mississippi.  Variations in Denbury’s CO2 tertiary recovery activities create the fluctuations in the volumes 

transported on the Free State pipeline.  The transportation services agreement provides for a $0.1 million per month 

minimum payment plus a tariff based on throughput. Denbury has two renewal options, each for five years on 

similar terms.   

We operate a CO2 pipeline in Mississippi to transport CO2 to Brookhaven oil field.  Denbury has the 

exclusive right to use this CO2 pipeline.  This arrangement has been accounted for as a direct financing lease. 

We also have a twenty-year financing lease (through 2028) with Denbury initially valued at $175 million 

related to Denbury’s North East Jackson Dome (NEJD) Pipeline System.  Denbury makes fixed quarterly base rent 

payments to us of $5.2 million per quarter or approximately $20.7 million per year.    

Segment Margin 

Pipeline segment margin increased $6.1 million in 2010 as compared to 2009.  This increase is primarily 

attributable to the following factors: 

 Our share of the available cash before reserves generated by Cameron Highway beginning in the latter 

part of November 2010 added $2.4 million to Segment Margin, 

 An increase in volumes transported on our crude oil pipelines between the two periods increased 

segment margin by $2.1 million,     
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 Tariff rate changes in July 2009 and July 2010 resulted in an increase of approximately $0.4 million 

between the two periods. 

 An increase in revenues from sales of pipeline loss allowance volumes increased Segment Margin by 

$1.1 million.  This revenue increase is due primarily to increased crude oil market prices, although the 

increase in volumes transported in our onshore pipelines also contributed to the additional revenue.   

 Pipeline operating costs increased approximately $1.0 million due to an increase in pipeline integrity 

tests and other maintenance costs.  In the first quarter of 2010 pipeline integrity tests on a segment of 

our Texas System cost approximately $0.6 million. 

As is common in the industry, our crude oil tariffs incorporate a loss allowance factor that is intended to, 

among other things, offset losses due to evaporation, measurement and other losses in transit.  We value the variance 

of allowance volumes to actual losses at the average market value at the time the variance occurred and the result is 

recorded as either an increase or decrease to tariff revenues.  The increase in market prices for crude oil increased 

the value of our pipeline loss allowance volumes and, accordingly, our loss allowance revenues.  Average crude oil 

market prices increased approximately $18 per barrel between the two periods.  Pipeline loss allowance volumes 

decreased by approximately 8,300 barrels between the annual periods.  Based on historic volumes, a change in crude 

oil market prices of $10 per barrel has the effect of decreasing or increasing our pipeline loss allowance revenues by 

approximately $0.1 million per month.   

Refinery Services Segment 

  Operating results from our refinery services segment were as follows (in thousands, except average index 

price): 

2010 2009

Volumes sold:

NaHS volumes (Dry short tons "DST") 145,213           107,311           

NaOH volumes (DST) 93,283             88,959             

Total 238,496           196,270           

NaHS revenues 119,688$         97,962$           

NaOH revenues 29,578             38,773             

Other revenues 9,190               10,505             

Total external segment revenues 158,456$         147,240$         

Segment margin 62,923$           51,844$           

Average index price for NaOH per DST 
(1)

353$                424$                

Raw material and processing costs as % of

segment revenues 37% 44%

Delivery costs as a % of segment revenues 15% 12%

Year Ended December 31, 

 

(1)  Source:  Harriman Chemsult Ltd. 

Refinery services Segment Margin for the year ended 2010 was $62.9 million, an increase of $11.1 million, 

or 21% from the year ended 2009.  The significant components of this change were as follows: 

 An increase in NaHS volumes of 35%.  As the world economies, particularly outside of the United 

States and European Union, are recovering from the depths of the greatest recession in the last 70 

years, the demand for base metals such as copper and molybdenum has increased over the prior 

period.  As a result, we have experienced a noticeable increase in the demand for NaHS from our 

mining customers in North and South America.  Additionally, with the return of industrialization and 

urbanization in the world’s more underdeveloped economies, the demand for paper products and 

packaging materials has increased.  This trend has led to an increase in demand for NaHS from our 

pulp/paper customers primarily in North America.  The pricing in the majority of our sales contracts 
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for NaHS includes an adjustment for fluctuations in commodity benchmarks, freight, labor, energy 

costs and government indexes.  The frequency at which these adjustments can be applied varies by 

geographic region and supply point. 

 An increase in NaOH (or caustic soda) sales volumes of 5%.  Caustic soda is a key component in the 

provision of our sulfur-removal service, from which we receive the by-product NaHS.  We are a very 

large consumer of caustic soda.  In addition, our economies of scale and logistics capabilities allow us 

to effectively market caustic soda to third parties.  Fluctuations in volumes sold are affected by the 

demand we have in our operations that consume caustic soda.  

 Index prices for caustic soda averaged approximately $424 per DST in 2009.  Market index prices of 

caustic soda decreased to an average of approximately $353 per DST during 2010.  Those price 

movements affect the revenues and costs related to our sulfur removal services as well as our caustic 

soda sales activities.  However, changes in caustic soda prices do not materially affect Segment Margin 

attributable to our sulfur processing services because we generally pass those costs through to our 

NaHS sales customers.  

 Somewhat mitigating the increase in segment margin was an increase in delivery logistics costs. 

Although our logistics costs per unit increased only modestly, our logistics costs expressed as a 

percentage of revenues increased by 3% (to 15%) primarily because our sales price per unit, along with 

our cost per unit declined.  Quantities delivered to customers also increased.  Freight demand and fuel 

prices increased modestly in the 2010 period as economic conditions improved, increasing demand for 

transportation services  and the increase in crude oil prices increased the cost of fuel used in 

transporting these products. 

Supply and Logistics Segment 

Our supply and logistics segment is focused on utilizing our knowledge of the crude oil and petroleum 

markets and our logistics capabilities from our terminals, trucks and barges to provide suppliers and customers with 

a full suite of services.  These services include: 

 purchasing and/or transporting crude oil from the wellhead to markets for ultimate use in refining; 

 supplying petroleum products (primarily fuel oil, asphalt, diesel and gasoline) to wholesale markets 

and some end-users such as paper mills and utilities;  

 purchasing products from refiners, transporting the products to one of our terminals and blending the 

products to a quality that meets the requirements of our customers; 

 utilizing our fleet of trucks and trailers and barges to take advantage of logistical opportunities 

primarily in the Gulf Coast states and inland waterways; and 

 industrial gas activities, including wholesale marketing of CO2 and processing of syngas through a 

joint venture. 

We also use our terminal facilities to take advantage of contango market conditions for crude oil gathering 

and marketing , and to capitalize on regional opportunities which arise from time to time for both crude oil and 

petroleum products. 

Many U.S. refineries have distinct configurations and product slates that require crude oil with specific 

characteristics, such as gravity, sulfur content and metals content.  The refineries evaluate the costs to obtain, 

transport and process their preferred feedstocks.  Despite crude oil being considered a somewhat homogenous 

commodity, many refiners are very particular about the quality of crude oil feedstock they process.  That 

particularity provides us with opportunities to help the refineries in our areas of operation identify crude oil sources 

meeting their requirements, and to purchase the crude oil and transport it to the refineries for sale.  The imbalances 

and inefficiencies relative to meeting the refiners’ requirements can provide opportunities for us to utilize our 

purchasing and logistical skills to meet their demands and take advantage of regional differences.  The pricing in the 

majority of our purchase contracts contain a market price component, unfixed bonuses that are based on several 

other market factors and a deduction to cover the cost of transporting the crude oil and to provide us with a margin. 

Contracts sometimes contain a grade differential which considers the chemical composition of the crude oil and its 

appeal to different customers.  Typically the pricing in a contract to sell crude oil will consist of the market price 

components and the grade differentials.  The margin on individual transactions is then dependent on our ability to 

manage our transportation costs and to capitalize on grade differentials. 
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When crude oil markets are in contango (oil prices for future deliveries are higher than for current 

deliveries), we may purchase and store crude oil as inventory for delivery in future months.  When we purchase this 

inventory, we simultaneously enter into a contract to sell the inventory in the future period for a higher price, either 

with a counterparty or in the crude oil futures market. The storage capacity we own for use in this strategy is 

approximately 420,000 barrels, although maintenance activities on our pipelines can impact the availability of a 

portion of this storage capacity.  We generally account for this inventory and the related derivative hedge as a fair 

value hedge under the accounting guidance.  See Notes 17 and 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements.  

In our petroleum products marketing operations, we supply primarily fuel oil, asphalt, diesel and gasoline 

to wholesale markets and some end-users such as paper mills and utilities.  We also provide a service to refineries by 

purchasing “heavier” petroleum products that are the residual fuels from gasoline production, transporting them to 

one of our terminals and blending them to a quality that meets the requirements of our customers.   The 

opportunities to provide this service cannot be predicted, but their contribution to margin as a percentage of their 

revenues tend to be higher than the same percentage attributable to our recurring operations.  We utilize our fleet of 

250 trucks and 280 trailers and DG Marine’s twenty “hot-oil” barges in combination with our 1.5 million barrels of 

existing leased and owned storage to service our refining customers and to store and blend the intermediate and 

finished refined products. 

Operating results from continuing operations for our supply and logistics segment were as follows. 

2010 2009

Supply and logistics revenue 1,894,612$   1,243,044$   

Crude oil and products costs, excluding unrealized

gains and losses from derivative transactions (1,761,161)    (1,115,809)    

Operating and segment general and administrative costs,

excluding non-cash charges for stock-based

compensation and other non-cash expenses (97,371)         (87,802)         

Other 2,256            1,051            

Segment margin 38,336$        40,484$        

Volumes of crude oil and petroleum products (mbbls) 22,823          17,563          

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

As discussed above in “Revenues, Costs and Expenses and Net Income,” the average market prices of 

crude oil increased by approximately $18 per barrel, or approximately 29% between the two periods.  Similarly, 

market prices for petroleum products increased significantly between 2009 and 2010.  Fluctuations in these prices, 

however, have a limited impact on our segment margin.  

 

The key factors affecting the change in segment margin between 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

 

 The contango price market narrowed beginning late in the fourth quarter of 2009 and extended through 

most of 2010 decreasing the effects on contribution to Segment Margin of our crude oil activities. 

 Fluctuations in differentials related to heavy end petroleum products decreased segment margin from 

our petroleum products marketing activities. 

Beginning late in 2008 and throughout most of 2009, the crude oil market was in wide contango.  When 

crude oil markets are in contango, oil prices for future deliveries are higher than for current deliveries, providing an 

opportunity for us to purchase crude oil at current market prices, re-sell it through futures contracts at future prices, 

and store it as inventory until delivery.  In 2009, we took advantage of contango conditions, holding an average of 

174,000 barrels of crude oil in storage throughout the year.  In 2010, contango market conditions had narrowed and 

we reduced the volumes of crude oil stored to take advantage of the contango conditions to an average of 101,000 

barrels of crude oil throughout the year.  This change in contango market conditions was the primary factor in the 

$1.1 million decrease in the contribution to segment margin of our crude oil gathering and marketing activities. 
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Our petroleum products activities involve handling volumes from the heavy end of the refined barrel.  Our 

access to logistical assets (owned and leased trucks, leased railcars and barges) as well as our access to terminals 

(owned and leased), provided us with greater opportunities in 2010 to acquire increased volumes of petroleum 

products for sale or for blending. However, fluctuations in the differentials between crude oil and fuel oils combined 

with variances in the values of other products we sell or utilize in our blending activities reduced the margins 

between the costs at which we obtained the heavy end products from refiners and the sales prices for those products.  

The contribution to Segment Margin in 2010 decreased by $2.2 million, as compared to 2009, as a result of these 

activities. 

An increase of $0.5 million in the contribution to segment margin by our barge operations in 2010 as 

compared to 2009 partially offset these decreases.  In 2010, we were successful in increasing the average day rates 

for utilization of our barges and overall utilization rate of our fleet improved as market conditions for refiners 

increased the volumes of heavy end products to be transported throughout the U.S. inland waterways and along the 

Gulf Coast. 

Our share of available cash before reserves generated by our equity investment in T&P Syngas increased 

from $0.9 million in 2009 to $2.3 million in 2010, partially offsetting the decrease in segment margin from changes 

in contango market conditions.  In the third quarter of 2009, T&P Syngas performed a scheduled turnaround at its 

facility that decreased its revenues and increased maintenance expenses.  Additionally T&P incurred expenses 

related to improving its treatment of waster water. 

Other Costs and Interest 

General and administrative expenses were as follows. 

2010 2009

General and administrative expenses not separately 

identified below 20,469$        20,277$        

Expenses related to change in owner of our

general partner 1,762            -                

Transaction costs related to IDR restructuring and

growth projects including acquisition of interest 

in Cameron Highway 7,290            -                

Bonus plan expense 5,007            3,900            

Equity-based compensation plan expense 1,955            2,132            

Non-cash compensation expense related to 

management team 76,923          14,104          

Total general and administrative expenses 113,406$      40,413$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

Although our general and administrative expenses increased substantially, 86% of the increase was due to 

non-cash compensation expense related to our management team and borne by the former owners of our general 

partner, as described in more detail below.  Routine general and administrative expense increased by $0.2 million to 

$20.7 million in 2010 as compared to 2009, primarily as a result of additions to personnel consistent with our growth 

during 2010.   

Transaction costs related to the restructuring of our IDRs and growth projects including the acquisition of 

our 50% interest in Cameron Highway totaled $7.3 million in 2010, or 10% of the remaining increase in general and 

administrative expenses.  These transaction costs consisted primarily of fees paid to legal and financial advisors for 

their assistance in the evaluation and completion of these transactions. 

The amounts paid under our bonus plan are a function of both the Available Cash before Reserves that we 

generate in a year and the improvement in our safety record, and are approved by our compensation committee of 

our board of directors.  As a result of our performance in 2010, the pool available for bonuses was determined to be 

$1.1 million more than 2009.  The bonus plan for employees is described in Item 11, “Executive Compensation” 

below.     
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Due to fluctuations in the market price for our common units, expense for outstanding and exercised SARs 

and phantom units issued under our 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan has varied significantly between the periods.  In 

2009 and the first quarter of 2010, we also had phantom units issued and outstanding under our 2007 Long-Term 

Incentive Plan.  The fair value of phantom units issued under this long-term incentive plan are calculated at the grant 

date and charged to expense over the vesting period of the phantom units.  Unlike the accounting for the SAR plan 

and 2010 LTIP, the total expense to be recorded was determined at the time of the award and did not change.  The 

change in control of our general partner in February 2010 resulted in the vesting of the outstanding phantom units 

under our 2007 LTIP and the recognition of the remaining grant date fair value as an expense in 2010.   

We finalized a compensation structure in December 2008 for members of our management team.  The 

terms of these compensation arrangements provided that our management team would vest in the package and 

receive certain payments upon a change in control of our general partner.  During 2009, we recorded compensation 

expense of $14.1 million related to these arrangements, and we recorded a reduction in compensation expense of 

$2.1 million in 2010 upon vesting of the package when the change in control occurred in February 2010 in which a 

group of investors acquired all of the equity interest in our general partner.   

In February 2010, certain members of our management received new equity interests in our general partner 

(Series B units) that would increase in value as the net cash distributions to the owners of our general partner 

increased, with a conversion to Series A units in our general partner at the end of seven years or under certain other 

conditions.  As a result of the IDR Restructuring, the Series B units were exchanged for units issued by us, which is 

characterized as compensation expense.  The management team members received Class A Common Units and 

Waiver Units in the restructuring, with a total fair value of approximately $79.1 million attributable to the Series B 

units, which was recorded as expense in 2010.   

Although the compensation under both of these arrangements ultimately came from our general partner, we 

recorded the fair value of the compensation expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations in general and 

administrative expenses due to the rules for accounting for transactions where the beneficiary of a transaction is not 

the same as the parties to the transaction.  See additional discussion of the compensation arrangements with our 

senior management team in Item 11, “Executive Compensation.” 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment expense was as follows: 

2010 2009

Depreciation on fixed assets 22,498$        25,208$        

Amortization of intangible assets 26,805          33,099          

Amortization of CO2 volumetric production payments 4,254            4,274            

Impairment expense -                5,005            

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment expense 53,557$        67,586$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

 Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $9 million between 2010 and 2009 primarily as a result 

of the lower amortization expense recognized on intangible assets.  We amortize our intangible assets over the 

period which we expect them to contribute to our future cash flows.  The amortization we record on those assets is 

greater in the initial years following their acquisition because the value of our intangible assets such as customer 

relationships and trade names are generally more valuable in the first years after an acquisition.  Accordingly, the 

amount of amortization we have recorded has declined since we acquired those assets in 2007.  See Note 9 of the 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the amount of amortization we expect to record 

in each of the next five years.   

Amortization of our CO2 volumetric payments is based on the units-of-production method.  We acquired 

three volumetric production payments totaling 280 Mcf of CO2 from Denbury between 2003 and 2005.  

Amortization is based on volumes sold in relation to the volumes acquired.  Amortization of CO2 volumetric 

payments fluctuate as a result of increases or decreases in the volume of CO2 sold.. 

In 2009, we recorded a $5.0 million impairment charge related to our investment in the Faustina Project.  

The Faustina Project is a petroleum coke to ammonia project in which we first made an investment in 2006.  As a 

result of a review of the financing alternatives available for the project to use as construction financing and a 

determination not to continue making investments in the project beginning in 2010, we determined that the 
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likelihood of a recovery of our investment was remote and the fair value of the investment was zero.  For additional 

information related to this charge, see Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Interest expense, net was as follows: 

2010 2009

Genesis Facilities and Notes:

Interest expense, credit facility, including

commitment fees 10,624$        8,148$          

Interest expense, senior unsecured notes 2,406            -                

Bridge financing fees 3,219            -                

Amortization and write-off of facility and notes

issuance fees 1,953            662               

DG Marine Facility:

Interest expense and commitment fees 2,512            4,446            

Interest rate swaps settlement 1,553            -                

Write-off of facility fees 794               586               

Capitalized interest (84)                (112)              

Interest income (53)                (70)                

Net interest expense 22,924$        13,660$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

Our average outstanding credit facility balance (excluding interest on DG Marine’s stand-alone facility), 

was $31.4 million higher in 2010 than 2009.  The increase in the credit facility balance is attributable primarily to 

the acquisition of the 51% ownership interest in DG Marine we did not own and the elimination of the DG Marine 

credit facility with borrowings under our credit facility. 

We also incurred interest expense of $2.4 million in connection with the issuance of $250 million of senior 

unsecured notes in November 2010 to partially finance our acquisition of a 50% equity interest in Cameron 

Highway.  At the time we agreed to acquire the interest in Cameron Highway, we had not yet issued the senior 

unsecured notes, nor had we issued the equity that was used to finance the acquisition.  In order to ensure that we 

would have funds available at the time of the closing of the Cameron Highway transaction, we entered into a bridge 

arrangement that would have provided financing for the acquisition for a period of time until we could secure longer 

term financing.  These fees totaled $3.2 million.       

Consolidated net interest expense was also affected by interest on the DG Marine credit facility during the 

seven months it was outstanding and costs to settle the DG Marine interest rate swaps and the write-off of facility 

fees related to the DG Marine credit facility due to its repayment. 

Income taxes.  A portion of our operations are owned by wholly-owned corporate subsidiaries that are 

taxable as corporations.  As a result, a substantial portion of the income tax expense we record relates to the 

operations of those corporations, and will vary from period to period as a percentage of our income before taxes 

based on the percentage of our income or loss that is derived from those corporations.  The balance of the income 

tax expense we record relates to state taxes imposed on our operations that are treated as income taxes under 

generally accepted accounting principles.  In 2010 and 2009, we recorded income tax expense of $2.6 million and 

$3.1 million, respectively.     
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Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2008 

Pipeline Transportation Segment 

Operating results and volumetric data for our pipeline transportation segment were as follows. 

2009 2008

Crude oil tariffs and revenues from direct financing

leases - onshore crude oil pipelines 17,202$        16,280$        

CO2 tariffs and revenues from direct financing leases

of CO2 pipelines 26,279          15,733          

Sales of crude oil pipeline loss allowance volumes 4,462            8,542            

Pipeline operating costs, excluding non-cash charges

for equity-based compensation (10,477)         (10,529)         

Payments received under direct financing leases not

included in income 3,758            2,349            

Other 938               774               

Segment margin 42,162$        33,149$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

Volumes shipped on our pipeline systems in 2009 and 2008 are as follows (barrels or Mcf per day): 

Pipeline System 2009 2008

Mississippi-Bbls/day 24,092          25,288          

Jay - Bbls/day 10,523          13,428          

Texas - Bbls/day 25,647          25,395          

Free State - Mcf/day 154,271        160,220        (1)

 

(1) Daily average for the period we owned the pipeline in 2008. 

Pipeline segment margin increased $9.0 million in 2009 as compared to 2008.  This increase is primarily 

attributable to the following factors: 

 An increase in revenues from CO2 financing leases and tariffs of $10.5 million and a related increase in 

payments from the same financing leases of $1.4 million not included as income (non-income 

payments under direct financing leases).     

 Tariff rate increases of approximately 7.6% on our Jay and Mississippi pipelines that went into effect 

July 1, 2009.  The rate increases increased segment margin between the two periods by approximately 

$1.9 million. 

 Partially offsetting the increase in segment margin was a decrease in revenues from sales of pipeline 

loss allowance volumes of $4.1 million,  

 A decline in volumes transported on our crude oil pipelines between the two periods decreased 

segment margin by $1.0 million.     

Revenues for 2008 only included results from the NEJD and Free State CO2 pipelines for a seven-month 

period while 2009 included results for a twelve-month period.  The average volume transported on the Free State 

pipeline for 2009 was 154 MMcf per day, with the transportation fees and the minimum payments totaling $7.3 

million and $1.2 million, respectively.  Transportation fees and the minimum payments for the seven months in 

2008 were $4.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively, with an average transportation volume of 160 MMcf per day. 

The decline in market prices for crude oil reduced the value of our pipeline loss allowance volumes and, 

accordingly, our loss allowance revenues.  Average crude oil market prices decreased approximately $38 per barrel 

between the two periods.  In addition, pipeline loss allowance volumes decreased by approximately 10,000 barrels 

between the annual periods.   
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Refinery Services Segment 

  Operating results from our refinery services segment were as follows (in thousands, except average index 

price): 

 

2009 2008

Volumes sold:

NaHS volumes (Dry short tons "DST") 107,311           162,210           

NaOH volumes (DST) 88,959             68,647             

Total 196,270           230,857           

NaHS revenues 97,962$           167,715$         

NaOH revenues 38,773             53,673             

Other revenues 10,505             12,483             

Total external segment revenues 147,240$         233,871$         

Segment margin 51,844$           55,784$           

Average index price for NaOH per DST 
(1)

424$                702$                

Raw material and processing costs as % of

segment revenues 44% 41%

Delivery costs as a % of segment revenues 12% 8%

Year Ended December 31, 

 

(1) Source:  Harriman Chemsult Ltd. 

Segment margin for our refinery services segment decreased $3.9 million between 2009 and 2008.  The 

significant components of this change were as follows: 

 NaHS volumes declined 34%.  Macroeconomic conditions negatively impacted the demand for NaHS, 

primarily in mining and industrial activities.  A significant decline in the market prices and demand for 

copper and molybdenum in the last quarter of 2008 continued through most of 2009.  Copper and 

molybdenum prices improved and demand for NaHS increased in the fourth quarter of 2009; however 

the increases in NaHS sales in that quarter did not offset the declines in the first three quarters of 2009. 

 NaOH (or caustic soda) sales volumes increased 30%.  With the decline in NaHS production during 

2009, we focused on expanding our activities as a NaOH supplier.  

 Average index prices for caustic soda were somewhat volatile in 2008, ranging from an average index 

price of approximately $450 per dry short ton (DST) during the first quarter of 2008 to a high of $950 

per DST in the fourth quarter of 2008.   During 2009 market prices of caustic soda decreased to 

approximately $230 per DST by the end of the year.  This volatility affected both the cost of caustic 

soda used to provide our services as well as the price at which we sold NaHS and caustic soda.   

 Raw material and processing costs related to providing our refinery services and supplying caustic 

soda as a percentage of our segment margin increased 3% between periods.  As the market price of 

caustic soda fluctuated in 2008 and 2009, we had to aggressively manage our acquisition costs to 

minimize purchasing caustic soda for use in our operations in a period of falling market prices.  We 

were generally successful in this management, as reflected by the relatively small percentage increase 

in costs despite the significant decline in caustic prices.  We also took steps to reduce processing costs 

and to manage our logistics costs related to our caustic soda purchases. 

Supply and Logistics Segment 

Operating results from continuing operations for our supply and logistics segment were as follows: 
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2009 2008

Supply and logistics revenue 1,243,044$   1,870,063$   

Crude oil and products costs, excluding unrealized

gains and losses from derivative transactions (1,115,809)    (1,736,637)    

Operating and segment general and administrative costs,

excluding non-cash charges for stock-based

compensation and other non-cash expenses (87,802)         (89,813)         

Other 1,051            2,339            

Segment margin 40,484$        45,952$        

Volumes of crude oil and petroleum products (mbbls) 17,563          17,410          

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 

As discussed above in “Revenues, Costs and Expenses and Net Income,” the average market prices of 

crude oil declined by approximately $38 per barrel, or approximately 38% between the two periods.  Similarly, 

market prices for petroleum products declined significantly between 2008 and 2009.  Fluctuations in these prices, 

however, have a limited impact on our segment margin.  

 

The key factors affecting the change in segment margin between 2009 and 2008 were as follows: 

 Segment margin generated by DG Marine’s inland marine barge operations, which increased segment 

margin by $5.6 million; 

 Crude oil contango market conditions, which increased segment margin by $2.2 million; and  

 Reduction in opportunities to purchase and blend crude oil and products, which reduced segment 

margin by $11.1 million. 

The inland marine transportation operations of Grifco Transportation, acquired by DG Marine in mid-July of 

2008, contributed $5.6 million more to segment margin in 2009 as compared to 2008, primarily as a result of 

owning these operations for twelve months in 2009 as compared to approximately six months in 2008.  These 

operations provided us with an additional capability to provide transportation services of petroleum products by 

barge.  As part of the acquisition, DG Marine acquired six tows (a tow consists of a push boat and two barges.)  A 

total of four additional tows added in the fourth quarter of 2008 and first half of 2009 generated the segment margin 

increase despite declines in average charter rates for the tows over the same period. 

During 2009, crude oil markets were in contango, providing an opportunity for us to purchase and store 

crude oil as inventory for delivery in future months.  The crude oil markets were not in contango during most of 

2008.  During 2009, we held an average of approximately 174,000 barrels of crude oil per month in our storage 

tanks and hedged this volume with futures contracts on the NYMEX.  The effect on segment margin of storing this 

inventory was a $2.2 million gain in 2009. 

Offsetting these improvements in segment margin was a decrease in the margins from our crude oil 

gathering and petroleum products marketing operations.  In 2009, we experienced some reductions in volumes as a 

result of crude oil producers’ choices to reduce operating expenses or postpone development expenditures that could 

have maintained or enhanced their existing production levels.  As a consequence of the reductions in volumes, our 

segment margin from crude oil gathering declined between the annual periods by $2.7 million.  Volatile price 

changes in the petroleum products markets and robust refinery utilization in 2008 created blending and sales 

opportunities with expanded margins in comparison to historical rates.  Relatively flat petroleum prices and reduced 

refinery utilization in 2009 narrowed the economics of our blending opportunities and reduced sales margins to 

more historical rates.  The net result of these factors was a reduction of our segment margin of $8.5 million from 

petroleum products and related activities. 

Transportation costs for the CO2 remained consistent as a percentage of revenues at approximately 36% to 

37%.  The transportation rate we pay Denbury is adjusted annually for inflation in a manner similar to the sales 

prices for the CO2.  We also recorded a charge for approximately $0.3 million in 2009 and $0.9 million in 2008 

related to a commission on one of the industrial gas sales contracts.   
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Due to a scheduled turnaround at T&P Syngas in 2009, available cash generated by our equity investees 

decreased in 2009 as compared to 2008. 

Other Costs and Interest 

General and administrative expenses were as follows: 

2009 2008

General and administrative expenses not separately 

identified below 20,277$        25,131$        

Bonus plan expense 3,900            4,763            

Equity-based compensation plan expense (credit) 2,132            (394)              

Non-cash compensation expense related to 

management team 14,104          -                

Total general and administrative expenses 40,413$        29,500$        

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 

The primary reason for the $10.9 million increase in general and administrative expenses between 2008 and 

2009 was $14.1 million of non-cash compensation we recorded related to the arrangements between our executive 

management team and our general partner.  Partially offsetting that increase was a decline in routine general and 

administrative expenses of approximately $4.9 million, resulting primarily from a reduction in professional fees and 

services. Between 2009 and 2008, our bonus pool decreased by $0.9 million as a function of our operating results. 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment expense was as follows: 

2009 2008

Depreciation on fixed assets 25,208$        20,415$        

Amortization of intangible assets 33,099          46,418          

Amortization of CO2 volumetric production payments 4,274            4,537            

Impairment expense 5,005            -                

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment expense 67,586$        71,370$        

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $8.5 million between 2009 and 2008 primarily as a result 

of the lower amortization expense recognized on intangible assets.  As discussed above, we amortize our intangible 

assets over the period which we expect them to contribute to our future cash flows, and that amortization has 

declined since we acquired the assets.  We recorded an impairment charge in 2009 that partially offset the decline in 

intangible amortization.   
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Interest expense, net was as follows: 

2009 2008

Genesis Facilities and Notes:

Interest expense, credit facility, including

commitment fees 8,148$          10,738$        

Amortization and write-off of facility and notes

issuance fees 662               664               

DG Marine Facility:

Interest expense and commitment fees 4,446            2,269            

Write-off of facility fees 586               -                

Capitalized interest (112)              (276)              

Interest income (70)                (458)              

Net interest expense 13,660$        12,937$        

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

 

Net interest expense (excluding interest on DG Marine’s credit facility) increased from 2008 to 2009 as the 

average outstanding debt balance increased $114 million primarily due to the CO2 pipeline dropdown transactions in 

May 2008 and the DG Marine acquisition in July 2008.  The increase in outstanding debt during 2009 partially 

offset the effect of the lower interest rates, with the result of an overall decrease in 2009 for interest and commitment 

fees of $2.6 million. 

DG Marine incurred interest expense in 2009 of $4.4 million under its credit facility.   Interest expense for 

DG Marine in 2008 included only five months of activity subsequent to the acquisition of the Grifco assets in July 

2008, resulting in an increase in net interest expense between 2009 and 2008.    

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

General 

As of December 31, 2010, we believe our balance sheet and liquidity position remained strong.  We had 

$160.4 million of borrowing capacity available under our $525 million senior secured bank revolving credit facility.  

We anticipate that our future internally-generated funds and the funds available under our credit facility will allow 

us to meet our short-term capital needs. 

Our primary cash requirements consist of: 

 Routine operating expenses; 

 Capital expansion and maintenance projects; 

 Acquisitions of assets or businesses; 

 Interest payments on our debt obligations; and 

 Quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. 

We continue to pursue a growth strategy that requires significant capital.  As discussed above in the 

Overview, we acquired a 50% interest in Cameron Highway for $330 million in November 2010.  We funded this 

acquisition with a combination of equity and debt.  Additionally, in 2010, we acquired the portion of DG Marine we 

did not already own utilizing funds from our revolving credit facility. 

During 2010, we amended and expanded our credit facility to provide additional financial flexibility, issued 

senior unsecured notes for the first time in a private placement, permanently eliminated our IDRs, and issued new 

equity for cash in a public offering.  See additional discussion below in “Debt and Equity Financing Activities”.  

While our credit facility provides additional flexibility and committed borrowing capacity, our ability to 

satisfy future capital needs will depend on our ability to raise substantial amounts of additional capital, including 

through equity and debt offerings (public and private) from time to time and other financing transactions, to utilize 

our credit facility and to implement our growth strategy successfully. No assurance can be made that we will be able 
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to raise the necessary funds on satisfactory terms.  If we are unable to raise the necessary funds, we may be required 

to defer our growth plans until such time as funds become available. 

  

Debt and Equity Financing Activities 

On June 29, 2010, we restructured our credit facility – which we entered into in November 2006 and which 

was to mature in November 2011 – to reflect and better accommodate our larger and more diversified operations and 

resulting credit metrics.  Our restructured credit facility is a $525 million senior secured revolving credit facility 

maturing on June 30, 2015.  It includes an accordion feature whereby the total credit available can be increased up to 

$650 million for acquisitions or internal growth projects, with lender approval.  Among other modifications, our 

credit facility also includes a $75 million inventory sublimit tranche.  This inventory tranche is designed to allow us 

to more efficiently finance crude oil and petroleum products inventory in the normal course of our operations, by 

allowing us to exclude the amount of inventory loans from our total outstanding indebtedness for purposes of 

determining our applicable interest rate.  Additionally, our restructured credit facility does not include a “borrowing 

base” limitation except with respect to our inventory loans.  Twelve lenders participate in our credit facility, and we 

do not anticipate any of them being unable to satisfy their obligations under the credit facility.  Additional 

information on our restructured credit facility is included in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 In November 2010, we raised approximately $362 million with a combination of an equity and debt 

issuance.  We issued 5,175,000 common units at $23.58, providing total net proceeds, after deducting underwriting 

discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses and including our general partner’s proportionate 

capital contribution to maintain its 2% general partner interest, of approximately $119 million.  We also issued $250 

million of senior unsecured notes in a private placement.  The notes bear interest at 7.875% and will mature on 

December 15, 2018.  We have agreed to register these notes with the SEC within one year of the date of issuance.  

We have the option to redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at any time after December 15, 2014, at varying 

redemption prices.  These funds were primarily utilized for the acquisition of our interest in Cameron Highway, and 

the excess funds were utilized to temporarily reduce the balance under our revolving credit facility.  See Note 10 to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about the notes we issued. 

 

In December 2010, we permanently eliminated our IDRs and converted our two percent general partner 

interest into a non-economic interest.  In exchange for the IDRs and the 2% economic interest attributable to our 

general partner interest, we issued approximately 20 million common units and 7 million “Waiver” units to the 

stakeholders of our general partner, less approximately 145,000 common units and 50,000 Waiver Units that have 

been reserved for a new deferred equity compensation plan for employees. The Waiver Units have the right to 

convert into Genesis common units in four equal installments in the calendar quarter during which each of our 

common units receives a quarterly distribution of at least $0.43, $0.46, $0.49 and $0.52, if our distribution coverage 

ratio (after giving effect to the then convertible Waiver Units) would be at least 1.1 times.  Prior to the elimination of 

our IDRs, our general partner was entitled to over 50% of any increased distributions we would pay in respect of our 

outstanding equity.  We believe the elimination of our IDRs will lower our cost of capital and enhance our ability to 

grow the partnership. 

On July 29, 2010, in connection with our acquisition of the 51% interest of DG Marine that we did not own, we 

paid off DG Marine’s stand-alone credit facility, which had an outstanding principal balance of $44.4 million, with 

proceeds from our credit agreement.  See Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Cash Flows from Operations 

We generally utilize the cash flows we generate from our operations to fund our working capital needs.  

Excess funds that are generated are used to repay borrowings from our credit facilities and to fund capital 

expenditures.  Our operating cash flows can be impacted by changes in items of working capital, primarily variances 

in the timing of payment of accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to capital expenditures.  

We typically sell our crude oil in the same month in which we purchase it and we do not rely on 

borrowings under our credit facility to pay for the crude oil.  During such periods, our accounts receivable and 

accounts payable generally move in tandem as we make payments and receive payments for the purchase and sale of 

oil.  However, when the crude oil markets are in contango, we may store crude for future delivery utilizing futures 

contracts to hedge our risk to fluctuations in prices. 

In our petroleum products activities, we buy products and typically either move the products to one of our 

storage facilities for further blending or we sell the product within days of our purchase.  The cash requirements for 

these activities can result in short term increases and decreases in our borrowings under our credit facility. 
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The storage of crude oil and petroleum products can have a material impact on our cash flows from 

operating activities.  In the month we pay for the stored oil or products, we borrow under our credit facility (or pay 

from cash on hand) to pay for the oil or products, which negatively impacts our operating cash flows. Conversely, 

cash flow from operating activities increases during the period in which we collect the cash from the sale of the 

stored oil or products.  Additionally, we may be required to deposit margin funds with the NYMEX when prices 

increase as the value of the derivatives utilized the hedge the price risk in our inventory fluctuates.  These deposits 

also impact our operating cash flows as we borrow under our credit facility or use cash on hand to fund the deposits. 

Net cash flows provided from our operating activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 

were approximately $90.5 million.  As discussed above, changes in our inventory levels due to storage impact the 

cash provided from operating activities.  Additionally, changes in the market prices for crude oil and petroleum 

products can result in fluctuations in our operating cash flows between periods as the cost to acquire a barrel of oil 

or products will require more cash. At December 31, 2010, the cost of the inventory on our balance sheet increased 

by $15.2 million over the cost at December 31, 2009.  Prepayments by customers for crude oil at December 31, 

2010 increased, however, partially offsetting the increased use of cash for inventory. 

Capital Expenditures and Distributions Paid to our Unitholders and General Partner 

We use cash primarily for our acquisition activities, internal growth projects and distributions paid to our 

unitholders and general partner.  We finance internal growth projects and distributions primarily with cash generated 

by our operations.  Acquisition activities have historically been funded with borrowings under our credit facility and 

equity issuances and, beginning in 2010, the issuance of senior unsecured notes. 

Capital Expenditures, and Business and Asset Acquisitions 

The most significant investing activities in 2010 were expenditures related to the acquisition of a 50% 

equity interest in Cameron Highway and our project to upgrade our information technology systems discussed 

below.  Additionally we utilized funds to acquire the 51% interest in DG Marine that we did not already own for 

approximately $26.3 million, including transaction costs. 
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A summary of our expenditures for fixed assets, businesses and other asset acquisitions in the three years 

ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008

Capital expenditures for fixed and intangible assets:

    Maintenance capital expenditures:

    Pipeline transportation assets 522$             1,281$          719$             

    Supply and logistics assets 901               1,667            729               

    Refinery services assets 1,433            1,246            1,881            

    Administrative and other assets -                232               1,125            

    Total maintenance capital expenditures 2,856            4,426            4,454            

    Growth capital expenditures:

    Pipeline transportation assets 573               1,762            7,589            

    Supply and logistics assets 839               19,099          22,659          

    Refinery services assets -                1,326            3,609            

Information technology systems upgrade project 10,613          -                -                

        Total growth capital expenditures 12,025          22,187          33,857          

            Total 14,881          26,613          38,311          

Capital expenditures for business combinations and asset purchases:

    DG Marine acquisition -                -                94,072          

    Free State Pipeline acquisition, including transaction costs -                -                76,193          

NEJD Pipeline transaction, including transaction costs -                -                177,699        

    Acquisition of intangible assets -                2,500            -                

            Total -                2,500            347,964        

Capital expenditures related to equity investees and 

other investments 332,462        83                 2,397            

            Total 332,462        83                 2,397            

Total capital expenditures 347,343$      29,196$        388,672$      

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

In 2010, we acquired our 50% interest in Cameron Highway for $330 million, plus an additional $2.5 

million purchase price adjustment related to the working capital of Cameron Highway and its operating activities for 

November.  We also substantially completed a project to upgrade and integrate our existing information technology 

systems in order to be positioned for further growth.   

In 2010, we acquired TD Marine’s effective 51% interest in DG Marine for $25.5 million in cash plus $0.8 

million in direct transaction costs associated with the acquisition, resulting in DG Marine becoming wholly-owned 

by us.  We funded the acquisition with proceeds from our credit agreement, including (i) paying off DG Marine’s 

stand-alone credit facility, which had an outstanding principal balance of $44.4 million, and (ii) settling DG 

Marine’s interest rate swaps, which resulted in $1.3 million being reclassified from Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Loss (“AOCL”) to interest expense in the third quarter of 2010.   

During 2011, we expect to expend approximately $3.0 million to $4.0 million for maintenance capital 

projects in progress or planned.  Those expenditures are expected to include improvements in all of our businesses.  

In future years we expect to spend $4 million to $5 million per year on maintenance capital projects.  We also expect 

to expend approximately $2 million for the completion of the remaining phases of our information systems project. 

Expenditures for capital assets to grow the partnership distribution will depend on our access to debt and 

equity capital.  We will look for opportunities to acquire assets from other parties that meet our criteria for stable 

cash flows. 
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Distributions to Unitholders and our General Partner 

Our partnership agreement requires us to distribute 100% of our available cash (as defined therein) within 45 

days after the end of each quarter to unitholders of record.  Available cash consists generally of all of our cash 

receipts less cash disbursements adjusted for net changes to reserves.  We have increased our distribution for each of 

the last twenty-two quarters, including the distribution paid for the fourth quarter of 2010, as shown in the table 

below (in thousands, except per unit amounts).  Each quarter, our board of directors determines the distribution 

amount per unit based upon various factors such as our operating performance, available cash, future cash 

requirements and the economic environment.  As a result, the historical trend of distribution increases may not be a 

good indicator of future increases. 

General

Limited General Partner

Partner Partner Incentive

Per Unit Interests Interest Distribution Total

Distribution For Date Paid Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount

Fourth quarter 2008 February 2009 0.3300$     13,021$          266$         823$          14,110$     

First quarter 2009 May 2009 0.3375$     13,317$          271$         1,125$       14,713$     

Second quarter 2009 August 2009 0.3450$     13,621$          278$         1,427$       15,326$     

Third quarter 2009 November 2009 0.3525$     13,918$          284$         1,729$       15,931$     

Fourth quarter 2009 February 2010 0.3600$     14,251$          291$         2,037$       16,579$     

First quarter 2010 May 2010 0.3675$     14,548$          297$         2,339$       17,184$     

Second quarter 2010 August 2010 0.3750$     14,845$          303$         2,642$       17,790$     

Third quarter 2010 November 2010 0.3875$     15,339$          313$         3,147$       18,799$     

Fourth quarter 2010 February 2011 
(1)

0.4000$     25,846$          -$         -$           25,846$     
 

(1)  This distribution was paid on February 14, 2011 to unitholders of record as of February 2, 2011.   

On December 28, 2010, we permanently eliminated our IDRs and converted our general partner interest into 

a non-economic interest.  In connection with this transaction, we issued approximately 20 million common units.  

These common units and the new units sold to the public in November 2010 participated in the distribution for the 

fourth quarter of 2010 included in the table above. 

 We also issued approximately 7 million Waiver Units in connection with the elimination of our IDRs. The 

Waiver Units, which are entitled to a minimal preferential distribution, have the right to convert into Genesis 

common units, on a one-for-one basis, in four equal installments in the calendar quarter during which each of our 

common units receives a quarterly distribution of at least $0.43, $0.46, $0.49 and $0.52, if our distribution coverage 

ratio (after giving effect to the then convertible Waiver Units) would be at least 1.1 times. 

Non-GAAP Reconciliation 

This annual report includes the financial measure of Available Cash before Reserves, which is a “non-

GAAP” measure because it is not contemplated by or referenced in accounting principles generally accepted in the 

U.S., also referred to as GAAP.  The accompanying schedule provides a reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial 

measure to its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.  Our non-GAAP financial measure should not be 

considered as an alternative to GAAP measures such as net income, operating income, cash flow from operating 

activities or any other GAAP measure of liquidity or financial performance.  We believe that investors benefit from 

having access to the same financial measures being utilized by management, lenders, analysts, and other market 

participants.   

Available Cash before Reserves, also referred to as distributable cash flow, is commonly used as a 

supplemental financial measure by management and by external users of financial statements, such as investors, 

commercial banks, research analysts and rating agencies, to assess: (1) the financial performance of our assets 

without regard to financing methods, capital structures, or historical cost basis; (2) the ability of our assets to 

generate cash sufficient to pay interest cost and support our indebtedness; (3) our operating performance and return 

on capital as compared to those of other companies in the midstream energy industry, without regard to financing 

and capital structure; and (4) the viability of projects and the overall rates of return on alternative investment 

opportunities.  Because Available Cash before Reserves excludes some, but not all, items that affect net income or 
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loss and because these measures may vary among other companies, the Available Cash before Reserves data 

presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other 

companies.  The GAAP measure most directly comparable to Available Cash before Reserves is net cash provided 

by operating activities. 

Available Cash before Reserves is a liquidity measure used by our management to compare cash flows 

generated by us to the cash distribution paid to our limited partners and general partner.  This is an important 

financial measure to our public unitholders since it is an indicator of our ability to provide a cash return on their 

investment.  Specifically, this financial measure aids investors in determining whether or not we are generating cash 

flows at a level that can support a quarterly cash distribution to the partners.  Lastly, Available Cash before Reserves 

(also referred to as distributable cash flow) is the quantitative standard used throughout the investment community 

with respect to publicly-traded partnerships.  

The reconciliation of Available Cash before Reserves (a non-GAAP liquidity measure) to cash flow from 

operating activities (the GAAP measure) is as follows (in thousands): 

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities 90,463$        90,079$        94,808$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating cash flows

to Available Cash:

Maintenance capital expenditures (2,856)           (4,426)           (4,454)           

Proceeds from sales of certain assets 1,146            873               760               

Amortization of credit facility issuance fees (3,082)           (2,503)           (1,437)           

Effects of available cash generated by equity

method investees not included in cash flows

 from operating activities 1,017            101               1,067            

Earnings of DG Marine in excess of distributable

cash (848)              (4,475)           (2,821)           

Other items affecting available cash (1,088)           1,768            (2,561)           

Expenses related to acquiring or constructing

assets that provide new sources of cash flow 11,260          -                -                

Net effect of changes in operating accounts not

included in calculation of Available Cash 5,487            9,569            1,262            

Available Cash before Reserves 101,499$      90,986$        86,624$        

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

 

Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

Contractual Obligation and Commercial Commitments 

In addition to our credit facility discussed above, we have contractual obligations under operating leases as 

well as commitments to purchase crude oil and petroleum products.  The table below summarizes our obligations 

and commitments at December 31, 2010. 
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Commercial Cash Obligations and 

Commitments

Less than 

one year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 Years

More than  

5 years Total

Contractual Obligations:

Long-term debt and notes payable 
(1)

-$          -$          360,000$  250,000$  610,000$    

Estimated interest payable on 

    long-term debt and notes payable 
(2)

37,688      75,478      66,301      56,797      236,264      

Operating lease obligations 11,055      11,570      5,501        21,410      49,536        

Unconditional purchase obligations 
(3)

229,162    8,970        -            -            238,132      

Other Cash Commitments:

Asset retirement obligations  
(4)

-            -            -            13,777      13,777        

Liabilities associated with unrecognized

tax benefits and associated interest  
(5)

6,241        -            -            -            6,241          

Total 284,146$  96,018$    431,802$  341,984$  1,153,950$ 

Payments Due by Period

 
 

(1) Our credit facility allows us to repay and re-borrow funds at any time through the maturity date of June 30, 2015.  Our senior 
unsecured notes are due November 18, 2018. 

(2) Interest on our long-term debt under our credit facility is at market-based rates. The interest rate on our senior unsecured notes is 
7.875%.  The amount shown for interest payments represents the amount that would be paid if the debt outstanding at December 31, 

2010 under our credit facility remained outstanding through the final maturity dates of June 30, 2015 and interest rates remained at the 
December 31, 2010 market levels through the final maturity dates. Also included is the interest on our senior unsecured notes through 

the maturity date. 
(3) Unconditional purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding and 

specify all significant terms.  Contracts to purchase crude oil and petroleum products are generally at market-based prices.  For 
purposes of this table, estimated volumes and market prices at December 31, 2010, were used to value those obligations.  The actual 

physical volumes and settlement prices may vary from the assumptions used in the table.  Uncertainties involved in these estimates 

include levels of production at the wellhead, changes in market prices and other conditions beyond our control. 
(4) Represents the estimated future asset retirement obligations on an undiscounted basis.  The present discounted asset retirement 

obligation is $5.2 million and is further discussed in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(5) The estimated  liabilities associated with unrecognized tax benefits and related interest will be settled as a result of expiring statutes or 

audit activity. The timing of any particular settlement will depend on the length of the tax audit and related appeals process, if any, or 

an expiration of statute. If a liability is settled due to a statute expiring or a favorable audit result, the settlement of the tax liability 
would not result in a cash payment. 

 

We have guaranteed 50% of the $2.2 million debt obligation to a bank of Sandhill; however, we believe we 

are not likely to be required to perform under this guarantee as Sandhill is expected to make all required payments 

under the debt obligation. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, special purpose entities, or financing partnerships, other than 

as disclosed under Contractual Obligation and Commercial Commitments above. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at the date of the consolidated 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base these 

estimates and assumptions on historical experience and other information that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.  Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with 

certainty, and, accordingly, these estimates may change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as 

additional information is obtained and as the business environment in which we operate changes.  Significant 

accounting policies that we employ are presented in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (See Note 2 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.) 
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We have defined critical accounting policies and estimates as those that are most important to the portrayal 

of our financial results and positions.  These policies require management’s judgment and often employ the use of 

information that is inherently uncertain.  Our most critical accounting policies pertain to measurement of the fair 

value of assets and liabilities in business acquisitions, depreciation, amortization and impairment of long-lived 

assets, asset retirement obligations, equity plan compensation accruals and contingent and environmental liabilities.  

We discuss these policies below. 

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities Acquired and Identification of Associated Goodwill and Intangible 

Assets.   

In conjunction with each acquisition we make, we must allocate the cost of the acquired entity to the assets 

and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. As additional information 

becomes available, we may adjust the original estimates within a short time period subsequent to the acquisition. In 

addition, we are required to recognize intangible assets separately from goodwill. Determining the fair value of 

assets and liabilities acquired, as well as intangible assets that relate to such items as customer relationships, 

contracts, trade names, and non-compete agreements involves professional judgment and is ultimately based on 

acquisition models and management’s assessment of the value of the assets acquired, and to the extent available, 

third party assessments. Uncertainties associated with these estimates include fluctuations in economic obsolescence 

factors in the area and potential future sources of cash flow.  We cannot provide assurance that actual amounts will 

not vary significantly from estimated amounts.   In connection with the Grifco acquisition in 2008, we performed 

allocations of the purchase price.  See Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Depreciation and Amortization of Long-Lived Assets and Intangibles 

In order to calculate depreciation and amortization we must estimate the useful lives of our fixed assets at 

the time the assets are placed in service.  We compute depreciation using the straight-line method based on these 

estimated useful lives. The actual period over which we will use the asset may differ from the assumptions we have 

made about the estimated useful life.  We adjust the remaining useful life as we become aware of such 

circumstances. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are required to be amortized over their respective estimated useful 

lives.  If an intangible asset has a finite useful life, but the precise length of that life is not known, that intangible 

asset shall be amortized over the best estimate of its useful life.  At a minimum, we will assess the useful lives and 

residual values of all intangible assets on an annual basis to determine if adjustments are required.   We are 

recording amortization of our customer and supplier relationships, licensing agreements and trade names based on 

the period over which the asset is expected to contribute to our future cash flows.  Generally, the contribution of 

these assets to our cash flows is expected to decline over time, such that greater value is attributable to the periods 

shortly after the acquisition was made.  Our favorable lease and other intangible assets are being amortized on a 

straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets including Intangibles and Goodwill 

When events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a fixed asset or intangible 

asset may not be recoverable, we review our assets for impairment. We compare the carrying value of the fixed asset 

to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from that asset.   Estimates of future net 

cash flows include estimating future volumes, future margins or tariff rates, future operating costs and other 

estimates and assumptions consistent with our business plans.  If we determine that an asset’s unamortized cost may 

not be recoverable due to impairment; we may be required to reduce the carrying value and the subsequent useful 

life of the asset. Any such write-down of the value and unfavorable change in the useful life of an intangible asset 

would increase costs and expenses at that time.  

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prices we paid for certain businesses over their respective 

fair values. We do not amortize goodwill; however, we test our goodwill (at the reporting unit level) for impairment 

on October 1 of each fiscal year, and more frequently, if circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the fair 

value of goodwill is below its carrying amount. Our goodwill impairment test involves the determination of a 

reporting unit’s fair value, which is predicated on our assumptions regarding the future economic prospects of the 

reporting unit. Such assumptions include (i) discrete financial forecasts for the assets contained within the reporting 

unit, which rely on management’s estimates of operating margins, (ii) long-term growth rates for cash flows beyond 

the discrete forecast period, (iii) appropriate discount rates,  and (iv) estimates of the cash flow multiples to apply in 

estimating the market value of our reporting units. If the fair value of the reporting unit (including its inherent 
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goodwill) is less than its carrying value, a charge to earnings may be required to reduce the carrying value of 

goodwill to its implied fair value. 

 

We monitor the markets for our products and services, in addition to the overall market, to determine if a 

triggering event occurs that would indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value.  One 

of our monitoring procedures is the comparison of our market capitalization to our book equity on a quarterly basis 

to determine if there is an indicator of impairment.  As of December 31, 2010, our market capitalization exceeded 

the book value of our equity; therefore, since there were no events or changes in circumstances indicating 

impairment issues, we determined that it was not necessary to perform an interim goodwill impairment test as of 

December 31, 2010.  We did not have any goodwill impairments in 2010, 2009 or 2008. 

For additional information regarding our goodwill, see Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements.   

Asset Retirement Obligations 

With regards to some of our assets, primarily related to our pipeline operations segment, we have 

obligations regarding removal and restoration activities when the asset is abandoned.  Additionally, we generally 

have obligations to remove crude oil injection stations located on leased sites and to decommission barges when we 

take them out of service.  We estimate the future costs of these obligations, discount those costs to their present 

values, and record a corresponding asset and liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The values ultimately 

derived are based on many significant estimates, including the ultimate expected cost of the obligation, the expected 

future date of the required cash payment, and interest and inflation rates. Revisions to these estimates may be 

required based on changes to cost estimates, the timing of settlement, and changes in legal requirements. Any such 

changes that result in upward or downward revisions in the estimated obligation will result in an adjustment to the 

related capitalized asset and corresponding liability on a prospective basis and an adjustment in our depreciation 

expense in future periods. See Note 5 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion 

regarding our asset retirement obligations. 

Equity Compensation Plan Accruals 

We accrue for the fair value of our liability for the stock appreciation rights (“SAR”) awards we have 

issued to our employees and directors. Under our SAR plan, grantees receive cash for the difference between the 

market value of our common units and the strike price of the award at the time of exercise.  We estimate the fair 

value of SAR awards at each balance sheet date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes 

valuation model requires the input of somewhat subjective assumptions, including expected stock price volatility 

and expected term. Other assumptions required for estimating fair value with the Black-Scholes model are the 

expected risk-free interest rate and our expected distribution yield. The risk-free interest rates used are the U.S. 

Treasury yield for bonds matching the expected term of the option on the date of grant.  

We recognize the equity-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 

period for the awards. The expense we recognize is net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate our forfeiture rate at 

each balance sheet date based on prior experience. As of December 31, 2010, there was $0.8 million of total 

compensation cost to be recognized in future periods related to non-vested SARs. The cost is expected to be 

recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately one year.  We also record compensation cost for 

changes in the estimated liability for vested SARs.  The liability recorded for vested SARs fluctuates with the 

market price of our common units.   

Our 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grantees, which may include key employees and 

directors, to receive cash at the vesting of the phantom units equal to the average of the closing market price of our 

common units for the twenty trading days prior to the vesting date.  Until the vesting date, we calculate estimates of 

the fair value of the awards and record that value as compensation expense during the vesting period.  These 

estimates are based on the current trading price of our common units and an estimate of the forfeiture rate we expect 

may occur.  At December 31, 2010, 62,927 phantom units had been granted and $0.4 million of expense had been 

recorded.  The liability recorded for phantom units expected to vest fluctuates with the market price of our common 

units.  At the date of vesting, any difference between the estimates recorded and the actual cash paid to the grantee 

will be charged to expense. 

For phantom unit awards granted under our 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the total compensation 

expense recognized over the service period was determined by the grant date fair value of our common units that 
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become earned.  Uncertainties involved in the estimate of the compensation cost we record for our phantom units 

relate to the assumptions regarding the continued employment of personnel who have been awarded phantom units.  

As a result of the change in control of our general partner in February 2010 when Denbury sold its interest in our 

general partner to The Robertson Group, the outstanding phantom units at December 31, 2009 vested.  We recorded 

$0.5 million of compensation expense in the first quarter of 2010 related to this accelerated vesting.  No awards are 

outstanding at December 31, 2010 under the 2007 LTIP. 

In connection with the settlement of the Series B awards to members of management, we made estimates of 

the fair value of the awards on the settlement date and recorded compensation expense for the awards totaling $79.1 

million in 2010.  This estimate included a value for the Class A Units received by the holders of the Series B units in 

our general partner based on the number of units received and the market price of our common units on the date of 

the transaction.  Compensation expense also included an estimate of the fair value of the Waiver Units issued to the 

holders of the Series B units based estimates by management of the likelihood and timing of conversion of the 

Waiver Units into Class A Units and an estimate of the value of those Class A Units.  No expense is required to be 

recorded related to the awards in any future period.  

See Note 15 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our 

equity compensation plans. 

 Liability and Contingency Accruals 

We accrue reserves for contingent liabilities including environmental remediation and potential legal 

claims.  When our assessment indicates that it is probable that a liability has occurred and the amount of the liability 

can be reasonably estimated, we make accruals.  We base our estimates on all known facts at the time and our 

assessment of the ultimate outcome, including consultation with external experts and counsel.  We revise these 

estimates as additional information is obtained or resolution is achieved. 

We also make estimates related to future payments for environmental costs to remediate existing conditions 

attributable to past operations.  Environmental costs include costs for studies and testing as well as remediation and 

restoration.  We sometimes make these estimates with the assistance of third parties involved in monitoring the 

remediation effort. 

At December 31, 2010, we are not aware of any contingencies or liabilities that will have a material effect 

on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

We perform credit evaluations of our customers and grant credit based on past payment history, financial 

conditions and anticipated industry conditions.  Customer payments are regularly monitored and a provision for 

doubtful accounts is established based on specific situations and overall industry conditions.  Our history of bad debt 

losses has been minimal and generally limited to specific customer circumstances; however, credit risks can change 

suddenly and without notice.  See Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on our 

allowance for doubtful accounts.   

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. 

Future Implementation 

 

In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance related to the calculation of the carrying 

amount of a reporting unit when performing the first step of a goodwill impairment test.  More specifically, this 

update will require an entity to use an equity premise when performing the first step of a goodwill impairment test, 

and if a reporting unit has a zero or negative carrying amount, the entity must assess and consider qualitative factors 

to determine whether it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists.  The new accounting guidance is 

effective for public entities, for impairment tests performed during entities’ fiscal years (and interim periods within 

those years) that begin after December 15, 2010.  Early application is not permitted.  We will adopt the new 

guidance in the first quarter of 2011; however, as we currently do not have any reporting units with a zero or 

negative carrying amount, we do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have an impact on our financial 

position, results of operations or cash flows. 
  

In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures 

should be presented as if a business combination that is determined to be material on an individual or aggregate 

basis occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the current reporting period 
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and the prior reporting period pro forma financial information.  These disclosures should be accompanied by a 

narrative description about the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments.  The new 

accounting guidance is effective for business combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 15, 

2010 and should be applied prospectively as of the date of adoption.  Early adoption is permitted.  We will adopt the 

new disclosures in the first quarter of 2011.  We do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a 

material impact to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
  
Implemented in 2010 

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance to enhance disclosures related to the existing fair value 

hierarchy disclosure requirements. A fair value measurement is designated as level 1, 2 or 3 within the hierarchy 

based on the nature of the inputs used in the valuation process. Level 1 measurements generally reflect quoted 

market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, level 2 measurements generally reflect the use of 

significant observable inputs and level 3 measurements typically utilize significant unobservable inputs. This new 

guidance requires additional disclosures regarding transfers into and out of level 1 and level 2 measurements and 

requires a gross presentation of activities within the level 3 roll forward. This guidance was effective for the first 

interim or annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the gross presentation of the level 

3 roll forward, which is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim 

reporting periods within those years. We adopted the guidance relating to level 1 and level 2 transfers as of 

January 1, 2010, and we adopted the guidance relating to level 3 measurements on January 1, 2011.  Our adoption 

did not have any material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which entities evaluate whether 

consolidation is required for VIEs.  The model for determining which enterprise has a controlling financial interest 

and is the primary beneficiary of a VIE has changed significantly under the new guidance.  Previously, variable 

interest holders had to determine whether they had a controlling interest in a VIE based on a quantitative analysis of 

the expected gains and/or losses of the entity.  In contrast, the new guidance requires an enterprise with a variable 

interest in a VIE to qualitatively assess whether it has a controlling interest in the entity, and if so, whether it is the 

primary beneficiary.  Furthermore, this guidance requires that companies continually evaluate VIEs for 

consolidation, rather than assessing based upon the occurrence of triggering events.  This revised guidance also 

requires enhanced disclosures about how a company’s involvement with a VIE affects its financial statements and 

exposure to risks.  This guidance was effective for us beginning January 1, 2010, and had no impact on our 

conclusions regarding consolidation of our VIEs. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors of Genesis Energy, LLC and Unitholders of 

Genesis Energy, L.P. 

Houston, Texas 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Genesis Energy, L.P. and subsidiaries (the 

"Partnership") as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 

comprehensive (loss) income, partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 

December 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership's management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits. 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Genesis Energy, L.P. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their operations and their 

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), the Partnership's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria 

established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission and our report dated March 16, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Partnership's 

internal control over financial reporting. 

As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements have been retrospectively adjusted for a change in operating segments.  As discussed in Note 22 to the 

consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively 

adjusted for the addition of a footnote containing condensed consolidating financial information relating to 

subsidiary guarantees of registered debt. 

/s/   DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Houston, Texas 

March 16, 2011 

(September 26, 2011 as to Notes 12 and 22) 
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December 31, December 31,

2010 2009

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,762$                  4,148$                 

Accounts receivable - trade, net 171,550                129,865               

Inventories 55,428                  40,204                 

Other 19,798                  15,027                 

Total current assets 252,538                189,244               

FIXED ASSETS, at cost 373,339                373,927               

Less:  Accumulated depreciation (108,283)              (89,040)                

Net fixed assets 265,056                284,887               

NET INVESTMENT IN DIRECT FINANCING LEASES, net of

unearned income 168,438                173,027               

EQUITY INVESTEES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS 343,434                15,128                 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net of amortization 120,175                136,330               

GOODWILL 325,046                325,046               

OTHER ASSETS, net of amortization 32,048                  24,465                 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,506,735$           1,148,127$          

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable - trade 165,978$              117,625$             

Accrued liabilities 40,736                  23,803                 

Total current liabilities 206,714                141,428               

SENIOR SECURED CREDIT FACILITIES 360,000                366,900               

SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES 250,000                -                       

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 15,193                  15,167                 

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 5,564                    5,699                   

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 19)

PARTNERS' CAPITAL:

Class A common unitholders, 64,575 and 39,488 units issued  

and outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 669,261                585,554               

Class B common unitholders, 40 units issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2010 3                           -                       

General partner -                       11,152                 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss -                       (829)                     

Total Genesis Energy, L.P. partners' capital 669,264                595,877               

Noncontrolling interests -                       23,056                 

Total partners' capital 669,264                618,933               

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL 1,506,735$           1,148,127$          

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2010 2009 2008

REVENUES:

Supply and logistics 1,894,612$   1,243,044$   1,870,063$   

Refinery services 151,060        141,365        225,374        

Pipeline transportation services 55,652          50,951          46,247          

Total revenues 2,101,324     1,435,360     2,141,684     

COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Supply and logistics costs:

Product costs 1,761,161     1,115,809     1,736,637     

Operating costs 97,701          88,087          84,937          

Refinery services operating costs 88,094          88,910          166,096        

Pipeline transportation operating costs 14,777          13,024          15,224          

General and administrative 113,406        40,413          29,500          

Depreciation and amortization 53,557          62,581          71,370          

Net loss on disposal of surplus assets 12                 160               29                 

Impairment expense -                5,005            -                

Total costs and expenses 2,128,708     1,413,989     2,103,793     

OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME (27,384)         21,371          37,891          

Equity in earnings of joint ventures 2,355            1,547            509               

Interest expense (22,924)         (13,660)         (12,937)         

(Loss) income before income taxes (47,953)         9,258            25,463          

Income tax (expense) benefit (2,588)           (3,080)           362               

NET (LOSS) INCOME (50,541)         6,178            25,825          

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 2,082            1,885            264               

NET (LOSS) INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. (48,459)$       8,063$          26,089$        

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. PER COMMON UNIT:

Basic and Diluted 0.49$             $            0.51 0.59$            

WEIGHTED AVERAGE OUTSTANDING COMMON UNITS:

Basic and Diluted 40,560          39,471          38,961          

Year Ended December 31,

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per unit amounts)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2010 2009 2008

Net (loss) income (50,541)$       6,178$          25,825$        

Change in fair value of derivatives:

    Current period reclassification to earnings 2,112            784               33                 

    Changes in derivative financial instruments - interest rate swaps (424)              (508)              (1,997)           

Comprehensive (loss) income (48,853)         6,454            23,861          

    Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,223            1,742            1,266            

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. (47,630)$       8,196$          25,127$        

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Number of Accumulated

Class A Class A Class B Other Non-

Common Common Common General Comprehensive controlling

Units Unitholders Unitholders Partner Loss Interests Total

Partners' capital, January 1, 2008 38,253    615,265$ -$        16,539$  -$             570$       632,374$  

Comprehensive income:

    Net income (loss) -         23,485     -          2,604      -               (264)        25,825      

    Interest rate swap losses

    reclassified to interest expense -         -           -          -         16                 17           33             

    Interest rate swap loss -         -           -          -         (978)             (1,019)     (1,997)       

Cash contributions -         -           -          511         -               25,505    26,016      

Cash distributions -         (47,529)    -          (3,005)    -               (5)            (50,539)     

Issuance of units for cash 2,037      41,667     -          -         -               -          41,667      

Issuance of  units under LTIP 5             750          -          -         -               -          750           

Redemption of units (838)       (16,667)    -          -         -               -          (16,667)     

Partners' capital, December 31, 2008 39,457    616,971   -          16,649    (962)             24,804    657,462    

Comprehensive income:

    Net income (loss) -         21,469     -          (13,406)  -               (1,885)     6,178        

    Interest rate swap losses

    reclassified to interest expense -         -           -          -         383               401         784           

    Interest rate swap loss -         -           -          -         (250)             (258)        (508)          

Cash contributions -         -           -          9             -               -          9               

Contribution for management

compensation (Note 11) -         -           -          14,104    -               -          14,104      

Cash distributions -         (53,876)    -          (6,204)    -               (6)            (60,086)     

Issuance of  units under LTIP 31           990          -          -         -               -          990           

Partners' capital, December 31, 2009 39,488    585,554   -          11,152    (829)             23,056    618,933    

Comprehensive loss:

    Net income (loss) -         17,933     -          (66,392)  -               (2,082)     (50,541)     

    Interest rate swap losses

    reclassified to interest expense -         -           -          -         1,035            1,077      2,112        

    Interest rate swap loss -         -           -          -         (206)             (218)        (424)          

Issuance of units for cash 5,175      116,347   -          -         -               -          116,347    

Cash contributions -         -           -          2,528      -               13           2,541        

Contribution for management

compensation (Note 11) -         -           -          76,923    -               -          76,923      

Cash distributions -         (58,983)    -          (11,369)  -               (7)            (70,359)     

Acquisition of noncontrolling 

interest in DG Marine (Note 3) -         (4,920)      -          (100)       -               (21,268)   (26,288)     

Issuance of units in exchange for

general partner interest (Note 11) 19,814    13,310     3             (12,742)  -               (571)        -            

Issuance of  units under LTIP 98           20            -          -         -               -          20             

Partners' capital, December 31, 2010 64,575    669,261$ 3$           -$       -$             -$        669,264$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS' CAPITAL

(In thousands)

Partners' Capital
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2010 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net (loss) income (50,541)$       6,178$          25,825$        

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities -

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 53,557          67,586          71,370          

Amortization and write-off of credit facility issuance costs 3,082            2,503            1,437            

Amortization of unearned income and initial direct costs on 

direct financing leases (17,651)         (18,095)         (10,892)         

Payments received under direct financing leases 21,854          21,853          11,519          

Equity in earnings of investments in joint ventures (2,355)           (1,547)           (509)              

Distributions from joint ventures - return on investment 3,623            950               1,272            

Non-cash effect of equity-based compensation plans 4,706            4,248            (2,063)           

Non-cash compensation charge 76,923          14,104          -                

Deferred and other tax liabilities 1,337            1,914            (2,771)           

Other, net 1,415            (46)                882               

Net changes in components of operating assets and

liabilities (See Note 14) (5,487)           (9,569)           (1,262)           

Net cash provided by operating activities 90,463          90,079          94,808          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments to acquire fixed and intangible assets (12,400)         (30,332)         (37,354)         

CO2 pipeline transactions and related costs -                -                (228,891)       

Distributions from joint ventures - return of investment 2,859            -                886               

Investments in joint ventures and other investments (332,462)       (83)                (2,397)           

Acquisition of Grifco assets -                -                (66,686)         

Other, net 1,265            1,182            718               

Net cash used in investing activities (340,738)       (29,233)         (333,724)       

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Bank borrowings 691,829        255,300        531,712        

Bank repayments (698,729)       (263,700)       (236,412)       

Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes 250,000        -                -                

Credit facility and senior unsecured notes issuance fees (14,586)         (422)              (2,255)           

Issuance of common units for cash 116,347        -                -                

Redemption of common units for cash -                -                (16,667)         

General partner contributions 2,528            9                   511               

Noncontrolling interests contributions, net of distributions 6                   (6)                  25,500          

Acquisition of noncontrolling interest in DG Marine (26,288)         -                -                

Distributions to common unitholders (58,983)         (53,876)         (47,529)         

Distributions to general partner interest (11,369)         (6,204)           (3,005)           

Other, net 1,134            (6,784)           (5,805)           

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 251,889        (75,683)         246,050        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,614            (14,837)         7,134            

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,148            18,985          11,851          

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5,762$          4,148$          18,985$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In tho us ands )

Year Ended December 31,
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GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

 

1.  Organization 

We are a growth-oriented limited partnership focused on the midstream segment of the oil and gas industry in 

the Gulf Coast area of the United States.  We conduct our operations through our operating subsidiaries and joint 

ventures.  We manage our businesses through three divisions: 

 Pipeline transportation of crude oil and carbon dioxide (or ―CO2‖); 

 Refinery services involving processing of high sulfur (or ―sour‖) gas streams for refineries to remove 

the sulfur, and sale of the related by-product, sodium hydrosulfide (or ―NaHS‖, commonly pronounced 

nash) and supplying caustic soda (or ―NaOH‖); and 

 Supply and logistics services, which includes terminaling, blending, storing, marketing, and 

transporting crude oil, petroleum products and CO2.  

In February 2010, new investors, together with members of our executive management team, acquired our 

general partner.  At that time, our general partner owned all our 2% general partner interest and all of our incentive 

distribution rights, or IDRs.  At that time, in respect of its general partner interest and IDRs, our general partner was 

entitled to over 50% of any increased distributions we would pay in respect of our outstanding equity.  

On December 28, 2010, we permanently eliminated our IDRs and converted our 2% general partner interest into 

a non-economic interest, which we refer to as our IDR Restructuring.   We issued Class A Units, Class B Units and 

Waiver Units to the former stakeholders of our general partner in exchange for the elimination of our IDRs.  See 

Note 11 for additional discussion of our capital structure. 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation and Presentation 

The accompanying financial statements and related notes present our consolidated financial position as of 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 and our results of operations, cash flows and changes in partners’ capital for the years 

ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.  All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  The 

accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include Genesis Energy, L.P. and its operating subsidiaries, 

Genesis Crude Oil, L.P. and Genesis NEJD Holdings, LLC, and their subsidiaries, and Genesis Energy, LLC. 

The inclusion of Genesis Energy, LLC in our Consolidated Financial Statements was effective December 28, 

2010 due to our IDR Restructuring.  See Notes 1 and 11. 

  Except per unit amounts, or as noted within the context of each footnote disclosure, the dollar amounts 

presented in the tabular data within these footnote disclosures are stated in thousands of dollars. 

Joint Ventures 

 

We participate in three joint ventures:  Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company (―Cameron Highway‖), T&P 

Syngas Supply Company (―T&P Syngas‖) and Sandhill Group, LLC (―Sandhill‖).  We account for our 50% 

investments in Cameron Highway, T&P Syngas and Sandhill by the equity method of accounting. See Notes 3 and 

8. 

Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company 

On November 23, 2010, we acquired a 50% equity interest in Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company, a joint 

venture that owns and operates a crude oil pipeline system in the Gulf of Mexico.  Enterprise Products Partners, L.P. 

indirectly owns the remaining 50% interest in, and operates, the joint venture.  

T&P Syngas Supply Company 

 We own a 50% interest in T&P Syngas, a Delaware general partnership.  Praxair Hydrogen Supply Inc. 

(―Praxair‖) owns the remaining 50% partnership interest in T&P Syngas.  T&P Syngas is a partnership that owns a 

syngas manufacturing facility located in Texas City, Texas.  That facility processes natural gas to produce syngas (a 
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combination of carbon monoxide and hydrogen) and high pressure steam.  Praxair provides the raw materials to be 

processed and receives the syngas and steam produced by the facility under a long-term processing agreement.  T&P 

Syngas receives a processing fee for its services.  Praxair operates the facility.   

Sandhill Group, LLC 

We own a 50% interest in Sandhill.  Reliant Processing Ltd. holds the other 50% interest in Sandhill and 

manages the daily operations of the joint venture.  Sandhill owns a CO2 processing facility located in Brandon, 

Mississippi. Sandhill is engaged in the production and distribution of liquid carbon dioxide for use in the food, 

beverage, chemical and oil industries. The facility acquires CO2 from us under a long-term supply contract that we 

acquired in 2005 from Denbury.   

Noncontrolling Interests 

Until December 28, 2010, our general partner, which owns a 0.01% general partner interest in Genesis Crude 

Oil, L.P., was not one of our subsidiaries See Note 1.   

Until July 29, 2010, TD Marine, LLC, a related party, owned the remaining 51% economic interest in DG 

Marine.  See Note 3.   

As a result of our IDR Restructuring and the acquisition of the 51% of DG Marine from TD Marine, we 

reclassified the acquired noncontrolling interest in Genesis Crude Oil, L.P. and DG Marine to Genesis Energy, L.P. 

partners’ capital.  The net interest of those parties in our results of operations and financial position are reflected in 

our Consolidated Financial Statements as noncontrolling interests for the periods prior to the dates of the respective 

transactions. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at 

the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period.  We based these estimates and assumptions on historical experience and other information that we 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Significant estimates that we make include: (1) liability and 

contingency accruals, (2) estimated fair value of assets and liabilities acquired and identification of associated 

goodwill and intangible assets, (3) estimates of future net cash flows from assets for purposes of determining 

whether impairment of those assets has occurred, and (4) estimates of future asset retirement obligations.  

Additionally, for purposes of the calculation of the fair value of awards under equity-based compensation plans, we 

make estimates regarding the expected life of the rights, expected forfeiture rates of the rights, volatility of our unit 

price and expected future distribution yield on our units.  While we believe these estimates are reasonable, actual 

results could differ from these estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all demand deposits and funds invested in highly liquid instruments 

with original maturities of three months or less.  The Partnership has no requirement for compensating balances or 

restrictions on cash.  We periodically assess the financial condition of the institutions where these funds are held and 

believe that our credit risk is minimal. 

Accounts Receivable 

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of crude oil and petroleum products, and, to a lesser 

extent, purchasers of NaHS and CO2.  These purchasers include refineries, marketing and trading companies.  The 

majority of our accounts receivable relate to our supply and logistics activities that can be described as high volume 

and low margin activities. 

We utilize our credit review process to make a determination with respect to the amount, if any, of credit to be 

extended to any given customer and the form and amount of financial performance assurances we require.  Such 

financial performance assurances most commonly provided to us include standby letters of credit, ―parental‖ 

guarantees and advance cash payments.   

We review our outstanding accounts receivable balances on a regular basis and record an allowance for amounts 

that we expect will not be fully recovered.  Actual balances are not applied against the reserve until substantially all 

collection efforts have been exhausted. 
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Inventories 

Crude oil and petroleum products inventories held for sale are valued at the lower of cost or market.  Fuel 

inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market.  Caustic soda and NaHS inventories are stated at the lower of 

cost or market. Cost is determined principally under the average cost method within specific inventory pools. 

Fixed Assets 

Property and equipment are carried at cost.  Depreciation of property and equipment is provided using the 

straight-line method over the respective estimated useful lives of the assets.  Asset lives are 5 to 15 years for 

pipelines and related assets, 25 years for barges and push boats, 10 to 20 years for machinery and equipment, 3 to 7 

years for transportation equipment, and 3 to 10 years for buildings and improvements, office equipment, furniture 

and fixtures and other equipment. 

Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of major facilities.  The capitalized interest is 

recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life. 

Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred.  Costs incurred for major replacements and 

upgrades are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset.   

Certain volumes of crude oil are classified in fixed assets, as they are necessary to ensure efficient and 

uninterrupted operations of the gathering businesses.  These crude oil volumes are carried at their weighted average 

cost. 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment.  An asset is tested for impairment when events or 

circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable.  The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not 

recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use and ultimate 

disposal of the asset.  If the carrying value is determined to not be recoverable under this method, an impairment 

charge equal to the amount the carrying value exceeds the fair value is recognized.  Fair value is generally 

determined from estimated discounted future net cash flows. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

Some of our assets have contractual or regulatory obligations to perform dismantlement and removal 

activities, and in some instances remediation, when the assets are abandoned.  In general, our future asset retirement 

obligations relate to future costs associated with the removal of our oil, natural gas and CO2 pipelines, barge 

decommissioning, removal of equipment and facilities from leased acreage and land restoration. The fair value of a 

liability for an asset retirement obligation is recorded in the period in which it is incurred, discounted to its present 

value using our credit adjusted risk-free interest rate, and a corresponding amount capitalized by increasing the 

carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related 

asset.  Accretion of the discount increases the liability and is recorded to expense.  See Note 6.  

Direct Financing Leasing Arrangements 

When a direct financing lease is consummated, we record the gross finance receivable, unearned income and 

the estimated residual value of the leased pipelines.  Unearned income represents the excess of the gross receivable 

plus the estimated residual value over the costs of the pipelines.  Unearned income is recognized as financing 

income using the interest method over the term of the transaction and is included in pipeline revenue in the 

Consolidated Statements of Operations.  The pipeline cost is not included in fixed assets.   

We review our direct financing lease arrangements for credit risk.  Such review includes consideration of the 

credit rating and financial position of the lessee.  See Note 7. 

CO2 Assets 

Our CO2 assets include three volumetric production payments and long-term contracts to sell the CO2 

volume.  The contract values are being amortized on a units-of-production method.  These assets are included in 

Other Assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.  See Note 9. 

Intangible and Other Assets 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives.  If an 

intangible asset has a finite useful life, but the precise length of that life is not known, that intangible asset shall be 

amortized over the best estimate of its useful life.  At a minimum, we will assess the useful lives and residual values 
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of all intangible assets on an annual basis to determine if adjustments are required.   We are amortizing our customer 

and supplier relationships, licensing agreements and trade name based on the period over which the asset is expected 

to contribute to our future cash flows.  Generally, the contribution of these assets to our cash flows is expected to 

decline over time, such that greater value is attributable to the periods shortly after the acquisition was made.  The 

favorable lease and other intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis.  

We test intangible assets periodically to determine if impairment has occurred.  An impairment loss is 

recognized for intangibles if the carrying amount of an intangible asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount 

exceeds its fair value.  No impairment has occurred of intangible assets in any of the periods presented.  

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt and certain amendments to our credit 

facilities are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the related debt.  Use of the 

straight-line method does not differ materially from the ―effective interest‖ method of amortization.  Fully-amortized 

debt issuance costs and the related accumulated amortization are written-off in conjunction with the refinancing or 

termination of the applicable debt arrangement. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired.  We test goodwill for 

impairment annually at October 1, and more frequently if indicators of impairment are present.  If the fair value of 

the reporting unit exceeds its book value including associated goodwill amounts, the goodwill is considered to be 

unimpaired and no impairment charge is required. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its book value 

including associated goodwill amounts, a charge to earnings may be necessary to reduce the carrying value of the 

goodwill to its implied fair value.  In the event that we determine that goodwill has become impaired, we will incur a 

charge for the amount of impairment during the period in which the determination is made.  No goodwill 

impairment has occurred in any of the periods presented.  See Note 9. 

Environmental Liabilities 

We provide for the estimated costs of environmental contingencies when liabilities are probable to occur and 

a reasonable estimate of the associated costs can be made.  Ongoing environmental compliance costs, including 

maintenance and monitoring costs, are charged to expense as incurred. 

Equity-Based Compensation 

The compensation cost associated with our stock appreciation rights plan and phantom units issued under our 

2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which will result in the payment of cash to our employee or directors or our 

general partner upon exercise, is re-measured each reporting period.  The liability and related compensation cost is 

calculated using a fair value method that takes into consideration the expected future value of the rights at their 

expected exercise dates and management’s assumptions about expectation of forfeitures prior to vesting.   

See Note 15 for information on these plans. 

Revenue Recognition 

Product Sales - Revenues from the sale of crude oil, petroleum products and CO2 by our supply and logistics 

segment, natural gas by our pipeline transportation segment, and caustic soda and NaHS by our refinery services 

segment are recognized when title to the inventory is transferred to the customer, collectability is reasonably assured 

and there are no further significant obligations for future performance by us.  Most frequently, title transfers upon 

our delivery of the inventory to the customer at a location designated by the customer, although in certain situations, 

title transfers when the inventory is loaded for transportation to the customer.  Our crude oil, natural gas and 

petroleum products are typically sold at prices based off daily or monthly published prices.  Many of our contracts 

for sales of NaHS incorporate the price of caustic soda in the pricing formulas. 

Pipeline Transportation - Revenues from transportation of crude oil or natural gas by our pipelines are based 

on actual volumes at a published tariff.  Tariff revenues are recognized either at the point of delivery or at the point 

of receipt pursuant to the specifications outlined in our regulated tariffs.   

In order to compensate us for bearing the risk of volumetric losses in volumes that occur to crude oil in our 

pipelines due to temperature, crude quality and the inherent difficulties of measurement of liquids in a pipeline, our 

tariffs include the right for us to make volumetric deductions from the shippers for quality and volumetric 

fluctuations.  We refer to these deductions as pipeline loss allowances. 
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We compare these allowances to the actual volumetric gains and losses of the pipeline and the net gain or 

loss is recorded as revenue or a reduction of revenue, based on prevailing market prices at that time.  When net gains 

occur, we have crude oil inventory.  When net losses occur, we reduce any recorded inventory on hand and record a 

liability for the purchase of crude oil that we must make to replace the lost volumes.  We reflect inventories in the 

Consolidated Financial Statements at the lower of the recorded value or the market value at the balance sheet date.  

We value liabilities to replace crude oil at current market prices.  The crude oil in inventory can then be sold, 

resulting in additional revenue if the sales price exceeds the inventory value. 

Income from direct financing leases is being recognized ratably over the term of the leases and is included in 

pipeline revenues. 

Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses 

Supply and logistics costs and expenses include the cost to acquire the product and the associated costs to 

transport it to our terminal facilities or to a customer for sale.  Other than the cost of the products, the most 

significant costs we incur relate to transportation utilizing our fleet of trucks and barges, including personnel costs, 

fuel and maintenance of our equipment. 

When we enter into buy/sell arrangements concurrently or in contemplation of one another with a single 

counterparty, we reflect the amounts of revenues and purchases for these transactions as a net amount in our 

Consolidated Statements of Operations under Supply and logistics revenues.   

The most significant operating costs in our refinery services segment consist of the costs to operate NaHS 

plants located at various refineries, caustic soda used in the process of processing the refiner’s sour gas stream, and 

costs to transport the NaHS and caustic soda.   

Pipeline operating costs consist primarily of power costs to operate pumping equipment, personnel costs to 

operate the pipelines, insurance costs and costs associated with maintaining the integrity of our pipelines.. 

Excise and Sales Taxes 

The Company collects and remits excise and sales taxes to state and federal governmental authorities on its 

sales of fuels.  These taxes are presented on a net basis, with any differences due to rebates allowed by those 

governmental entities reflected as a reduction of product cost in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Income Taxes 

We are a limited partnership, organized as a pass-through entity for federal income tax purposes. As such, 

we do not directly pay federal income tax. Our taxable income or loss, which may vary substantially from the net 

income or net loss we report in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, is included in the federal income tax 

returns of each partner.  

Some of our corporate subsidiaries pay U.S. federal, state, and foreign income taxes. Deferred income tax 

assets and liabilities for certain operations conducted through corporations are recognized for temporary differences 

between the assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes. Changes in tax legislation are included in 

the relevant computations in the period in which such changes are effective. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a 

valuation allowance for the amount of any tax benefit not expected to be realized.  Penalties and interest related to 

income taxes will be included in income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 

We minimize our exposure to price risk by limiting our inventory positions.  However when we hold 

inventory positions in crude oil and petroleum products, we use derivative instruments to hedge exposure to price 

risk.  Until July 29, 2010, DG Marine used interest rate swap contracts to manage its exposure to interest rate risk.   

Derivative transactions, which can include forward contracts and futures positions on the NYMEX, are 

recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as assets and liabilities based on the derivative’s fair value.  Changes in 

the fair value of derivative contracts are recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria 

are met.  We must formally designate the derivative as a hedge and document and assess the effectiveness of 

derivatives associated with transactions that receive hedge accounting.   Accordingly, changes in the fair value of 

derivatives are included in earnings in the current period for (i) derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges; (ii) 

derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting and (iii) the portion of cash flow hedges that is not highly 

effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.  Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are 
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deferred in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (―AOCI‖) and reclassified into earnings when the 

underlying position affects earnings.  See Note 17. 

Fair Value of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

The carrying amount of other current assets and other current liabilities approximates their fair value due to 

their short-term nature.    

Net Income Per Common Unit 

Income was first allocated to our general partner based on the amount of incentive distributions to our general 

partner.  We then allocated to our general partner loss in the amount of equity-based compensation costs which our 

general partner agreed to pay.  The remainder was then allocated 98% to the limited partners and 2% to the general 

partner.  Basic net income per limited partner unit is determined by dividing net income attributable to limited 

partners by the weighted average number of outstanding limited partner units during the period.  Diluted net income 

per common unit is calculated in the same manner, but also considers the impact to common units for the potential 

dilution from phantom units outstanding under our 2007 Long-term Incentive Plan (2007 LTIP). (See Note 15 for 

discussion of our equity-based compensation.) 

In a period of net operating losses, incremental phantom units are excluded from the calculation of diluted 

earnings per unit due to their anti-dilutive effect. During 2009 and 2008, we reported net income; therefore 

incremental phantom units have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per unit.     

Recent and Proposed Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance related to the calculation of the carrying 

amount of a reporting unit when performing the first step of a goodwill impairment test.  More specifically, this 

update will require an entity to use an equity premise when performing the first step of a goodwill impairment test, 

and if a reporting unit has a zero or negative carrying amount, the entity must assess and consider qualitative factors 

to determine whether it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists.  The new accounting guidance is 

effective for public entities, for impairment tests performed during entities’ fiscal years (and interim periods within 

those years) that begin after December 15, 2010.  Early application is not permitted.  We will adopt the new 

guidance in the first quarter of 2011; however, as we currently do not have any reporting units with a zero or 

negative carrying amount, we do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have an impact on our financial 

position, results of operations or cash flows. 
  

In December 2010, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures 

should be presented as if a business combination that is determined to be material on an individual or aggregate 

basis occurred at the beginning of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the current reporting period 

and the prior reporting period pro forma financial information.  These disclosures should be accompanied by a 

narrative description about the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments.  The new 

accounting guidance is effective for business combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 15, 

2010 and should be applied prospectively as of the date of adoption.  Early adoption is permitted.  We will adopt the 

new disclosures in the first quarter of 2011.  We do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a 

material impact to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
  
In July 2010, the FASB issued guidance which requires companies that hold financing receivables, which 

include loans, lease receivables, and the other long-term receivables to provide more information in their disclosures 

about the credit quality of their financing receivables and the credit reserves held against them.  On December 31, 

2010, we adopted all amendments that require disclosures as of the end of a reporting period, and on January 1, 

2011, we adopted all amendments that require disclosures about activity that occurs during a reporting period (the 

remainder of the accounting guidance).  The adoption of this accounting guidance did not have a material impact on 

our consolidated financial statements. 

 

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance to enhance disclosures related to the existing fair value 

hierarchy disclosure requirements. A fair value measurement is designated as Level 1, 2 or 3 within the hierarchy 

based on the nature of the inputs used in the valuation process. Level 1 measurements generally reflect quoted 

market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, Level 2 measurements generally reflect the use of 

significant observable inputs and Level 3 measurements typically utilize significant unobservable inputs. This new 

guidance requires additional disclosures regarding transfers into and out of Level 1 and Level 2 measurements and 
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requires a gross presentation of activities within the Level 3 roll forward. This guidance was effective for the first 

interim or annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the gross presentation of the Level 

3 roll forward, which is required for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim 

reporting periods within those years. We adopted the guidance relating to Level 1 and Level 2 transfers as of 

January 1, 2010, and we adopted the guidance relating to Level 3 measurements on January 1, 2011.  Our adoption 

had no material impact on Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which entities evaluate 

whether consolidation is required for Variable Interest Entities, or VIEs.  The model for determining which 

enterprise has a controlling financial interest and is the primary beneficiary of a VIE has changed significantly under 

the new guidance.  Previously, variable interest holders had to determine whether they had a controlling interest in a 

VIE based on a quantitative analysis of the expected gains and/or losses of the entity.  In contrast, the new guidance 

requires an enterprise with a variable interest in a VIE to qualitatively assess whether it has a controlling interest in 

the entity, and if so, whether it is the primary beneficiary.  Furthermore, this guidance requires that companies 

continually evaluate VIEs for consolidation, rather than assessing based upon the occurrence of triggering 

events.  This revised guidance also requires enhanced disclosures about how a company’s involvement with a VIE 

affects its financial statements and exposure to risks.  This guidance was effective for us beginning January 1, 2010, 

and there was no material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

3.  Acquisitions 

2010 Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company Investment 

 On November 23, 2010, we acquired a 50% equity interest in Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company, a 

joint venture that owns and operates a crude oil pipeline system in the Gulf of Mexico.  The purchase price was 

approximately $330 million plus approximately $2.5 million of purchase price adjustments.  

 The funding for this acquisition consisted of $330 million in cash from the issuance of 5,175,000 common 

units at $23.58 per common unit and the issuance of $250 million of senior unsecured notes.  Total net proceeds 

from the common units offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering 

expenses and including our general partner’s proportionate capital contribution to maintain its 2% general partner 

interest, were approximately $119 million. 

 The Cameron Highway pipeline system is a 380-mile 24- and 30-inch diameter pipeline constructed in 

2004, with capacity to deliver up to 500,000 barrels per day of crude oil from developments in the Gulf of Mexico to 

major refining markets along the Texas Gulf Coast located in Port Arthur and Texas City.  Enterprise Products 

Partners, L.P. indirectly owns the remaining 50% interest in, and operates, the joint venture. 

The following table presents selected unaudited pro forma financial information incorporating the historical 

50% equity interest in Cameron Highway.  The effective closing date of our purchase of a 50% equity interest in 

Cameron Highway was November 23, 2010.  As a result, our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year 

ended December 31, 2010 includes our 50% equity investment in Cameron Highway for the last five weeks of 

2010.  The pro forma financial information has been prepared as if the acquisition had been completed on the first 

day of each period presented rather than the actual closing date.  The pro forma financial information has been 

prepared based upon assumptions deemed appropriate by us and may not be indicative of actual results. 
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2010 2009

Pro forma earnings data:

Revenue 2,101,324$                       1,435,360$                       

Costs and expenses 2,130,430$                       1,415,909$                       

Operating (loss) income (29,106)                             19,451                              

Net loss attributable to

Genesis Energy, L.P. (55,001)$                           (538)$                                

Basic and diluted earnings per unit:

As reported units outstanding 40,560                              39,471                              

Pro forma units outstanding 44,969                              44,646                              

As reported net income per unit 0.49$                                0.51$                                

Pro forma net income per unit 0.30$                                0.26$                                

Year Ended December 31,

 
 

DG Marine Transportation 

2008 Initial Investment in DG Marine 

On July 18, 2008, DG Marine completed the acquisition of the inland marine transportation business of 

Grifco Transportation, Ltd. (―Grifco‖) and two of Grifco’s affiliates.  DG Marine is a joint venture we formed with 

TD Marine, LLC, an entity owned by members of the Davison family.  Until July 29, 2010, TD Marine owned 

(indirectly) a 51% economic interest in the joint venture, DG Marine, and we owned (directly and indirectly) a 49% 

economic interest.  This acquisition gives us the capability to provide transportation services of petroleum products 

by barge and complements our other supply and logistics operations. 

Grifco received initial purchase consideration of approximately $80 million, comprised of $63.3 million in 

cash and $16.7 million, or 837,690 of our common units.  A portion of the units are subject to certain lock-up 

restrictions. DG Marine acquired substantially all of Grifco’s assets, including twelve barges, seven push boats, 

certain commercial agreements, and offices.  Additionally, DG Marine and/or  its subsidiaries acquired the rights, 

and assumed the obligations, to take delivery of four new barges in late third quarter of 2008 and four additional 

new barges late in first quarter of 2009 (at a total price of approximately $27 million). Grifco financed $12 million 

of additional purchase consideration that we agreed to pay after we placed the eight new barges in service.  At 

December 31, 2009, all of the seller-financed additional purchase price consideration was paid.   

The Grifco acquisition and related closing costs were funded with $50 million of aggregate equity 

contributions from us and TD Marine, in proportion to our ownership percentages, and with borrowings of $32.4 

million under a revolving credit facility which was non-recourse to us and TD Marine (other than with respect to our  

investments in DG Marine).  Although DG Marine’s debt was non-recourse to us, our ownership interest in DG 

Marine was pledged to secure its indebtedness. We funded our $24.5 million equity contribution with $7.8 million 

of cash and 837,690 of our common units, valued at $19.896 per unit, for a total value of $16.7 million.  At closing, 

we also redeemed 837,690 of our common units from the Davison family.  See Notes 10 and 11. 

 Until July 29, 2010, DG Marine was a VIE as certain of our voting rights were not proportional to our 49% 

economic interest.  Accounting provisions require the primary beneficiary to consolidate variable interest entities.  

In determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE that is held between two or more related parties the primary 

beneficiary is considered to be the party that is "most closely associated" with the VIE.  We were considered to be 

the primary beneficiary due to (i) our involvement in the design of DG Marine, (ii) the ongoing involvement with 

regards to financial and operating decision making of DG Marine, excluding matters related to new contracts and 

vessel disposal which are decided solely by TD Marine, and (iii) the financial support we provided to DG Marine.  

TD Marine had no requirements to make any additional contributions to DG Marine. 

As we were considered the primary beneficiary, DG Marine was consolidated in our Consolidated Financial 

Statements and the 51% ownership interest of TD Marine in the net assets and net income of DG Marine was 

included in noncontrolling interests in our Consolidated Financial Statements.   

The acquisition cost allocated to the assets consisted of $63.3 million of cash, $16.7 million of value from 

the issuance of our limited partnership units to Grifco, $11.7 million related to the discounted value of the additional 
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consideration that was owed to Grifco when the barges under construction were placed in service and $2.4 million of 

transaction costs.  The acquisition cost was allocated to the assets acquired based on estimated fair values.  Such fair 

values were developed by management.  

The allocation of the acquisition cost is summarized as follows: 

Property and equipment 91,772$        

Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer relationships 800               

Trade name 900               

Non-compete agreements 600               

Total allocated cost 94,072$        

 

The weighted average amortization period for the intangible assets at the date of acquisition is 10 years for 

customer relationships, 3 years for the trade name and 7 years for the non-compete agreements.  The weighted 

average amortization period for all intangible assets acquired in the Grifco transaction is 6 years. 

See additional information on intangible assets in Note 9. 

2010 Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest 

On July 29, 2010, we acquired TD Marine’s effective 51% interest in DG Marine for $25.5 million in cash, 

resulting in DG Marine becoming wholly-owned by us.  We funded the acquisition with proceeds from our credit 

agreement, including (i) paying off DG Marine’s stand-alone credit facility, which had an outstanding principal 

balance of $44.4 million, and (ii) settling DG Marine’s interest rate swaps, which resulted in $1.3 million being 

reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (―AOCL‖) to interest expense in the third quarter of 

2010. 

 As a result of this transaction, we reclassified the acquired noncontrolling interest in DG Marine of $21.3 

million to Genesis Energy, L.P. partners’ capital.  Additionally, we reduced our partners’ capital by $26.3 million 

for the costs related to the transaction ($25.5 million paid to TD Marine and $0.8 million in direct transaction costs 

associated with the acquisition).  The net effect of Genesis Energy, L.P. partners’ capital in our Consolidated 

Balance Sheet for December 31, 2010 was a decrease of $5.0 million. 

2008 Denbury Drop-Down Transactions 

On May 30, 2008, we completed two transactions with Denbury Onshore LLC,, a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Denbury Resources Inc., (Denbury).  

NEJD Pipeline System  

In 2008, we entered into a twenty-year financing lease transaction with Denbury valued at $175 million 

related to the NEJD Pipeline System.  The NEJD Pipeline System is a 183-mile, 20‖ pipeline extending from the 

Jackson Dome, near Jackson, Mississippi, to near Donaldsonville, Louisiana, and is currently being leased and used 

by Denbury for its tertiary recovery operations in southwest Mississippi.  We recorded this lease arrangement in our 

Consolidated Financial Statements as a direct financing lease. Under the terms of the agreement, Denbury Onshore 

began making quarterly rent payments beginning August 30, 2008.  These quarterly rent payments are fixed at 

$5,166,943 per quarter or approximately $20.7 million per year during the lease term at an interest rate of 10.25%.  

At the end of the lease term, we will convey all of our interests in the NEJD Pipeline to Denbury Onshore for a 

nominal payment. 

Denbury has the rights to exclusive use of the NEJD Pipeline System, will be responsible for all operations 

and maintenance on that system, and will bear and assume all obligations and liabilities with respect to that system.  

The NEJD transaction was funded with borrowings under our credit facility. 

See additional discussion of this direct financing lease in Note 7. 

Free State Pipeline System   

We purchased the Free State Pipeline for $75 million from Denbury, consisting of $50 million in cash which 

we borrowed under our credit facility, and $25 million in the form of 1,199,041 of our common units.  The number 
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of common units issued was based on the average closing price of our common units from May 28, 2008 through 

June 3, 2008. 

The Free State Pipeline is an 86-mile, 20‖ pipeline that extends from CO2 source fields at Jackson Dome, 

near Jackson, Mississippi, to oil fields in east Mississippi.  We entered into a twenty-year transportation services 

agreement to deliver CO2 on the Free State pipeline for Denbury’s use in tertiary recovery operations.    Under the 

terms of the transportation services agreement, we are responsible for owning, operating, maintaining and making 

improvements to that pipeline.  Denbury currently has rights to exclusive use of that pipeline and is required to use 

that pipeline to supply CO2 to its current and certain of its other tertiary operations in east Mississippi.  The 

transportation services agreement provides for a $100,000 per month minimum payment, which is accounted for as 

an operating lease, plus a tariff based on throughput. Denbury has two renewal options, each for five years on 

similar terms. Any sale by us of the Free State Pipeline and related assets or of an ownership interest in our 

subsidiary that holds such assets would be subject to a right of first refusal of Denbury. 

4. Receivables 

Accounts receivable – trade, net consisted of the following: 

2010 2009

Accounts receivable - trade 172,857$      131,237$      

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,307)           (1,372)           

Accounts receivable - trade, net 171,550$      129,865$      

December 31,

 

The following table presents the activity of our allowance for doubtful accounts for the periods indicated: 

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period 1,372$          1,132$          -$              

Charged to costs and expenses 491               558               1,152            

Amounts written off (556)              (320)              (20)                

Recoveries -                2                   -                

Balance at end of period 1,307$          1,372$          1,132$          

December 31,

 

5.  Inventories 

The major components of inventories were as follows: 

2010 2009

Crude oil 6,128$          13,901$        

Petroleum products 38,588          22,150          

Caustic soda 6,309            1,985            

NaHS 4,387            2,154            

Other 16                 14                 

Total inventories 55,428$        40,204$        

December 31,

 
 

  At December 31, 2010 and 2009, market values of our inventory exceeded recorded costs. 
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6.  Fixed Assets and Asset Retirement Obligations 

Fixed Assets 

Fixed assets consisted of the following. 

2010 2009

Land, buildings and improvements 14,335$        14,028$        

Pipelines and related assets 156,805        156,274        

Machinery and equipment 29,433          27,016          

Transportation equipment 29,249          31,669          

Barges and push boats 122,992        122,913        

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,742            4,412            

Construction in progress 4,493            4,813            

Other 12,290          12,802          

Subtotal 373,339        373,927        

Accumulated depreciation (108,283)       (89,040)         

Total 265,056$      284,887$      

December 31,

 
 

Depreciation expense was $22.5 million, $25.2 million and $20.4 million for the years ended December 31, 

2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  

Asset Retirement Obligations 

 A reconciliation of our liability for asset retirement obligations is as follows: 

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2008 1,430$                

    Liabilities incurred and assumed in the current period 726                     

    Liabilities settled in the current period (117)                    

    Accretion expense 152                     

    Revisions in estimated cash flows 2,647                  

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2009 4,838                  

    Accretion expense 341                     

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2010 5,179$                
 

Liabilities incurred and assumed during the period are for properties acquired during the year.   Certain of our 

unconsolidated affiliates have asset retirement obligations recorded at December 31, 2010 and 2009 relating to 

contractual agreements.  These amounts are immaterial to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

7.  Net Investment in Direct Financing Leases 

As discussed in Note 3, we entered into a lease arrangement with Denbury related to the NEJD Pipeline in May 

2008 that is being accounted for as a direct financing lease.  Denbury pays us fixed payments of $5.2 million per 

quarter related to that lease that began in August 2008. 

The following table lists the components of the net investment in direct financing leases: 

2010 2009

Total minimum lease payments to be received 365,169$      385,565$      

Estimated residual values of leased property (unguaranteed) 1,287            1,287            

Unamortized initial direct costs 2,184            2,380            

Less unearned income (195,586)       (212,003)       

Net investment in direct financing leases 173,054        177,229        

Less current portion (included in other current assets) (4,616)           (4,202)           

Long-term portion of net investment in direct financing leases 168,438$      173,027$      

December 31,
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At December 31, 2010, minimum lease payments to be received for each of the five succeeding fiscal years are 

$21.9 million for 2011, $21.8 million for 2012, $21.3 million per year for 2013 through 2014 and $20.9 million for 

2015. 

We reviewed the credit risk related to our lease receivables from Denbury at December 31, 2010.  Under the 

terms of the lease arrangement with Denbury related to the NEJD Pipeline, should Denbury’s credit rating decline 

below certain minimum levels, Denbury is required to provide us with a letter of credit covering the payments owed 

for a specific period of time.  Should Denbury be unable to meet this requirement, the lease arrangement provides 

that we will be provided other security interest in the pipeline.  As a result of a review of Denbury’s current credit 

rating and the terms of the arrangement, we believe an allowance for credit losses relative to our direct financing 

leases was not required at December 31, 2010. 

8.  Equity Investees and Other Investments 

Equity Investees 

We are accounting for our 50% ownership in each of three joint ventures, Cameron Highway, T&P Syngas and 

Sandhill under the equity method of accounting.   We paid $106.8 million more for our interest in these joint 

ventures than our share of capital on their balance sheets at the date of the acquisition.  This excess amount of the 

purchase price over the equity in the joint ventures has been allocated to the tangible and intangible assets of the 

joint ventures based on the fair value of those assets.  The table below reflects information included in our 

Consolidated Financial Statements related to our equity investees. 

2010 2009 2008

Genesis' share of operating earnings 3,224            1,262            1,137            

Amortization of excess purchase price (869)              285               (628)              

Net equity in earnings 2,355$          1,547$          509$             

Distributions received 6,482$          950$             2,158$          

Year Ended December 31,

 

 

The combined balance sheet information for the last two years and results of operations data for the last three 

years for our equity investees was as follows; 

BALANCE SHEET DATA: 2010 2009

Current Assets 16,402$       4,906$        

Fixed assets, net 459,490       4,717          

Other Assets 15,424         17,361        

Total Assets 491,316$     26,984$      

Current Liabilities 5,509$         1,406$        

Other Liabilities 3,876           2,868          

Equity 481,931       22,710        

Total liabilities and combined equity 491,316$     26,984$      

December 31, 
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2010 2009 2008

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:

Revenues 20,013$     14,793$     15,493$     

Operating Income 5,881         775            3,205         

Net Income 5,843         749            3,172         

Year Ended December 31, 

 

Cameron Highway is only included in the income statement data above for the period in 2010 during which we 

owned our interest.  Audited financial statements for Cameron Highway as of December 31, 2010 and for the period 

from November 23, 2010 to December 31, 2010 are included in this filing on Form 10-K.  

Other Projects 

In 2006, we invested in the Faustina Project, a petroleum coke to ammonia project that is in the development 

stage.  As a result of a review of the financing alternatives for the project, requirements for continued funding for the 

project and the change in control of our general partner in February 2010, we decided not to fund our share of 

further development in the project.  We further determined that the likelihood of a recovery of our investment was 

remote, and the fair value of the investment was zero.   In 2009, we recorded a $5.0 million impairment charge 

related to our investment in the Faustina Project, reducing the value of that investment in our Consolidated Balance 

Sheets at December 31, 2009 to zero.   

9.  Intangible Assets, Goodwill and Other Assets 

Intangible Assets 

The following table reflects the components of intangible assets being amortized at December 31, 2010: 

Weighted 

Amo rtiza tio n 

P erio d in Years

Gro s s  Carrying 

Amo unt

Accumula ted 

Amo rtiza tio n Carrying Value

Gro s s  Carrying 

Amo unt

Accumula ted 

Amo rtiza tio n Carrying Value

Refinery services customer 

relationships 5 94,654$      53,139$      41,515$     94,654$      41,450$      53,204$     

Supply and logistics customer 

relationships 5 35,430        19,981        15,449       35,430        15,493        19,937       

Refinery services supplier 

relationships 2 36,469        31,476        4,993         36,469        28,551        7,918         

Refinery services licensing 

agreements 6 38,678        15,786        22,892       38,678        11,681        26,997       

Supply and logistics trade

names - Davison and Grifco 7 18,888        7,530          11,358       18,888        5,444          13,444       

Supply and logistics lease 15 13,260        1,618          11,642       13,260        1,144          12,116       

Other 5 13,776        1,450          12,326       3,823          1,109          2,714         

Total 5 251,155$    130,980$    120,175$   241,202$    104,872$    136,330$   

December 31, 2009December 31, 2010

 

The licensing agreements referred to in the table above relate to the agreements we have with refiners to 

provide services.  The trade names are the Davison and Grifco names, which we retained the right to use in our 

operations.  The supply and logistics lease relates to a terminal facility in Shreveport, Louisiana. 

We are recording amortization of our intangible assets based on the period over which the asset is expected 

to contribute to our future cash flows.  Generally, the contribution to our cash flows of the customer and supplier 

relationships, licensing agreements and trade name intangible assets is expected to decline over time, such that 

greater value is attributable to the periods shortly after the acquisition was made.  The supply and logistics lease and 

other intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis.  Amortization expense on intangible assets was 

$26.8 million, $33.1 million and $46.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

The following table reflects our estimated amortization expense for each of the five subsequent fiscal years:  
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Refinery services customer relationships 8,972$        7,056$        7,116$        5,597$        4,405$        

Supply and logistics customer relationships 3,603          2,819          2,165          1,660          1,275          

Refinery services supplier relationships 2,629          2,364          -              -              -              

Refinery services licensing agreements 3,690          3,416          3,163          2,928          2,711          

Supply and logistics trade name 1,851          1,432          1,237          1,073          932             

Supply and logistics lease 474             474             474             474             474             

Other 1,747          1,747          1,156          1,103          1,104          

Total 22,966$      19,308$      15,311$      12,835$      10,901$      
 

Goodwill 

 The carrying amount of goodwill by business segment at December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $301.9 million in 

refinery services and $23.1 million in supply and logistics.  We have not recognized any impairment losses related 

to goodwill for any of the periods presented. 

Other Assets 

Other assets consisted of the following. 

2010 2009

CO2 volumetric production payments 43,570$        43,570$        

Debt issuance costs - Genesis 15,714          5,022            

Credit facility fees - DG Marine -                2,373            

Initial direct costs related to Free State Pipeline lease 1,132            1,132            

Deferred tax asset 446               -                

Other deferred costs and deposits 78                 131               

60,940          52,228          

Less - Accumulated amortization (28,892)         (27,763)         

Net other assets 32,048$        24,465$        

December 31,

 

Our CO2 volumetric production payments entitle us to a maximum daily quantity of CO2 of 91,875 million 

cubic feet, or Mcf per day for the calendar years 2011 through 2012 and 73,875 Mcf per day beginning in 2013 until 

we have received all volumes under the production payments.  Under the terms of transportation agreements, 

Denbury processes and delivers this CO2 to our industrial customers and receives a fee of $0.16 per Mcf, subject to 

inflationary adjustments from us.  During 2010 this fee averaged $0.2094 per Mcf. 

The terms of our CO2 contracts with the industrial customers include minimum take-or-pay and maximum 

delivery volumes. At December 31, 2010, we had seven industrial contracts that expire at various dates between 

2011 and 2016, with one small contract extending until 2023. 

The CO2 assets are being amortized on a units-of-production method.  For 2010, 2009 and 2008, we recorded 

amortization of $4,254,000, $4,274,000 and $4,537,000, respectively.  We have 100.2 Bcf of CO2 remaining under 

the volumetric production payments at December 31, 2010.  Based on the historical deliveries of CO2 to the 

customers (which have exceeded minimum take-or-pay volumes), we expect amortization for the next five years to 

be approximately $4,020,000 for 2011, $4,007,000 for 2012 and $3,271,000 for 2013 through 2015. 

Amortization expense of credit facility fees for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $1.8 

million, $1.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively.   In the second quarter of 2010, we charged to expense $0.4 

million of unamortized fees related to the Genesis credit facility that we restructured in June 2010.   Additional fees 

of $7.6 million related to the restructured facility were deferred in June 2010 and will be amortized over the 

remaining term of the facility. 

We incurred $7.0 million of fees in connection with the issuance of $250 million of senior unsecured notes in 

November 2010.  See Note 10.  Amortization of note payable issuance fees for the year ended December 31, 2010 

was $0.1 million.   
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In connection with our purchase of TD Marine's interest in DG Marine on July 29, 2010, the outstanding 

balance on the DG Marine credit facility was repaid.  As a result, we charged to expense $0.8 million of 

unamortized fees related to the DG Marine facility in the third quarter of 2010.  

Total amortization of credit facility fees and notes payable issuance fees and other deferred costs for the next 

five years will be $1.8 million per year for 2011 through 2014 and $0.9 million for 2015. 

 

10.  Debt 

At December 31, 2010 our obligations under debt arrangements consisted of the following: 

2010 2009

Genesis Senior Secured Credit Facility 360,000$      320,000$      

Senior Unsecured Notes 250,000        -                

DG Marine Credit Facility (non-recourse to Genesis) -                46,900          

Total Long-Term Debt 610,000$      366,900$      

December 31,

 

We believe the amount included in our Consolidated Balance Sheet for the debt outstanding under our revolving 

credit agreement approximates fair value due to the recent restructuring of our credit agreement.  At December 31, 

2010, the fair value of our senior unsecured notes was approximately $250.3 million.  

Genesis Credit Facility 

On June 29, 2010, we restructured our senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of banks led by BNP 

Paribas.  We have a $525 million senior secured credit facility, which includes the ability to increase the size of the 

facility up to $650 million, with approval of lenders.   The credit facility includes a $75 million hedged crude oil and 

petroleum products inventory loan sublimit based on 90% of the hedged value of the inventory.  Our inventory 

borrowing base is recalculated monthly.  Additionally up to $100 million of the credit facility can be used for letters 

of credit.   

At December 31, 2010, we had $360 million borrowed under our credit agreement, with $43.9 million of that 

amount designated as a loan under the inventory sublimit.  Additionally, we had $4.6 million in letters of credit 

outstanding at December 31, 2010.   Due to the revolving nature of loans under our credit facility, additional 

borrowings and periodic repayments and re-borrowings may be made until the maturity date of June 30, 2015.  The 

total amount available for borrowings at December 31, 2010 was $160.4 million under our credit facility.  

The key terms for rates under our credit facility are as follows: 

 The interest rate on borrowings may be based on an alternate base rate or a Eurodollar rate, at our 

option.   The alternate base rate is equal to the sum of (a) the greatest of (i) the prime rate as established 

by the administrative agent for the credit facility, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus ½ of 1% and 

(iii) the LIBOR rate for a one-month maturity plus 1% and (b) the applicable margin.  The Eurodollar 

rate is equal to the sum of (a) the LIBOR rate for the applicable interest period multiplied by the 

statutory reserve rate and (b) the applicable margin.  The applicable margin varies from 1.5% to 2.5% 

for alternate base rate borrowings and from 2.5% to 3.5% for Eurodollar rate borrowings, depending on 

our leverage ratio.  Our leverage ratio is recalculated quarterly and in connection with each material 

acquisition.   At December 31, 2010, the applicable margins on our borrowings were 1.75% for alternate 

base rate borrowings and 2.75% for Eurodollar rate borrowings.   

 Letter of credit fees will range from 2.50% to 3.50% based on our leverage ratio as computed under the 

credit facility.  The rate can fluctuate quarterly.  At December 31, 2010, our letter of credit rate was 

2.75%.   

 We pay a commitment fee on the unused portion of the $525 million maximum facility amount.  The 

commitment fee is 0.50%.   

Our credit facility is secured by liens on a substantial portion of our assets, and by guarantees by all of our 

restricted subsidiaries (as defined in the credit facility). 
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Our credit facility contains customary covenants (affirmative, negative and financial) that could limit the 

manner in which we may conduct our business.  As defined in our credit facility, we are required to meet three 

primary financial metrics - a maximum leverage ratio, a maximum senior secured leverage ratio and a minimum 

interest coverage ratio.  Our credit agreement provides for the temporary inclusion of certain pro forma adjustments 

to the calculations of the required ratios following material acquisitions.  In general, our leverage ratio calculation 

compares our consolidated funded debt (including outstanding notes we have issued) to EBITDA (as defined and 

adjusted) and cannot exceed 5.00 to 1.00 (5.50 to 1.00 in an acquisition period).  Our senior secured leverage ratio 

excludes outstanding debt under senior unsecured notes and cannot exceed 3.75 to 1.00 (4.25 to 1.00 in an 

acquisition period). Our interest coverage ratio calculation compares EBITDA (as defined and adjusted in 

accordance with the credit facility) to interest expense and must be greater than 2.75 to 1.00 (3.00 to 1.00 during an 

acquisition period.   

Senior Unsecured Notes 

On November 18, 2010, we completed the issuance of $250 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.875% 

senior unsecured notes due December 15, 2018.  The notes were sold at face value.  Interest payments are due on 

June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning June 15, 2011.  We used the net proceeds from this offering to 

finance in part the purchase price and related transaction costs for the acquisition of a 50% equity interest in 

Cameron Highway. 

The notes were co-issued by Genesis Energy Finance Corporation (which has no independent asset or 

operations) and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by certain of our wholly-owned 

subsidiaries.  In connection with the issuance of the notes, we agreed to register the notes with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission no later than November 18, 2011.  

We have the right to redeem the notes at any time after December 15, 2013 at a premium to the face amount of 

the notes that varies based on the time remaining to maturity of the notes.  Prior to December 15, 2013, we may also 

redeem up to 35% of the principal amount for 107.875% of the face amount with the proceeds from an equity 

offering of our common units. 

Covenants and Compliance 

Our credit agreement and the indenture governing the senior notes contain cross-default provisions.  Our credit 

documents prohibit distributions on, or purchases or redemptions of, units if any default or event of default is 

continuing.  In addition, those agreements contain various covenants limiting our ability to, among other things: 

 incur indebtedness if certain financial ratios are not maintained; 

 grant liens; 

 engage in sale-leaseback transactions; and 

 sell substantially all of our assets or enter into a merger or consolidation. 

A default under our credit documents would permit the lenders there under to accelerate the maturity of the 

outstanding debt.  As long as we are in compliance with our credit facility, our ability to make distributions of 

―available cash‖ is not restricted.  As of December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with the financial covenants 

contained in our credit facility and indenture. 

DG Marine Credit Facility 

In connection with our purchase of the 51% interest in DG Marine we did not already own on July 29, 2010, the 

outstanding balance on the DG Marine credit facility was repaid.  See Note 3. 

11.  Partners’ Capital and Distributions 

Until December 28, 2010, our partners’ capital consisted of common units (Class A Units), representing a 98% 

aggregate ownership interest in the Partnership and its subsidiaries (after giving effect to the general partner 

interest), and a 2% general partner interest.  Our general partner owned all of our general partner interest, all of our 

incentive distribution rights (IDRs), and all of the 0.01% general partner interest in Genesis Crude Oil, L.P. (which 

was reflected as a noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009.)  

On December 28, 2010, the incentive distribution rights held by our general partner were eliminated and the 2% 

general partner interest in us that our general partner held was converted into a non-economic general partner 



F-23 

 

interest.  We refer to this transaction as the IDR Restructuring.  The former owners of our general partner received 

approximately 27,000,000 units in us, consisting of: (i) approximately 19,960,000 traditional common units that 

were re-named ―Common Units – Class A,‖ or Class A Units, (ii) approximately 40,000 common units designated 

―Common Units – Class B,‖ or Class B Units, with rights, preferences and privileges of the Class A Units and rights 

to elect our board of directors and convertible into Class A Units and (iii) approximately 7,000,000 units designated 

―Waiver Units,‖ or Waiver Units, convertible into Class A Units.   

The Class A Units are traditional common units in us.  The Class B Units are identical to the Class A Units 

and, accordingly, have voting and distribution rights equivalent to those of the Class A Units, and, in addition, Class 

B Units have the right to elect all of our board of directors and are convertible into Class A Units under certain 

circumstances.  The Waiver Units are non-voting securities entitled to a minimal preferential quarterly distribution 

and are comprised of four classes (designated Class 1, Class 2, Class 3 and Class 4) of 1,750,000 authorized units 

each.  The Waiver Units have the right to convert into Genesis common units in four equal installments in the 

calendar quarter during which each of our common units receives a quarterly distribution of at least $0.43, $0.46, 

$0.49 and $0.52, if our distribution coverage ratio (after giving effect to the then convertible Waiver Units) would be 

at least 1.1 times.. 

At December 31, 2010, our outstanding equity consisted of 64,575,065 Class A Units and 39,997 Class B 

Units.  Additionally, 6,949,004 Waiver Units were outstanding. 

Distributions 

Generally, we will distribute 100% of our available cash (as defined by our partnership agreement) within 45 

days after the end of each quarter to unitholders of record and, until December 2010, to our general partner.  

Available cash consists generally of all of our cash receipts less cash disbursements adjusted for net changes to 

reserves. 

Until December 2010, our general partner received incremental incentive cash distributions when 

unitholders’ cash distributions exceed certain target thresholds, in addition to its 2% general partner interest. We 

paid distributions in 2009 and 2010 as follows: 

General

Limited General Partner

Partner Partner Incentive

Per Unit Interests Interest Distribution Total

Distribution For Date Paid Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount

Fourth quarter 2008 February 2009 0.3300$     13,021$   266$         823$          14,110$     

First quarter 2009 May 2009 0.3375$     13,317$   271$         1,125$       14,713$     

Second quarter 2009 August 2009 0.3450$     13,621$   278$         1,427$       15,326$     

Third quarter 2009 November 2009 0.3525$     13,918$   284$         1,729$       15,931$     

Fourth quarter 2009 February 2010 0.3600$     14,251$   291$         2,037$       16,579$     

First quarter 2010 May 2010 0.3675$     14,548$   297$         2,339$       17,184$     

Second quarter 2010 August 2010 0.3750$     14,845$   303$         2,642$       17,790$     

Third quarter 2010 November 2010 0.3875$     15,339$   313$         3,147$       18,799$     

Fourth quarter 2010 February 2011 0.4000$     25,846$   -$         -$           25,846$     
 

Net Income (Loss) per Common Unit 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per common unit. 

 



F-24 

 

2010 2009 2008

Numerators for basic and diluted net income

per common unit:

(Loss) income attributable to Genesis Energy, L.P. (48,459)$    8,063$       26,089$     

Less: General partner's incentive distribution paid 

or to be paid for the period (8,128)        (6,318)        (2,613)        

Add: Expense allocable to our general partner 76,923       18,853       -             

Subtotal 20,336       20,598       23,476       

Less: General partner 2% ownership (407)           (412)           (470)           

Income available for common unitholders 19,929$     20,186$     23,006$     

Denominator for basic and diluted per common unit 40,560       39,471       38,961       

Basic and diluted net income per common unit 0.49$         0.51$         0.59$         

Year Ended December 31,

 

Equity Issuances and Contributions 

Our partnership agreement authorizes our general partner to cause us to issue additional limited partner 

interests and other equity securities, the proceeds from which could be used to provide additional funds for 

acquisitions or other needs. 

In November 2010, we issued 5,175,000 common units in a public offering in connection with the 

acquisition of a 50% equity interest in Cameron Highway. The new common units issued to the public for cash were 

as follows: 

Purchaser of Gross Issuance GP Net

Period Common Units Units Unit Price Value Contributions Costs Proceeds

November 2010 Public 5,175   23.580$    122,027$  2,490$           (5,680)$  118,837$    
 

We issued new common units in the acquisitions of assets as follows: 

Value

Acquisition Attributed

Period Transaction Units to Assets

July 2008 Grifco 838             16,667$          

May 2008 Free State Pipeline 1,199          25,000$          
 

On July 18, 2008, we issued 837,690 of our common units to Grifco.  The units were issued at a value of 

$19.896 per unit, for a total value of $16.7 million, as a portion of the consideration for the acquisition of the inland 

marine transportation business of Grifco.   

Additionally, on July 18, 2008, we redeemed 837,690 of our common units owned by members of the 

Davison family.  Those units had been issued as a portion of the consideration for the acquisition of the energy-

related business of the Davison family in July 2007.  The redemption was at a value of $19.896 per unit, for a total 

value of $16.7 million.  After giving effect to the issuance and redemption described above, we did not experience a 

change in the number of common units outstanding. 

On May 30, 2008, we issued 1,199,041 common units to Denbury in connection with the acquisition of the 

Free State pipeline.  Our general partner also contributed $0.5 million to maintain its capital account balance.  

In 2010 and 2009, we recorded non-cash contributions of $76.9 million and $14.1 million, respectively from 

our general partner related to incentive compensation arrangements with our senior executives.  As the purpose of 

incentive interest was to incentivize these individuals to grow the partnership, the expense was recognized as 

compensation by us and a capital contribution by our general partner.  These amounts relate to arrangements 
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representing an equity interest in our general partner for which our general partner did not seek reimbursement under 

our partnership agreement. 

12.  Business Segment Information 

Our operations consist of three operating segments:  (1) Pipeline Transportation – interstate, intrastate and 

offshore crude oil, and to a lesser extent, natural gas and CO2 pipeline transportation; (2) Refinery Services – 

processing high sulfur (or ―sour‖) gas streams as part of refining operations to remove the sulfur and sale of the 

related by-product, and (3) Supply and Logistics – terminaling, blending, storing, marketing, gathering and 

transporting by truck and barge crude oil, petroleum products and certain industrial gases.  Substantially all of our 

revenues are derived from, and substantially all of our assets are located in the United States.  In the first quarter of 

2011, we reorganized our operating segments as a result of a change in the way our Chief Executive Officer, who is 

our chief operating decision maker, evaluates the performance of operations, develops strategy and allocates capital 

resources.  The results of our CO2 marketing activities and processing of syngas through a joint venture, formerly 

reported in the Industrial Gases Segment, are now included in our Supply and Logistics Segment.  The change in 

operating segments had no impact on our reportable units for goodwill purposes.  The historical segment disclosures 

have been recast to be consistent with the current presentation. 

We define segment margin as revenues less cost of sales, operating expenses (excluding depreciation and 

amortization), and segment general and administrative expenses, plus our equity in distributable cash generated by 

our joint ventures.  Our segment margin definition also excludes the non-cash effects of our equity-based 

compensation plans and the unrealized gains and losses on derivative transactions not designated as hedges for 

accounting purposes.  Segment margin includes the non-income portion of payments received under direct financing 

leases.  Our chief operating decision maker (our Chief Executive Officer) evaluates segment performance based on a 

variety of measures including segment margin, segment volumes where relevant and maintenance capital 

investment.  
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Pipeline Refinery Supply &

Transportation (a) Services Logistics Total

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Segment margin 
(b)

48,305$          62,923$     38,336$      149,564$    

Capital expenditures 
(c)

333,557$        1,433$       1,740$        336,730$    

Maintenance capital

expenditures 522$               1,433$       901$           2,856$        

Net fixed and other long-term

assets 
(d)

604,572$        400,164$   221,932$    1,226,668$ 

Revenues:

External customers 45,367$          158,456$   1,897,501$ 2,101,324$ 

Intersegment 
(e)

10,285            (7,396)       (2,889)         -              

Total revenues of reportable segments 55,652$          151,060$   1,894,612$ 2,101,324$ 

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Segment margin 
(b)

42,162$          51,844$     40,484$      134,490$    

Capital expenditures 
(c)

3,043$            2,572$       23,581$      29,196$      

Maintenance capital

expenditures 1,281$            1,246$       1,899$        4,426$        

Net fixed and other long-term

assets 
(d)

279,574$        409,556$   269,753$    958,883$    

Revenues:

External customers 44,461$          147,240$   1,243,659$ 1,435,360$ 

Intersegment 
(e)

6,490              (5,875)       (615)            -              

Total revenues of reportable segments 50,951$          141,365$   1,243,044$ 1,435,360$ 

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Segment margin 
(b)

33,149$          55,784$     45,952$      134,885$    

Capital expenditures 
(c)

262,200$        5,490$       120,982$    388,672$    

Maintenance capital

expenditures 719$               1,881$       1,854$        4,454$        

Net fixed and other long-term

assets 
(d)

285,773$        434,956$   289,818$    1,010,547$ 

Revenues:

External customers 39,051$          233,871$   1,868,762$ 2,141,684$ 

Intersegment 
(e)

7,196              (8,497)       1,301          -              

Total revenues of reportable segments 46,247$          225,374$   1,870,063$ 2,141,684$ 
 

 

(a) The pipeline transportation segment includes the income from our investment in Cameron Highway. 

(b) A reconciliation of segment margin to (loss) income before income taxes for each year presented is as 

follows: 
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2010 2009 2008

Segment margin 149,564$      134,490$      134,885$      

Corporate general and administrative expenses (110,058)       (36,475)         (22,113)         

Depreciation, amortization and impairment (53,557)         (67,586)         (71,370)         

Net loss on disposal of surplus assets (12)                (160)              (29)                

Interest expense (22,924)         (13,660)         (12,937)         

Non-cash expenses not included in 

    segment margin (4,479)           (4,089)           1,355            

Other items excluded from income

affecting segment margin (6,487)           (3,262)           (4,328)           

(Loss) income before income taxes (47,953)$       9,258$          25,463$        

Year Ended December 31,

 

(c) Capital expenditures includes fixed asset additions and acquisitions of businesses. 

(d) Net fixed and other long-term assets is a measure used by management in evaluating the results of our 

operations on a segment basis.  Current assets are not allocated to segments as the amounts are not 

meaningful in evaluating the success of the segment’s operations.  Amounts for our Pipeline 

Transportation segment include our investment in Cameron Highway totaling $329.7 million.  

Amounts for our Supply and Logistics segment include investments in equity investees totaling $13.7 

million, $15.1 million and $14.5 million at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

(e) Intersegment sales were conducted on an arm’s length basis. 

13.  Transactions with Related Parties 

Sales, purchases and other transactions with affiliated companies, in the opinion of management, are conducted 

under terms no more or less favorable than then-existing market conditions. 

2010 2009 2008

Operations, general and administrative services

provided by our general partner 47,035$        50,417$        51,872$        

Sales of CO2 to Sandhill 2,706            2,867            2,941            

Petroleum products sales to Davison family businesses 1,081            757               1,261            

Marine operating fuel and expenses provided by an 2,443            -                -                

affiliate of the Robertson Group

Petroleum products sales to an affiliate of the

Robertson Group 3,740            -                -                

Truck transportation services provided to Denbury 182               3,167            3,578            

Pipeline transportation services provided to Denbury 1,365            14,375          10,727          

Payments received under direct financing leases from

Denbury 99                 21,853          11,519          

Pipeline transportation income portion of direct

financing lease fees from Denbury 1,502            18,295          11,011          

Pipeline monitoring services provided to Denbury 10                 120               120               

CO2 transportation services provided by Denbury 373               5,475            6,424            

Crude oil purchases from Denbury -                1,754            -                

Year Ended December 31,

 

Until December 28, 2010, we did not directly employ any persons to manage or operate our business.  Those 

functions were provided by our general partner.  We reimbursed our general partner for all direct and indirect costs 
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of these services, excluding any payments to our management team pursuant to their Class B or Series B ownership 

interests in our general partner.  See Note 15. 

Until February 5, 2010, Denbury owned our general partner.  The items in this table include the amounts 

related to transactions with Denbury while Denbury was a related party.  From February 5, 2010 until December 28, 

2010, the Robertson Group controlled our general partner.  On December 28, 2010, we acquired our general partner. 

Additionally, on July 29, 2010, we acquired the 51% interest of TD Marine in DG Marine.  See Note 3. 

Amounts due to and from Related Parties 

At December 31, 2010, an affiliate of the Robertson Group owed us $1.4 million, and we owed the affiliate 

$0.2 million.  At December 31, 2010 and 2009, Sandhill owed us $0.2 million and $0.7 million for purchases of 

CO2, respectively.   

At December 31, 2009 we owed Denbury $1.0 million, respectively, for CO2 transportation charges.  

Denbury owed us $1.9 million for transportation services at December 31, 2009.  We owed our general partner $2.1 

million for administrative services at December 31, 2009.   

Financing 

We guarantee 50% of the obligation of Sandhill to Community Trust Bank.  At December 31, 2010, the total 

amount of Sandhill’s obligation to the bank was $2.2 million; therefore, our guarantee was for $1.1 million. 

As discussed in Note 11, our general partner made capital contributions in order to maintain its capital 

account totaling $2.5 million, less than $0.1 million and $0.5 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  In 2010 

and 2009, we recorded a capital contribution from our general partner of $76.9 million and $14.1 million, 

respectively, related to compensation recognized for our executive management team.  See Note 15. 

 

14.  Supplemental Cash Flow Information 

The following table provides information regarding the net changes in components of operating assets and 

liabilities.  
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2010 2009 2008

(Increase) decrease  in:

Accounts receivable (41,648)$     (7,979)$        61,126$      

Inventories (16,870)       (16,559)        (5,557)        

Other current assets (4,036)         (2,712)          (2,419)        

Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable 47,401        19,203          (58,224)      

Accrued liabilities 9,666          (1,522)          3,812          

Net changes in components of operating assets and liabilities (5,487)$       (9,569)$        (1,262)$      

Year Ended December 31,

 

Payments of interest and commitment fees were $25.1 million, $13.3 million and $11.3 million, during the 

years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

Cash paid for income taxes in during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $2.4 million, $0.2 

million and $2.4 million, respectively. 

At December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we had incurred liabilities for fixed and intangible asset additions 

totaling $2.6 million ($2.3 million consists of intangible assets additions related to our information technology 

systems upgrade project), $0.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively, that had not been paid at the end of the year 

and, therefore, are not included in the caption ―Payments to acquire fixed and intangible assets‖ on the Consolidated 

Statements of Cash Flows.   

In May 2008, we issued common units with a value of $25 million as part of the consideration for the 

acquisition of the Free State Pipeline from Denbury.  In July 2008, we issued common units with a value of $16.7 

million as part of the consideration for the acquisition of the inland marine transportation assets of Grifco. These 

common unit issuances are non-cash transactions and the value of the assets acquired is not included in investing 

activities and the issuance of the common units is not reflected under financing activities in our Consolidated 

Statements of Cash Flows.   

Additionally, we deferred payment of $12 million ($11.7 million discounted) of the consideration in the 

acquisition from Grifco to December 2008 and 2009.  This deferral of the payment of consideration was a non-cash 

transaction and the value of the assets acquired is not included in investing activities in our Consolidated Statements 

of Cash Flows.  The seller-financed consideration payments made in December 2008 and December 2009 are 

included in financing cash flows. 

15.  Employee Benefit Plans and Equity-Based Compensation Plans 

Until December 28, 2010, we did not directly employ any of the persons responsible for managing or operating 

our activities.   

In order to encourage long-term savings and to provide additional funds for retirement to its employees, we 

sponsor a profit-sharing and retirement savings plan.  Under this plan, our matching contribution is calculated as an 

equal match of the first 6% of each employee’s annual pretax contribution.  We also made a profit-sharing 

contribution of 3% of each eligible employee’s total compensation (subject to IRS limitations).  The expenses 

included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for costs relating to this plan were $2.7 million, $2.2 million, 

and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.   

We also provided certain health care and survivor benefits for our active employees.  Our health care benefit 

programs are self-insured, with a catastrophic insurance policy to limit our costs.  We plan to continue self-insuring 

these plans in the future.  The expenses included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for these benefits 

were $6.5 million, $6.2 million, and $6.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.   

2010 Long Term Incentive Plan 

In the second quarter of 2010, we adopted the Genesis Energy, LLC 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 

―2010 Plan‖).  The 2010 Plan provides for the awards of phantom units and distribution equivalent rights to 

members of our board of directors, and employees who provide services to us.  Phantom units are notional units 

representing unfunded and unsecured promises to pay to the participant a specified amount of cash based on the 
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market value of our common units should specified vesting requirements be met.  Distribution equivalent rights 

(―DERs‖) are tandem rights to receive on a quarterly basis an amount of cash equal to the amount of distributions 

that would have been paid on the phantom units had they been limited partner units issued by us.  The 2010 Plan is 

administered by the Governance, Compensation and Business Development Committee (the ―G&C Committee‖) of 

our board of directors. 

 

The G&C Committee (at its discretion) will designate participants in the 2010 Plan, determine the types of 

awards to grant to participants, determine the number of units to be covered by any award, and determine the 

conditions and terms of any award including vesting, settlement and forfeiture conditions.  62,927 phantom units 

with tandem DERs were awarded under the 2010 Plan during 2010.  The weighted average grant date fair value of 

these awards was $20.64 per unit. The phantom units will vest on the third anniversary of the date of issuance. 

 

The compensation cost associated with the phantom units is re-measured each reporting period based on the 

market value of our common units, and is recognized over the vesting period.  The liability recorded for the 

estimated amount to be paid to the participants under the 2010 LTIP is adjusted to recognize changes in the 

estimated compensation cost and vesting.  Management’s estimates of the fair value of these awards are adjusted for 

assumptions about expected forfeitures of units prior to vesting.  Due to the positions of the small group of 

employees and non-employee directors who received these awards, we have assumed as of December 31, 2010 that 

there will be no forfeitures of these phantom units.  At December 31, 2010, we estimate the fair value of these 

awards to be approximately $1.6 million, and we recorded $0.4 million of compensation expense for the year ended 

December 31, 2010 in general and administrative expenses.  For the awards outstanding at December 31, 2010, the 

remaining cost will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately three years. 

 

2007 Long Term Incentive Plan 

As a result of the sale of our general partner on February 5, 2010, all outstanding phantom units issued 

pursuant to our 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan vested.  As a result of this acceleration of the vesting period, we 

recorded non-cash compensation expense of $0.5 million in the first quarter of 2010.  In total, 123,857 phantom 

units vested.  In 2009 and 2008, we recorded compensation expense of $1.0 million and $0.7 million related to this 

plan.  This expense is primarily included in general and administrative expenses. 

Stock Appreciation Rights Plan 

Our stock appreciation rights plan is administered by our G&C Committee, who shall determine, in its full 

discretion, who shall receive awards under the plan, the number of rights to award, the grant date of the units and the 

formula for allocating rights to the participants and the strike price of the rights awarded.  Each right is equivalent to 

one common unit. 

The rights have a term of 10 years from the date of grant.  If the right has not been exercised at the end of 

the ten year term and the participant has not terminated his employment with us, the right will be deemed exercised 

as of the date of the right’s expiration and a cash payment will be made as described below. 

Upon vesting, the participant may exercise his rights and receive a cash payment calculated as the 

difference between the average of the closing market price of our common units for the ten days preceding the date 

of exercise over the strike price of the right being exercised.  If our G&C Committee determines, in its full 

discretion, that it would cause significant financial harm to the Partnership to make cash payments to participants 

who have exercised rights under the plan, then our G&C Committee may authorize deferral of the cash payments 

until a later date. 

Termination for any reason other than death, disability or normal retirement (as these terms are defined in 

the plan) will result in the forfeiture of any non-vested rights.  Upon death, disability or normal retirement, all rights 

will become fully vested.  If a participant is terminated for any reason within one year after the effective date of a 

change in control (as defined in the plan) all rights will become fully vested. 

The compensation cost associated with our stock appreciation rights plan, which upon exercise will result 

in the payment of cash to the employee, is re-measured each reporting period based on the fair value of the rights.  

Under accounting guidance, the liability is calculated using a fair value method that takes into consideration the 

expected future value of the rights at their expected exercise dates. 
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The liability amount accrued on the balance sheet is adjusted to the fair value of the outstanding awards at 

each balance sheet date with the adjustment reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  The fair value is 

adjusted for expected forfeitures of rights (due to terminations before vesting, or expirations after vesting).   

The estimates that we make each period to determine the fair value of these rights include the following 

assumptions: 

 

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

Expected life of rights (in years) 0.00 - 4.41 0.25 - 5.50 1.25 - 6.00

Risk-free interest rate 0.12% - 1.73% 0.05% - 2.52% 0.57% - 1.71%

Expected unit price volatility 41.9% 43.8% 42.8%

Expected future distribution yield 6.00% 8.50% 6.00%

Assumptions Used for Fair Value of Rights 

 

The following table reflects rights activity under our plan as of January 1, 2010, and changes during the 

year ended December 31, 2010: 

Stock Appreciation Rights Rights

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Weighted 

Average 

Contractual 

Remaining 

Term (Yrs)

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2010 1,119,998   17.14$        

Exercised during 2010 (159,435)     13.39$        

Forfeited or expired during 2010 (46,873)       19.95$        

Outstanding at December 31, 2010 913,690      17.65$        6.6               8,158$        

Exercisable at December 31, 2010 625,479      17.64$        6.1               5,622$        
 

The total intrinsic value of rights exercised during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $1.3 million, $0.1 million and 

$0.4 million, respectively, which was paid in cash to the participants. 

At December 31, 2010, there was $0.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to rights 

that we expect will vest under the plan.  This amount was calculated as the fair value at December 31, 2010 

multiplied by those rights for which compensation cost has not been recognized, adjusted for estimated forfeitures.  

This unrecognized cost will be recalculated at each balance sheet date until the rights are exercised, forfeited or 

expire.  For the awards outstanding at December 31, 2010, the remaining cost will be recognized over a weighted 

average period of approximately one year.  

We recorded charges and credits related to our stock appreciation rights for three years ended December 

31, 2010 as follows: 

Statement of Operations 2010 2009 2008

Supply and logistics operating costs 2,451$       1,431$       (997)$        

Refinery services operating costs 703            325            23              

Pipeline operating costs 572            360            (296)          

General and administrative expenses 1,493         1,263         (1,141)       

Total 5,219$       3,379$       (2,411)$     

Expense (Credits to Expense) Related to Stock Appreciation Rights

 

Series B Units 

Pursuant to restricted unit agreements entered into with Genesis Energy, LLC, our general partner, on 

February 5, 2010, certain members of our management team received an aggregate of 767 Series B units in our 

general partner.  These awards provided for the conversion of the Series B units into Series A units in our general 
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partner on the seventh anniversary of the issuance date of the awards or at the time of certain events including a 

change in control of our general partner.  As a result of the IDR Restructuring on December 28, 2010, the Series B 

units converted into Series A units.  The Series A units were then exchanged for a total of 2,364,279 Class A Units 

and 827,484 Waiver Units.  See Note 11 for a discussion of the IDR Restructuring and our equity securities.     

 

Although the Series B Units represented an equity interest in our general partner and our general partner did 

not seek reimbursement under our partnership agreement for the value of these compensation arrangements, we 

recorded non-cash expense for the estimated fair value of the awards.  The estimated fair value of the converted 

Series B units was recomputed at each quarterly reporting date and at the date of conversion, and the expense we 

recorded was adjusted based on that fair value, with an offsetting entry to the capital account of our general partner.  

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded non-cash expense of $79.1 million related to these Series B 

awards.  As the awards are fully-vested, no further compensation expense for these awards remains to be recorded. 

 

Pursuant to the IDR Restructuring, we are required to establish an equity incentive plan in 2011 for our 

eligible employees, including our executive officers, for the issuance of approximately 145,620 Class A Units and 

50,967 Waiver Units.  However, if unitholder approval is required for such plan and our Board determines not to 

seek such approval, which determination has not yet been made, we are required to establish a cash-settled or cash-

based plan not subject to such approval that would provide substantially equivalent economic benefits to such 

participants as the equity incentive plan. 

 

Class B Membership Interests 

As part of finalizing the compensation arrangements for our Senior Executives on December 31, 2008, our 

general partner awarded them an equity interest in our general partner as long-term incentive compensation. The 

Class B membership interests awarded to our senior executives were accounted for as liability awards under the 

guidance for equity-based compensation.  As such, the fair value of the compensation cost we recorded for these 

awards was recomputed at each measurement date through final settlement and the expense to be recorded was 

adjusted based on that fair value.   

All of the Class B membership interests in our general partner held by our management team at December 

31, 2009 were either (i) converted into Series A units in our general partner or (ii) redeemed by our general partner 

on February 5, 2010.  In total, the value of the Series A units issued and cash payments made by our general partner 

to settle its obligations under the Class B membership interests and related deferred compensation totaled $14.9 

million.  This value, when combined with amounts previously paid to our management team during 2009 related to 

the Class B membership interests, resulted in total compensation expense of $15.4 million.  Upon settlement by our 

general partner of these arrangements with our management team, we recorded a reduction in expense of $2.1 

million in the first quarter of 2010.  In the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded expense related to these 

arrangements of $14.1 million.  No expense was required to be recorded in 2008 related to the Class B membership 

interests. 

 

Bonus Program 

In January 2011, our Board and G&C Committee approved a bonus program, referred to as the Bonus Plan, 

for all employees that is applicable to 2010.  Bonuses under the Bonus Plan are paid at the discretion of our G&C 

Committee to our employees and executive officers.  

In 2010, our G&C Committee based bonus amounts primarily on the amount of cash we generated for 

distributions to our unitholders, measured on a calendar-year basis.  Two metrics were used to determine the general 

bonus pool – the level of Available Cash before Reserves (before subtracting bonus expense and related employer 

tax burdens) that we generated and our company-wide safety record improvement which included a targeted 

reduction in our company-wide incident injury rate.  The level of Available Cash before Reserves generated for the 

year as a percentage of a target set by our G&C Committee is weighted 90% and the achieved level of the targeted 

improvement in our safety record is weighted 10%.  The sum of the weighted percentage achievement of these 

targets is multiplied by the eligible compensation and the target percentages established by our G&C Committee for 

the various levels of our employees to determine the maximum general bonus pool.  

For 2010, we accrued $5.0 million for estimated bonuses to be paid pursuant to the Bonus Plan.  In 2009 

and 2008, we had in place a bonus program similar to the Bonus Plan and we paid bonuses totaling $3.9 million and 

$4.5 million to our executive officers and employees.  2010 bonuses will be paid to employees in March 2011.  
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 16.  Major Customers and Credit Risk 

Due to the nature of our supply and logistics operations, a disproportionate percentage of our trade receivables 

constitute obligations of oil companies.  This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure 

to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in that our customers could be affected by similar changes in economic, 

industry or other conditions.  However, we believe that the credit risk posed by this industry concentration is offset 

by the creditworthiness of our customer base.  Our portfolio of accounts receivable is comprised in large part of 

integrated and large independent energy companies with stable payment experience.  The credit risk related to 

contracts which are traded on the NYMEX is limited due to the daily cash settlement procedures and other NYMEX 

requirements. 

We have established various procedures to manage our credit exposure, including initial credit approvals, credit 

limits, collateral requirements and rights of offset.  Letters of credit, prepayments and guarantees are also utilized to 

limit credit risk to ensure that our established credit criteria are met. 

Shell Oil Company accounted for 13%, 12.5% and 14.6% of total revenues in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively.  The revenues from Shell Oil Company in all three years relate primarily to our supply and logistics 

operations. 

17.  Derivatives 

Commodity Derivatives 

We have exposure to commodity price changes related to our inventory and purchase commitments.  We utilize 

derivative instruments (primarily futures and options contracts traded on the NYMEX) to hedge our exposure to 

commodity prices, primarily crude oil, fuel oil and petroleum products; however, only a portion of these instruments 

are designated as hedges under the accounting guidance. Our decision as to whether to designate derivative 

instruments as fair value hedges for accounting purposes relates to our expectations of the length of time we expect 

to have the commodity price exposure and our expectations as to whether the derivative contract will qualify as 

highly effective under accounting guidance in limiting our exposure to commodity price risk.  Most of the petroleum 

products, including fuel oil that we supply cannot be hedged with a high degree of effectiveness with derivative 

contracts available on the NYMEX; therefore, we do not designate derivative contracts utilized to limit our price 

risk related to these products as hedges for accounting purposes.  Typically we utilize crude oil and natural gas 

futures and option contracts to limit our exposure to the effect of fluctuations in petroleum products prices on the 

future sale of our inventory or commitments to purchase petroleum products, and we recognize any changes in fair 

value of the derivative contracts as increases or decreases in our cost of sales.  The recognition of changes in fair 

value of the derivative contracts not designated as hedges for accounting purposes can occur in reporting periods 

that do not coincide with the recognition of gain or loss on the actual transaction being hedged.  Therefore we will, 

on occasion, report gains or losses in one period that will be partially offset by gains or losses in a future period 

when the hedged transaction is completed. 

 

We have designated certain crude oil futures contracts as hedges of crude oil inventory due to our expectation 

that these contracts will be highly effective in hedging our exposure to fluctuations in crude oil prices during the 

period that we expect to hold that inventory.  We account for these derivative instruments as fair value hedges under 

the accounting guidance.  Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges 

are used to offset related changes in the fair value of the hedged crude oil inventory.  Any hedge ineffectiveness in 

these fair value hedges and any amounts excluded from effectiveness testing are recorded as a gain or loss in the 

Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

 

In accordance with NYMEX requirements, we fund the margin associated with our loss positions on commodity 

derivative contracts traded on the NYMEX.  The amount of the margin is adjusted daily based on the fair value of 

the commodity contracts.  The margin requirements are intended to mitigate a party’s exposure to market volatility 

and the associated contracting party risk.  We offset fair value amounts recorded for our NYMEX derivative 

contracts against margin funding as required by the NYMEX in Other current assets in our Consolidated Balance 

Sheets. 

 

At December 31, 2010, we had the following outstanding derivative commodity futures, forwards and options 

contracts that were entered into to hedge inventory or fixed price purchase commitments: 
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Sell (Short) Buy (Long)

Contracts Contracts

Designated as hedges under accounting rules:

Crude oil futures:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 28              -            

Weighted average contract price per bbl 85.49$       -$          

Not qualifying or not designated as hedges

under accounting rules:

Crude oil futures:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 537            260            

Weighted average contract price per bbl 89.85$       90.17$       

Heating oil futures:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 207            -            

Weighted average contract price per gal 2.52$         -$          

RBOB gasoline futures:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 9                -            

Weighted average contract price per gal 2.28$         -$          

#6 Fuel Oil futures:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 300            80              

Weighted average contract price per bbl 76.34$       76.33$       

Natural Gas:

Contract volumes (mmBtu) 5                -            

Weighted average contract price per mmBtu 4.40$         -$          

Crude oil written calls:

Contract volumes (1,000 bbls) 210            -            

Weighted average premium received 1.97$         -$          

 
 

 

Interest Rate Derivatives 

Until July 29, 2010, DG Marine utilized swap contracts with financial institutions to hedge interest payments 

for its outstanding debt.  DG Marine expected these interest rate swap contracts to be highly effective in limiting its 

exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates; therefore, we designated these swap contracts as cash flow hedges 

under accounting guidance.  The effective portion of the derivative represented the change in fair value of the hedge 

that offset the change in cash flows of the hedged item.  The effective portion of the gain or loss in the fair value of 

these swap contracts was reported as a component of AOCL and was reclassified into future earnings 

contemporaneously, as interest expense associated with the underlying debt under the DG Marine credit facility was 

recorded.    In the third quarter of 2010, we settled the DG Marine interest rate swaps in connection with our 

acquisition of the 51% of DG Marine that we did not own.  See Note 3. 

Financial Statement Impacts 

The following table summarizes the accounting treatment and classification of our derivative instruments on our 

Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Consolidated

Derivative Instrument Hedged Risk Balance Sheets Statements of Operations

Designated as hedges under

accounting guidance:

Crude oil futures contracts Volatility in crude Derivative is recorded in Excess, if any, over effective

(fair value hedge) oil prices - effect Other current assets portion of hedge is recorded

on market value  (offset against margin in Supply and logistics 

of inventory deposits) and offsetting costs - product costs

change in fair value of Effective portion is

inventory is offset in cost of sales

recorded in Inventories against change in value 

of inventory being

hedged

Interest rate swaps Changes in Entire hedge is recorded in Expect hedge to fully

(cash flow hedge) interest rates Accrued liabilities or offset hedged risk; no

(through July 2010) Other long-term liabilities ineffectiveness recorded.

depending on duration Effective portion is

recorded to AOCL and

ultimately reclassified to

Interest expense

Not qualifying or not designated

as hedges under accounting guidance:

Commodity hedges consisting Volatility in crude Derivative is recorded in Entire amount of change

of crude oil, heating oil and oil and petroleum Other current assets in fair value of derivative

natural gas futures and forward products prices -  (offset against margin is recorded in

contracts and call options effect on market deposits) or Accrued Supply and logistics costs - 

value of inventory liabilities product costs

or purchase

commitments

Impact of Unrealized Gains and Losses

 
Unrealized gains are subtracted from net income and unrealized losses are added to net income in determining 

cash flows from operating activities.  Additionally, the offsetting change in the fair value of inventory that is 

recorded for our fair value hedges is also eliminated from net income in determining cash flows from operating 

activities.   Changes in margin deposits necessary to fund unrealized losses also affect cash flows from operating 

activities. 

The following tables reflect the estimated fair value gain (loss) position of our hedge derivatives and related 

inventory impact for qualifying hedges at December 31, 2010 and 2009: 
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Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Location December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

Commodity derivatives - futures and

call options:

Hedges designated under accounting

guidance as fair value hedges Other current assets 14$                         53$                         

Undesignated hedges Other current assets 493                         307                         

Total asset derivatives 507$                       360$                       

Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Location December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

Commodity derivatives - futures and

call options:

Hedges designated under accounting

guidance as fair value hedges Other current assets (191)$                      
(1)

(159)$                      
(1)

Undesignated hedges Other current assets (2,283)                     
(1)

(2,118)                     
(1)

Total commodity derivatives (2,474)                     (2,277)                     

Interest rate swaps designated as cash

flow hedges under accounting rules:

Portion expected to be reclassified into

earnings within one year Accrued liabilities -                          (1,176)                     

Portion expected to be reclassified into

earnings after one year Other long-term liabilities -                          (512)                        

Total liability derivatives (2,474)$                   (3,965)$                   

Fair Value

Fair Value of Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Asset Derivatives

Fair Value

Liability Derivatives

 
(1) These derivative liabilities have been funded with margin deposits recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in 

Other current assets.   
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2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Commodity derivatives - futures and

call options:

Contracts designated as hedges

under accounting guidance 307$         
(1)

(5,321)$    
(1)

-$         -$         -$         -$         

Contracts not considered hedges

under accounting guidance (4)             (2,446)      -           -           -           -           

Total commodity derivatives 303           (7,767)      -           -           -           -           

Interest rate swaps designated as

cash flow hedges under 

accounting guidance -           -           (2,112)      (784)         (424)         (508)         

Total derivatives 303$         (7,767)$    (2,112)$    (784)$       (424)$       (508)$       

Effect on Consolidated Statements of Operations

and Other Comprehensive Loss

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

Other Comprehensive

Supply & Logistics Interest Expense Loss

December 31, December 31, December 31, 

Product Costs Reclassified from AOCL Effective Portion

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

(1) Represents the amount of gain (loss) recognized in income for derivatives related to the fair value hedge of 

inventory.  The amount excludes the gain on the hedged inventory under the fair value hedge of $1.0 million and 

$7.5 million for the year ended 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

We have no derivative contracts with credit contingent features. 

 

18.  Fair-Value Measurements 

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy our financial assets and liabilities that 

were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  As required by fair value 

accounting guidance, financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement.  Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair 

value requires judgment and may affect the placement of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy levels. 

Recurring Fair Value Measures Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Commodity derivatives :

  Assets 507$        -$        -$        360$        -$        -$        

  Liabilities (2,474)$   -$        -$        (2,277)$   -$        -$        

Interest rate swaps -$        -$        -$        -$        -$        (1,688)$   

Fair Value at December 31, 2010 Fair Value at December 31, 2009

 

Level 1 

Included in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as commodity derivative contracts are exchange-traded futures 

and exchange-traded option contracts.  The fair value of these exchange-traded derivative contracts is based on 

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and is, therefore, included in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Level 2 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had no Level 2 fair value measurements. 

Level 3 

At December 31, 2010, we had no Level 3 fair value measurements.  Included within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy at December 31, 2009 were our interest rate swaps.  These swaps were settled in July 2010 in connection 
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with the acquisition of the 51% of DG Marine we did not own and the termination of DG Marine’s credit facility.  

See Note 3. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in fair value of the beginning and ending balances for 

our derivatives measured at fair value using inputs classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy: 

2010 2009

Balance at beginning of period (1,688)$                         (1,964)$                         

Realized and unrealized gains (losses)-

Reclassified into interest expense for settled contracts 2,112                            784                               

Included in other comprehensive income (424)                              (508)                              

Balance at end of period -$                              (1,688)$                         

Total amount of losses for the year ended

included in earnings attributable to the change

in unrealized losses relating to liabilities still held

at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively -$                              (10)$                              

Year Ended December 31,

 

See Note 17 for additional information on our derivative instruments. 

We generally apply fair value techniques on a non-recurring basis associated with (1) valuing the potential 

impairment loss related to goodwill and (2) valuing potential impairment loss related to long-lived assets. 

19.  Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments and Guarantees 

In 2008, we entered into a new office lease for our corporate headquarters that extends until January 31, 

2016.  We lease office space for field offices under leases that expire between 2011 and 2013.  To transport 

products, we lease tractors and trailers for our crude oil gathering and marketing activities and lease barges and 

railcars for our refinery services segment.  In addition, we lease tanks and terminals for the storage of crude oil, 

petroleum products, NaHS and caustic soda.  Additionally, we lease a segment of pipeline where under the terms we 

make payments based on throughput.  We have no minimum volumetric or financial requirements remaining on our 

pipeline lease. 

The future minimum rental payments under all non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2010, 

were as follows (in thousands). 

Office Transportation Terminals and 

Space Equipment Tanks Total

2011 901$          3,510$             6,875$              11,286$     

2012 777            2,152               4,897                7,826         

2013 735            1,432               1,577                3,744         

2014 731            1,243               1,027                3,001         

2015 741            732                  1,027                2,500         

2016 and thereafter 62              1,239               20,109              21,410       

Total minimum lease

obligations 3,947$       10,308$           35,512$            49,767$     
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Total operating lease expense was as follows (in thousands). 

Year ended December 31, 2010 15,692$     

Year ended December 31, 2009 12,023$     

Year ended December 31, 2008 8,757$       
 

 

We have also guaranteed the payments by our operating partnership under the terms of our operating leases 

of tractors and trailers.  Such obligations are included in future minimum rental payments in the table above. 

We guaranteed $1.2 million of residual value related to the leases of trailers.  We believe the likelihood we 

would be required to perform or otherwise incur any significant losses associated with this guaranty is remote. 

We guaranty 50% of the obligations of Sandhill under a credit facility with a bank.  At December 31, 2010, 

Sandhill owed $2.2 million; therefore our guarantee was $1.1 million.  We believe the likelihood we would be 

required to perform or otherwise incur any significant losses associated with this guaranty is remote. 

In general, we expect to incur expenditures in the future to comply with increasing levels of regulatory safety 

standards.  While the total amount of increased expenditures cannot be accurately estimated at this time, we expect 

that our annual expenditures for integrity testing, repairs and improvements under regulations requiring assessment 

of the integrity of crude oil pipelines to average from $1.0 million to $1.5 million. 

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations.  Policies and procedures are in place to monitor 

compliance and to detect and address any releases of crude oil from our pipelines or other facilities; however no 

assurance can be made that such environmental releases may not substantially affect our business. 

Other Matters 

Our facilities and operations may experience damage as a result of an accident or natural disaster.  These 

hazards can cause personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, 

pollution or environmental damage and suspension of operations.  We maintain insurance that we consider adequate 

to cover our operations and properties, in amounts we consider reasonable.  Our insurance does not cover every 

potential risk associated with operating our facilities, including the potential loss of significant revenues.  The 

occurrence of a significant event that is not fully-insured could materially and adversely affect our results of 

operations.  We believe we are adequately insured for public liability and property damage to others and that our 

coverage is similar to other companies with operations similar to ours.  No assurance can be made that we will be 

able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at premium rates that we consider reasonable. 

We are subject to lawsuits in the normal course of business and examination by tax and other regulatory 

authorities.  We do not expect such matters presently pending to have a material adverse effect on our financial 

position, results of operations or cash flows. 

20.  Income Taxes 

We are not a taxable entity for federal income tax purposes.  As such, we do not directly pay federal income 

taxes.  Other than with respect to our corporate subsidiaries and the Texas Margin Tax, our taxable income or loss is 

includible in the federal income tax returns of each of our partners.  

A portion of the operations we acquired in the Davison transactions are owned by wholly-owned corporate 

subsidiaries that are taxable as corporations.  We pay federal and state income taxes on these operations.  In May 

2006, the State of Texas enacted a law which requires us to pay a tax of 0.5% on our ―margin,‖ as defined in the 

law.  The ―margin‖ to which the tax rate is applied generally is calculated as our revenues (for federal income tax 

purposes) less the cost of the products sold (for federal income tax purposes), in the State of Texas. 

Our income tax expense (benefit) is as follows: 
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2010 2009 2008

Current:

Federal 1,664$               1,458$               2,979$               

State 1,494                 1,442                 872                    

Total current income tax expense 3,158                 2,900                 3,851                 

Deferred:

Federal (573)                   168                    (3,850)                

State 3                        12                      (363)                   

Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense (570)                   180                    (4,213)                

Total income tax expense (benefit) 2,588$               3,080$               (362)$                 

Year Ended December 31,

 

Deferred income taxes relate to temporary differences based on tax laws and statutory rates in effect at the 

balance sheet date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 

2010 2009

Deferred tax assets:

Current:

Other current assets 445$                  279$                  

Other 8                        8                        

Total current deferred tax asset 453                    287                    

Net operating loss carryforwards 862                    308                    

Total long-term deferred tax asset 862                    308                    

Valuation allowances (416)                   (308)                   

Total deferred tax assets 899                    287                    

Deferred tax liabilities:

Current:

Other (213)                   (198)                   

Long-term:

Fixed assets (7,807)                (8,481)                

Intangible assets (7,386)                (6,686)                

Total long-term liability (15,193)              (15,167)              

Total deferred tax liabilities (15,406)              (15,365)              

Total net deferred tax liability (14,507)$            (15,078)$            

December 31,

 

 

We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 

assets will not be realized.  The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets depends on the ability to generate 

sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions.  We 

have provided a valuation allowance for state net operating loss carryforwards.   

Our income tax expense (benefit) varies from the amount that would result from applying the federal 

statutory income tax rate to income before income taxes as follows: 
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2010 2009 2008

(Loss) income before income taxes (47,953)$            9,258$               25,463$             

Partnership loss (income) not subject to tax 47,357               (7,822)                (30,902)              

(Loss) income subject to income taxes (596)                   1,436                 (5,439)                

Tax (benefit) expense at federal statutory rate (209)$                 503$                  (1,904)$              

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 583                    991                    357                    

Effects of unrecognized tax positions, federal and state 1,909                 1,733                 1,431                 

Return to provision, federal and state 257                    (224)                   (258)                   

Other 48                      77                      12                      

Income tax expense (benefit) 2,588$               3,080$               (362)$                 

Effective tax rate on (loss) income before

income taxes (1) 33% -1%

Year Ended December 31,

 

(1) Income tax expense is related to taxable income generated by our corporate subsidiaries and Texas 

Margin Tax.  Due to the loss before income taxes in 2010, the effective tax rate as a percentage of our 

total loss before income taxes is not meaningful. 

The company adopted the provisions in accounting guidance related to uncertain tax positions on January 1, 

2007.  A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of our unrecognized tax positions, which is recorded in 

Other current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets was as follows: 

Balance at January 1, 2008 864$                  

Additions based on tax positions related to current year 1,735                 

Balance at December 31, 2008 2,599                 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year 1,733                 

Balance at December 31, 2009 4,332                 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year 1,909                 

Balance at December 31, 2010 6,241$               
 

If the unrecognized tax positions at December 31, 2010 were recognized, $6.2 million would affect our 

effective income tax rate.  There are no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2010 for which it is reasonably 

possible that the amount of unrecognized tax positions would significantly decrease during 2011.   
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21.  Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

The table below summarizes our unaudited quarterly financial data for 2010 and 2009. 

Total

First Second Third Fourth 
(2)

Year

Revenues 466,531$     456,538$     576,012$     602,243$     2,101,324$   

Operating income (loss) 10,038$       18,299$       10,183$       (65,904)$     (27,384)$       

Net income (loss) 6,325$         13,921$       3,863$         (74,650)$     (50,541)$       

Net income (loss) attributable to

Genesis Energy, L.P. 6,885$         14,238$       5,068$         (74,650)$     (48,459)$       

Net income per common 

unit - basic and diluted 0.06$           0.29$           0.12$           0.02$           0.49$            

Cash distributions per common unit 
(1)

0.3600$       0.3675$       0.3750$       0.3875$       1.4900$        

Total

First Second Third Fourth 
(2)

Year

Revenues 253,493$     342,204$     403,389$     436,274$     1,435,360$   

Operating income (loss) 7,021$         7,748$         8,356$         (1,754)$       21,371$        

Net income (loss) 5,301$         3,822$         3,897$         (6,842)$       6,178$          

Net income (loss) attributable to

Genesis Energy, L.P. 5,290$         4,456$         4,299$         (5,982)$       8,063$          

Net income per common 

unit - basic and diluted 0.16$           0.13$           0.14$           0.08$           0.51$            

Cash distributions per common unit 
(1)

0.3300$       0.3375$       0.3450$       0.3525$       1.3650$        

2010 Quarters

2009 Quarters

 

(1)  Represents cash distributions declared and paid in the applicable period. 

(2)  Includes executive compensation expense related to Series B and Class B awards borne entirely by our general 

partner in the amounts of $75.6 million for 2010 and $6.5 million for 2009.  See Note 15. 

 

22.  Condensed Consolidating Financial Information 

The $250 million Senior Unsecured Notes co-issued by Genesis Energy, L.P. and Genesis Energy Finance 

Corporation are fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally by all of Genesis Energy, L.P.’s 

subsidiaries, except Genesis Free State Pipeline, LLC, Genesis NEJD Pipeline, LLC and certain other minor 

subsidiaries.  Genesis NEJD Pipeline, LLC is 100% owned by Genesis Energy, L.P., the parent company.  The 

remaining non-guarantor subsidiaries are owned by Genesis Crude Oil, L.P., a guarantor subsidiary.  Genesis 

Energy Finance Corporation has no independent assets or operations.  See Note 10 for additional information 

regarding our consolidated debt obligations. 

As a result of the IDR Restructuring on December 28, 2010 (see Note 11), each subsidiary guarantor and the 

subsidiary co-issuer are 100% owned, directly or indirectly, by Genesis Energy, L.P.  

The following is condensed consolidating financial information for Genesis Energy, L.P. and subsidiary 

guarantors: 
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1$               -$         5,082$        679$         -$             5,762$        

Other current assets 584,967      -           245,240      20,620      (604,051)      246,776      

Total current assets 584,968      -           250,322      21,299      (604,051)      252,538      

Fixed Assets, at cost -              -           297,832      75,507      -               373,339      

Less:  Accumulated depreciation -              -           (101,472)     (6,811)      -               (108,283)     

Net fixed assets -              -           196,360      68,696      -               265,056      

Goodwill -              -           325,046      -           -               325,046      

Other assets, net 14,695        -           310,808      166,616    (171,458)      320,661      

Equity investees and other investments -              -           343,434      -           -               343,434      

Investments in subsidiaries 682,641      -           83,323        -           (765,964)      -              

Total assets 1,282,304$ -$         1,509,293$ 256,611$  (1,541,473)$ 1,506,735$ 

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL

Current liabiltiies 3,040$        -$         805,381$    2,172$      (603,879)$    206,714$    

Senior secured credit facilities 360,000      -           -              -           -               360,000      

Senior unsecured notes 250,000      -           -              -           -               250,000      

Deferred tax liabilities -              -           15,193        -           -               15,193        

Other liabilities -              -           5,564          171,266    (171,266)      5,564          

Total liabilities 613,040      -           826,138      173,438    (775,145)      837,471      

Partners' capital 669,264      -           683,155      83,173      (766,328)      669,264      

Total liabilities and partners' capital 1,282,304$ -$         1,509,293$ 256,611$  (1,541,473)$ 1,506,735$ 

December 31, 2010
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer)* (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2$             -$         3,884$        262$         -$           4,148$        

Other current assets 92             -           181,400      11,410      (7,806)        185,096      

Total current assets 94             -           185,284      11,672      (7,806)        189,244      

Fixed Assets, at cost -           -           298,459      75,468      -             373,927      

Less:  Accumulated depreciation -           -           (84,829)       (4,211)      -             (89,040)       

Net fixed assets -           -           213,630      71,257      -             284,887      

Goodwill -           -           325,046      -           -             325,046      

Other assets, net -           -           338,085      170,526    (174,789)    333,822      

Equity investees and other investments -           -           15,128        -           -             15,128        

Investments in subsidiaries 595,783    -           76,148        -           (671,931)    -              

Total assets 595,877$  -$         1,153,321$ 253,455$  (854,526)$  1,148,127$ 

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL

Current liabiltiies -$         -$         146,398$    2,894$      (7,864)$      141,428$    

Senior secured credit facilities -           -           366,900      -           -             366,900      

Deferred tax liabilities -           -           15,167        -           -             15,167        

Other liabilities -           -           5,699          174,593    (174,593)    5,699          

Total liabilities -           -           534,164      177,487    (182,457)    529,194      

Partners' capital 595,877    -           596,666      75,968      (672,634)    595,877      

Non-controlling interests -           -           22,491        -           565            23,056        

Total partners' capital 595,877    -           619,157      75,968      (672,069)    618,933      

Total liabilities and partners' capital 595,877$  -$         1,153,321$ 253,455$  (854,526)$  1,148,127$ 

December 31, 2009

 
 

 
*The Company previously reported the investments in subsidiaries as $628.6 million and partners’ capital as $628.6 million for Genesis Energy, L.P. (Parent and 

Co-Issuer) at December 31, 2009.  This presentation was in error and has been corrected resulting in the presentation of such Parent company amounts as shown 
above.



F-45 

 

Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

REVENUES:

Supply and logistics -$         -$         1,894,612$ -$         -$         1,894,612$ 

Refinery services -           -           146,570      14,544      (10,054)    151,060      

Pipeline transportation services -           -           29,497        26,155      -           55,652        

Total revenues -           -           2,070,679   40,699      (10,054)    2,101,324   

COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Supply and logistics costs -           -           1,858,862   -           -           1,858,862   

Refinery services operating costs -           -           85,250        12,672      (9,828)      88,094        

Pipeline transportation operating costs -           -           14,301        476           -           14,777        

General and administrative -           -           113,406      -           -           113,406      

Depreciation and amortization -           -           50,961        2,596        -           53,557        

Net loss on disposal of surplus assets -           -           12               -           -           12               

Total costs and expenses -           -           2,122,792   15,744      (9,828)      2,128,708   

OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME -           -           (52,113)       24,955      (226)         (27,384)       

Equity in earnings of joint ventures -           -           2,355          -           -           2,355          

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (34,988)    7,401          27,587      -              

Interest (expense) income, net (13,471)    -           7,884          (17,337)    -           (22,924)       

(Loss) income before income taxes (48,459)    -           (34,473)       7,618        27,361      (47,953)       

Income tax (expense) benefit -           -           (2,175)         (413)         -           (2,588)         

NET (LOSS) INCOME (48,459)    -           (36,648)       7,205        27,361      (50,541)       

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests -           -           2,083          -           (1)             2,082          

NET (LOSS) INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. (48,459)$  -$         (34,565)$     7,205$      27,360$    (48,459)$     

Year Ended December 31, 2010
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

REVENUES:

Supply and logistics -$         -$         1,243,044$ -$         -$         1,243,044$ 

Refinery services -           -           138,438      9,527        (6,600)      141,365      

Pipeline transportation services -           -           25,004        25,947      -           50,951        

Total revenues -           -           1,406,486   35,474      (6,600)      1,435,360   

COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Supply and logistics costs -           -           1,203,896   -           -           1,203,896   

Refinery services operating costs -           -           86,346        9,320        (6,756)      88,910        

Pipeline transportation operating costs -           -           12,542        482           -           13,024        

General and administrative -           -           40,402        11             -           40,413        

Depreciation and amortization -           -           59,992        2,589        -           62,581        

Net loss on disposal of surplus assets -           -           160             -           -           160             

Impairment expense -           -           5,005          -           -           5,005          

Total costs and expenses -           -           1,408,343   12,402      (6,756)      1,413,989   

OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME -           -           (1,857)         23,072      156           21,371        

Equity in earnings of joint ventures -           -           1,547          -           -           1,547          

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 8,063        5,614          -           (13,677)    -              

Interest income (expense), net -           -           3,998          (17,658)    -           (13,660)       

Income (loss) before income taxes 8,063        -           9,302          5,414        (13,521)    9,258          

Income tax expense -           -           (3,080)         -           -           (3,080)         

NET  INCOME (LOSS) 8,063        -           6,222          5,414        (13,521)    6,178          

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests -           -           1,885          -           -           1,885          

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. 8,063$      -$         8,107$        5,414$      (13,521)$  8,063$        

Year Ended December 31, 2009
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

REVENUES:

Supply and logistics -$         -$         1,870,063$ -$         -$         1,870,063$ 

Refinery services -           -           219,396      6,167        (189)         225,374      

Pipeline transportation services -           -           30,817        15,430      -           46,247        

Total revenues -           -           2,120,276   21,597      (189)         2,141,684   

COSTS AND EXPENSES:

Supply and logistics costs -           -           1,821,574   -           -           1,821,574   

Refinery services operating costs -           -           159,889      6,207        -           166,096      

Pipeline transportation operating costs -           -           14,945        279           -           15,224        

General and administrative -           -           29,490        10             -           29,500        

Depreciation and amortization -           -           69,823        1,547        -           71,370        

Net loss on disposal of surplus assets -           -           29               -           -           29               

Total costs and expenses -           -           2,095,750   8,043        -           2,103,793   

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) -           -           24,526        13,554      (189)         37,891        

Equity in earnings of joint ventures -           -           509             -           -           509             

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 26,089      3,238          -           (29,327)    -              

Interest expense -           -           (2,503)         (10,434)    -           (12,937)       

Income (loss) before income taxes 26,089      -           25,770        3,120        (29,516)    25,463        

Income tax (expense) benefit -           -           362             -           -           362             

NET  INCOME (LOSS) 26,089      -           26,132        3,120        (29,516)    25,825        

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests -           -           265             -           (1)             264             

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

GENESIS ENERGY, L.P. 26,089$    -$         26,397$      3,120$      (29,517)$  26,089$      

Year Ended December 31, 2008
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by operating activities (569,824)$  -$         680,974$  3,746$      (24,433)$  90,463$    

CASH FLO WS FRO M INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments to acquire fixed and intangible assets -             -           (12,372)    (28)           -           (12,400)    

Distributions from joint ventures - return of investment 45,889       -           2,859        -           (45,889)    2,859        

Investments in joint ventures and other investments (118,875)    -           (332,462)  -           118,875    (332,462)  

Repayments on loan to non-guarantor subsidiary -             -           3,331        -           (3,331)      -           

Other, net -             -           1,265        -           -           1,265        

Net cash used in investing activities (72,986)      -           (337,379)  (28)           69,655      (340,738)  

CASH FLO WS FRO M FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Bank borrowings 449,729     -           242,100    -           -           691,829    

Bank repayments (455,629)    -           (243,100)  -           -           (698,729)  

Transfer of senior secured credit facility to Parent 364,772     -           (364,772)  -           -           -           

Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes 250,000     -           -           -           -           250,000    

Credit facility and senior unsecured notes issuance fees (14,586)      -           -           -           -           (14,586)    

Issuance of ownership interests to partners for cash 118,875     -           118,888    -           (118,888)  118,875    

Noncontrolling interests contributions, net of distributions -             -           -           -           6               6               

Acquisition of noncontrolling interest in DG Marine -             -           (26,288)    -           -           (26,288)    

Distributions to partners/owners (70,352)      -           (70,359)    -           70,359      (70,352)    

Other, net -             -           1,134        (3,301)      3,301        1,134        

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 642,809     -           (342,397)  (3,301)      (45,222)    251,889    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1)               -           1,198        417           -           1,614        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2                -           3,884        262           -           4,148        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1$              -$         5,082$      679$         -$         5,762$      

Year Ended December 31, 2010
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by operating activities (1)$           -$         86,926$    11,128$    (7,974)$    90,079$    

CASH FLO WS FRO M INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments to acquire fixed and intangible assets -           -           (30,270)    (62)           -           (30,332)    

Distributions from joint ventures - return of investment 60,080      -           -           -           (60,080)    -           

Investments in joint ventures and other investments (9)             -           (83)           -           9               (83)           

Repayments on loan to non-guarantor subsidiary -           -           3,010        -           (3,010)      -           

Other, net -           -           1,182        -           -           1,182        

Net cash used in investing activities 60,071      -           (26,161)    (62)           (63,081)    (29,233)    

CASH FLO WS FRO M FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Bank borrowings -           -           255,300    -           -           255,300    

Bank repayments -           -           (263,700)  -           -           (263,700)  

Credit facility and senior unsecured notes issuance fees -           -           (422)         -           -           (422)         

Issuance of ownership interests to partners for cash 9               -           9               -           (9)             9               

Noncontrolling interests contributions, net of distributions -           -           -           -           (6)             (6)             

Distributions to partners/owners (60,080)    -           (60,086)    (8,000)      68,086      (60,080)    

Other, net -           -           (6,784)      (2,984)      2,984        (6,784)      

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (60,071)    -           (75,683)    (10,984)    71,055      (75,683)    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1)             -           (14,918)    82             -           (14,837)    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3               -           18,802      180           -           18,985      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2$             -$         3,884$      262$         -$         4,148$      

Year Ended December 31, 2009
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Genesis Genesis

Energy, L.P. Energy Finance Genesis 

(Parent and Corporation Guarantor Non-Guarantor Energy, L.P.

Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by operating activities (7)$           -$         93,622$    2,677$      (1,484)$    94,808$    

CASH FLO WS FRO M INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments to acquire fixed and intangible assets -           -           (40,086)    (226,159)  -           (266,245)  

Distributions from investees - return of investment 50,534      -           886           -           (50,534)    886           

Investments in joint ventures and other investments (511)         -           (52,397)    -           50,511      (2,397)      

Acquisition of Grifco assets -           -           (66,686)    -           -           (66,686)    

Loan to non-guarantor subsidiary, net of repayments -           -           (175,101)  -           175,101    -           

Other, net -           -           718           -           -           718           

Net cash used in investing activities 50,023      -           (332,666)  (226,159)  175,078    (333,724)  

CASH FLO WS FRO M FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Bank borrowings -           -           531,712    -           -           531,712    

Bank repayments -           -           (236,412)  -           -           (236,412)  

Credit facility and senior unsecured notes issuance fees -           -           (2,255)      -           -           (2,255)      

Issuance of ownership interests to partners for cash 511           -           516           50,000      (50,516)    511           

Redemption of common units for cash -           -           (16,667)    -           -           (16,667)    

Noncontrolling interests contributions, net of distributions -           -           25,500      -           -           25,500      

Distributions to partners/owners (50,534)    -           (50,539)    -           50,539      (50,534)    

Loan from parent, net of repayments -           -           -           173,617    (173,617)  -           

Other, net -           -           (5,805)      -           -           (5,805)      

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (50,023)    -           246,050    223,617    (173,594)  246,050    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7)             -           7,006        135           -           7,134        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 10             -           11,796      45             -           11,851      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3$             -$         18,802$    180$         -$         18,985$    

Year Ended December 31, 2008
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Financial Statements of Significant Equity Investee – Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

 

To the Management Committee of  

Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company  

Houston, Texas 

 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company (the ―Company‖) as 

of December 31, 2010, and the related statements of operations, partners’ equity, and cash flows for the period from 

November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as established by the Auditing 

Standards Board (United States) and in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor 

were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included 

consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no opinion.  An audit also includes 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company at December 31, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from November 

23, 2010 through December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America. 

 

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

 

Houston, Texas 

March 4, 2011 
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CAMERON HIGHWAY OIL PIPELINE COMPANY 

BALANCE SHEET 

December 31, 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

 

 

ASSETS  

CURRENT ASSETS  

        Cash and cash equivalents $            2,587         

        Accounts receivable – trade 8,172 

        Accounts receivable – affiliates 218 

        Prepaid and other current assets 918 

                 Total current assets 11,895 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET 455,424 

                 Total assets $        467,319     

  

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' EQUITY  

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

        Accounts payable – trade  $            2,420            

        Accounts payable – affiliates  1,525 

        Other current liabilities 657 

                  Total current liabilities 4,602 

OTHER LIABILITIES 1,475 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

PARTNERS’ EQUITY 461,242 

                  Total liabilities and partners’ equity $        467,319     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See Notes to Financial Statements 
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CAMERON HIGHWAY OIL PIPELINE COMPANY 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

Period from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010 

 (Dollars in thousands) 

 

 

  

REVENUES  

     Crude oil handling revenues $             5,636 

               Total revenues 5,636 

COSTS AND EXPENSES  

     Depreciation and accretion 1,797 

     Other operating costs and expenses (see Note 5) 1,159 

     General and administrative costs 16 

               Total costs and expenses 2,972 

NET INCOME  $             2,664 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See Notes to Financial Statements 
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CAMERON HIGHWAY OIL PIPELINE COMPANY 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Period from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010 

 (Dollars in thousands) 

 

 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

   Net income  $         2,664 

   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows  

     provided by operating activities:  

      Depreciation and accretion  1,797 

      Effect of changes in operating accounts   

           Accounts receivable 129 

           Prepaid and other current assets 100 

           Accounts payable 388 

           Other current liabilities (27) 

          Net cash provided by operating activities 5,051 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

   Capital expenditures (104) 

          Cash used in investing activities (104) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

   Distributions to partners (7,800) 

          Cash used in financing activities (7,800) 

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,853) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, NOVEMBER 23 5,440 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, DECEMBER 31 $         2,587 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See Notes to Financial Statements 
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CAMERON HIGHWAY OIL PIPELINE COMPANY 

STATEMENT OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY 

Period from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

 

 

 Cameron Highway Cameron Highway 

Cameron 

Highway  

 Pipeline I, L.P. Pipeline II, L.P. Pipeline III, L.P.  

 (Enterprise) (Genesis) (Genesis)  

 50% 25% 25% Total 

BALANCE AT NOVEMBER 23, 2010 $              233,188 $              116,595 $              116,595 $          466,378 

        Net income 1,332 666 666 2,664 

        Distributions to partners (3,900) (1,950) (1,950) (7,800) 

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2010 $              230,620 $              115,311 $              115,311 $          461,242 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See Notes to Financial Statements 
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CAMERON HIGHWAY OIL PIPELINE COMPANY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

1.  Partnership Organization  

 

Cameron Highway Oil Pipeline Company (―Cameron Highway‖) is a Delaware general partnership formed 

in June 2003 to construct, install, own and operate a 374-mile crude oil pipeline (the ―Pipeline‖) located in  

deepwater areas of the central Gulf of Mexico offshore Texas and Louisiana.  Unless the context requires otherwise, 

references to ―we,‖ ―us‖, ―our‖ or the ―Company,‖ within these notes are intended to mean the Cameron Highway 

joint venture. 

 

At December 31, 2010, we were owned (i) 50% by Cameron Highway Pipeline I, L.P. (―CHOPS I‖), a 

subsidiary of Enterprise GTM Holdings L.P. (―Enterprise‖), (ii) 25% by Cameron Highway Pipeline II, L.P. 

(―CHOPS II‖), a subsidiary of Genesis Energy, L.P. (―Genesis‖), and (iii) 25% by Cameron Highway Pipeline III, 

L.P. (―CHOPS III‖), another subsidiary of Genesis.  CHOPS I, CHOPS II and CHOPS III are collectively referred to 

as the ―Partners.‖  Genesis acquired its indirect 50% equity interest in Cameron Highway from Valero Energy 

Corporation on November 23, 2010.    

 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Our financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with U.S. generally 

accepted accounting principles (―GAAP‖).  Except as noted within the context of each footnote disclosure, dollar 

amounts presented in the tabular data within these footnote disclosures are stated in thousands of dollars.       

 

 Business Segment  

 

We operate in a single business segment, Offshore Pipeline & Services, which consists of a 374-mile 

pipeline used in the transportation of crude oil. 

 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents represent unrestricted cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original 

maturities of less than three months from the date of purchase.  Our Statements of Cash Flows are prepared using the 

indirect method.   

  

 Contingencies 

 

Certain conditions may exist as of the date our financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to 

us but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur.  Our management and its 

legal counsel assess such contingent liabilities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise in judgment.  In 

assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against us or unasserted claims that may 

result in proceedings, our management and legal counsel evaluate the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or 

unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein. 

 

If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred and the 

amount of liability can be estimated, then the estimated liability would be accrued in our financial statements.  If the 

assessment indicates that a potentially material loss contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is 

probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability, together with an estimate of the range of 

possible loss (if determinable and material), is disclosed. 

 

Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which 

case the guarantees would be disclosed. 

 

 

 Crude Oil Imbalances 
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 Crude oil imbalances arise in the course of providing crude oil handling services, where we receive 

volumes of crude oil that differ from the volumes committed to be redelivered.  These differences result in 

imbalances that are settled in-kind (i.e., with crude oil volumes instead of cash) the following month.  We value our 

crude oil imbalances using contractual settlement prices. Imbalance receivables and payables are classified on our 

balance sheet within accounts receivable and payable, respectively.   At December 31, 2010, our imbalance 

receivables were $0.3 million, and our imbalance payables were $0.5 million.    

 

 Environmental Costs 

 

Our operations include activities subject to federal and state environmental regulations.  Environmental 

costs for remediation are accrued based on estimates of known remediation requirements.  Such accruals are based 

on management’s best estimate of the ultimate cost to remediate a site and are adjusted as further information and 

circumstances develop.  Those estimates may change substantially depending on information about the nature and 

extent of contamination, appropriate remediation technologies and regulatory approvals.  Expenditures to mitigate or 

prevent future environmental contamination are capitalized.  Ongoing environmental compliance costs are charged 

to expense as incurred.  In accruing for environmental remediation liabilities, costs of future expenditures for 

environmental remediation are not discounted to their present value, unless the amount and timing of the 

expenditures are fixed or reliably determinable.  There were no environmental remediation liabilities incurred as of 

December 31, 2010. 

 

 Estimates 

 

Preparing our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect amounts presented in the financial statements (i.e. assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses) 

and disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities.  Our actual results could differ from these estimates.  On an 

ongoing basis, management reviews its estimates based on currently available information.  Any future changes in 

facts and circumstances may require updated estimates, which, in turn, could have a significant impact on our 

financial statements.   

 

Financial Instruments 

 

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at amounts which 

reasonably approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.   

 

 Impairment Testing For Long-Lived Assets  

 

Long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.   

 

Long-lived assets with carrying values that are not expected to be recovered through future cash flows are 

written down to their estimated fair values.  The carrying value of a long-lived asset is deemed not recoverable if the 

carrying value exceeds the sum of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition 

of the asset.  If the asset’s carrying value exceeds the sum of its undiscounted cash flows, a non-cash asset 

impairment charge equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its estimated fair value is recorded.  Fair 

value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at a specified measurement date.  We measure fair value using market price 

indicators or, in the absence of such data, appropriate valuation techniques. No asset impairment charges were 

recognized for any of the periods presented. 

 

 Income Taxes 

 

We are organized as a pass-through entity for federal income tax purposes and our Partners are individually 

responsible for their allocable share of our taxable income for federal income tax purposes.  As a result, our financial 

statements do not provide for such taxes.  
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 Partnership Equity  

 

We allocate income or loss and pay cash distributions to Partners in accordance with their respective 

partnership interests.   

 

 Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

 Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost.  Expenditures for additions, improvements and other 

enhancements to property, plant and equipment are capitalized.  Minor replacements, maintenance, and repairs that 

do not extend asset life or add value are charged to expense as incurred.  When property, plant and equipment assets 

are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts 

and any resulting gain or loss is included in results of operations for the respective period.  See Note 3 for additional 

information regarding our property, plant and equipment.   

 

Asset retirement obligations (―AROs‖) are legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-

lived assets that result from their acquisition, construction, development and/or normal operation.  When an ARO is 

incurred, we record a liability for the ARO and capitalize an equal amount as an increase in the carrying value of the 

related long-lived asset.  Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value (through accretion expense) and the 

capitalized cost is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related long-lived asset.  We will incur a gain or 

loss to the extent that our ARO liabilities are not settled at their recorded amounts.  See Note 3 for additional 

information regarding our AROs. 

 

 Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

 

The accounting standard setting organizations, including the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 

have recently issued various new accounting standards.  We have evaluated these new standards and have 

determined that the adoption of these rules will not have a material impact on us. 

 

 Revenue Recognition 

 

 Crude oil handling revenues are generated from purchase and sale arrangements whereby we purchase 

crude oil from shippers at various receipt points along the Pipeline for an index-based price (less a price differential) 

and sell the crude oil back to the same shippers at various redelivery points at the same index-based price.  Since 

these are purchase and sales transactions with the same counterparty and are entered into in contemplation of one 

another, we recognize net revenue from such arrangements based upon the price differential per unit of volume 

(typically in barrels) multiplied by the volume delivered.  We net the corresponding receivables and payables from 

such transactions on our balance sheet for consistency of presentation. 

 

Subsequent Events 

 

We have evaluated subsequent events through March 4, 2011, which is the date our Audited Financial 

Statements and Notes were available to be issued, and have determined that there were no material subsequent 

events.  
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3.  Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

Our property, plant and equipment values and accumulated depreciation balances were as follows at the 

dates indicated: 

 
 Estimated December 31, 

 Useful Life 2010 

Pipeline (1) 30 years $       329,093         

Platforms and facilities
 
(2) 30 years 169,789 

Crude oil line fill
 
(3) n/a 34,053 

Construction in progress n/a 19,056 

       Total  551,991 

Less accumulated depreciation  96,567 

       Property, plant and equipment, net  $       455,424         

      

(1) Includes the Pipeline and related assets. 

(2) Platforms and facilities include offshore platforms and related facilities that are an 

integral part of the Pipeline. 

(3) Crude oil line fill is carried at original cost and is not depreciated, but it is subject to 

impairment considerations. 

 

The Pipeline has a throughput capacity of 500,000 barrels per day and is designed to gather production 

from deepwater areas of the Gulf of Mexico, primarily the South Green Canyon and Walker Ridge areas, for 

delivery to refineries and terminals in southeast Texas.  The Pipeline is supported by life of lease dedications by BP, 

BHP Billiton Ltd. and Chevron in connection with their production from the Holstein, Mad Dog and Atlantis fields 

and by Anadarko in connection with its production from the Constitution and Ticonderoga fields.  Additionally, we 

have contracted with Petrobras to transport crude oil production from the Cottonwood field.   

 

Our AROs primarily result from right-of-way agreements associated with our pipeline operations and 

regulatory requirements triggered by the abandonment or retirement of certain offshore facilities.  None of our assets 

are legally restricted for purposes of settling AROs.    

 

Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2010 includes $1.2 million of estimated ARO costs 

capitalized as an increase in the associated long-lived asset.  Based on information currently available, we estimate 

that accretion expense will approximate $0.1 million annually for 2011 through 2014 and $0.2 million for 2015. 

 

 

4.  Related Party Transactions 

 

We have an Operation and Management Agreement (the ―Agreement‖) with Manta Ray Offshore 

Gathering Co LLC (―Manta Ray‖) for the operation and management of the Pipeline.  Manta Ray is a subsidiary of 

Enterprise.  Pursuant to the agreement, we pay Manta Ray $350,000 per month (adjusted annually for changes in an 

average weekly earnings index as defined in the Agreement) for routine operating services.  During 2010, such 

amount was approximately $462,000 per month.  We reimburse Manta Ray for all non-routine operations-related 

services.   

 

The Agreement may be terminated or canceled by us if Manta Ray (i) defaults in the performance of any of 

its obligations; (ii) dissolves, liquidates or terminates its separate corporate existence; (iii) makes a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts; or (iv) if Manta Ray is in 

default under the performance standards set forth in the Agreement.  The Agreement may be terminated or canceled 

by Manta Ray without cause at any time with at least 180 days notice if  (i) we are in default in the performance of 

any payment obligations; (ii) we dissolve, liquidate or terminate our separate corporate existence; (iii) we make a 

general assignment for the benefit of creditors or admit in writing our inability to pay our debts generally as they 

become due; or (iv) we sell or lease our Pipeline to a third party.  Other operating costs and expenses for the period 

from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010 include payments to Manta Ray totaling $0.6 million for 

operation and management services rendered to us.   
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 We rent offshore platform space from an affiliate of Enterprise and a third party.  Total rent paid to the 

affiliate of Enterprise was $69 thousand for the period from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010.  See 

Note 5 for additional information regarding this operating lease. 

 

   

5.  Commitments and Contingencies 

 

 Operating Leases 

 

Lease and rent expense included in operating income was $224 thousand for the period from November 23, 

2010 to December 31, 2010. 

 

We rent offshore platform space from an affiliate of Enterprise and a third party. Total rent paid for this 

platform space was $138 thousand for the period from November 23, 2010 through December 31, 2010.  The 

agreement has an indefinite term and will continue until the platform is abandoned.  However, we can terminate the 

agreement at any time if we cease operations on the platform.  As a result, there are no future minimum payment 

obligations attributable to this agreement. 

  

We lease right-of-way held in connection with our Pipeline.  In general, our payments for right-of-way 

easements are determined by the underlying contracts, which typically include a stated fixed fee. Certain of our 

right-of-way leases contain rent escalation clauses whereby the rent is adjusted periodically for inflation.  Lease 

expense is charged to operating costs and expenses on a straight line basis over the period of expected economic 

benefit.  The following table presents our minimum payment obligations under operating leases for right-of-way: 

 

2011   $          21               

2012  21 

2013  22 

2014  22 

2015  22 

Thereafter 233 

 Total $         341                  

  

Other Matters 

 

 We are subject to potential loss contingencies arising from the course of our regular business operations.  

These may result from federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and third-party 

litigations.  There are no matters currently which, in the opinion of our management, will have a material adverse 

effect on the financial position or results of our operations. 

 

 

6.  Significant Risks 

 

 Nature of Operations 

 

 Offshore crude oil pipeline systems such as ours are affected by oil exploration and production activities.  

Crude oil reserves are depleting assets that will produce over a finite period.  Our Pipeline must access additional 

reserves to offset either (i) the natural decline in production from existing connected wells or (ii) the loss of any 

production to a competitor.  We actively seek to offset the loss of volumes due to depletion by adding connections to 

new customers and fields. 

 

In April 2010, the Deepwater Horizon drilling rig caught fire and sank in the Gulf of Mexico, resulting in 

an oil spill that has significantly impacted ecological resources in the Gulf of Mexico. As a result, in May 2010, a 

federal offshore drilling moratorium went into effect which halted drilling of uncompleted and new oil and gas wells 

(in water deeper than 500 feet) in the Gulf of Mexico with certain limited exceptions and halted consideration of 

drilling permits for deepwater wells.  The moratorium was lifted in October 2010; however, it is uncertain at this 

time how and to what extent oil and natural gas supplies from the Gulf of Mexico and other offshore drilling areas 
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will be affected.  A continued decline in oil and natural gas production volumes and or a failure to achieve 

anticipated future production due to limitations caused by the federal moratorium could have a material adverse 

effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

 

 Weather-Related Risks   

 

 Our assets are located offshore Texas and Louisiana in the Gulf of Mexico, which is prone to tropical 

weather events such as hurricanes.  Our Partners are required to maintain certain levels of insurance with respect to 

our assets.  If our assets were materially damaged in a storm, it could have a material impact on our financial 

position and results of operations.   

 


